
Committee: CABINET

Date: TUESDAY, 5 MARCH 2019

Venue: MORECAMBE TOWN HALL

Time: 6.00 P.M.

A G E N D A

1. Apologies 

2. Minutes 

To receive as a correct record the minutes of Cabinet held on Tuesday, 12 February 2019 
(previously circulated).  

3. Items of Urgent Business Authorised by the Leader 

To consider any such items authorised by the Leader and to consider where in the 
agenda the item(s) are to be considered. 

4. Declarations of Interest 

To receive declarations by Members of interests in respect of items on this Agenda.  
Members are reminded that, in accordance with the Localism Act 2011, they are required 
to declare any disclosable pecuniary interests which have not already been declared in 
the Council’s Register of Interests. (It is a criminal offence not to declare a disclosable 
pecuniary interest either in the Register or at the meeting).  
Whilst not a legal requirement, in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 9 and in the 
interests of clarity and transparency, Members should declare any disclosable pecuniary 
interests which they have already declared in the Register, at this point in the meeting.  
In accordance with Part B Section 2 of the Code Of Conduct, Members are required to 
declare the existence and nature of any other interests as defined in paragraphs 8(1) or 
9(2) of the Code of Conduct.  

5. Public Speaking 

To consider any such requests received in accordance with the approved procedure.  

Reports from Overview and Scrutiny  

None 

Reports 



6. Wray-with-Botton Neighbourhood Plan decision to proceed to referendum (Pages 1 
- 181)

(Cabinet Member with Special Responsibility Councillor Hanson)

Report of the Director of Economic Growth and Regeneration

7. Cultural Policy (Pages 182 - 190)

(Cabinet Member with Special Responsibility Councillor Clifford)

Report of Director of Economic Growth and Regeneration

8. Exclusion of the Press and Public 

This is to give further notice in accordance with Part 2, paragraph 5 (4) and 5 (5) of the 
Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) 
(England) Regulations 2012 of the intention to take the following items in private if it 
becomes necessary to refer to the exempt appendices within Agenda items 9 and 10.
Agenda item 11 is fully exempt.

Cabinet is recommended to pass the following recommendation in relation to the following 
items:-  

“That, in accordance with Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act, 1972, the press 
and public be excluded from the meeting for the following item(s) of business, on the 
grounds that they could involve the possible disclosure of exempt information as defined 
in paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of that Act.”  

Members are reminded that, whilst the following item(s) have been marked as exempt, it 
is for Cabinet itself to decide whether or not to consider each of them in private or in 
public.  In making the decision, Members should consider the relevant paragraph of 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972, and also whether the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information.  In 
considering their discretion Members should also be mindful of the advice of Council 
Officers.  

9. Disposal of Land, Heysham Business Park (Pages 191 - 199)

(Cabinet Member with Special Responsibility Councillor Hanson)

Report of Director of Economic Growth and Regeneration

10. Application for Grant funding from the Community Housing Fund (Pages 200 - 230)

(Cabinet Member with Special Responsibility Councillor Warriner)

Report of Director of Economic Growth and Regeneration

11. The Dukes Future Business Model (Pages 231 - 256)

(Cabinet Member with Special Responsibility Councillor Clifford)

Report of Director for Economic Growth and Regeneration



ADMINISTRATIVE ARRANGEMENTS

(i) Membership

Councillors Eileen Blamire (Chairman), Janice Hanson (Vice-Chairman), Nathan Burns, 
Darren Clifford, Brendan Hughes, Margaret Pattison, Andrew Warriner and 
Anne Whitehead

(ii) Queries regarding this Agenda

Please contact Liz Bateson, Democratic Services - telephone (01524) 582047 or email 
ebateson@lancaster.gov.uk.

(iii) Apologies

Please contact Democratic Support, telephone 582170, or alternatively email 
democraticsupport@lancaster.gov.uk. 

SUSAN PARSONAGE,
CHIEF EXECUTIVE,
TOWN HALL,
DALTON SQUARE,
LANCASTER, LA1 1PJ

Published on Friday 22 February, 2019.  

mailto:democraticsupport@lancaster.gov.uk


CABINET

Wray-with-Botton Neighbourhood Plan decision to 
proceed to referendum

5th March 2019

Report of the Director of Economic Growth and 
Regeneration

PURPOSE OF REPORT

To seek approval from cabinet for the Wray-with-Botton Neighbourhood Plan to proceed to 
referendum at the earliest possible opportunity. 

Key Decision Non-Key Decision X Referral from Cabinet 
Member

Date of notice of forthcoming 
key decision

N/A

This report is public 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

(1) That the Cabinet endorses the proposed changes to the Neighbourhood 
Plan, as set out in Appendix C and agrees that decision statement can 
be issued to inform interested parties that the modified Neighbourhood 
Plan should proceed to Referendum as soon as reasonably possible.

(2) That Cabinet agrees to the advance funding of the Referendum which 
will be claimed back from the Government in due course.

1.0 INTRODUCTION
1.1 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the Localism Act (2011) 

give local communities direct power to develop their shared vision for their 
neighbourhood and deliver the sustainable development they need. 
Neighbourhood planning provides a powerful set of tools for local people to 
get the right type of development for their community. The referendum is the 
culmination of the neighbourhood plan production process.

1.2 Wray-with-Botton are one of eleven areas within Lancaster District that are 
seeking to prepare their own neighbourhood plan under the powers described 
and have now reached an advanced stage in its preparation. The 
Independent Examination into the Plan took place between October and 
December and an Examiners report now received indicating that, subject to 

Page 1 Agenda Item 6



modifications their neighbourhood plan can be advanced to the referendum 
stage.

2.0 PROPOSAL DETAILS

2.1 Wray-with-Botton began work on their Neighbourhood Plan following the 
areas designation in mid-2015. In preparing the document the group has 
placed community engagement at the heart of their plan, undertaking a series 
of consultations and building evidence to support the policies contained in the 
plan.

2.2 The content of the plan seeks to address a range of issues and seeks to 
address the supply of housing in the locality through the allocation of land for 
future development needs. This includes a number of very small allocations 
within the village of Wray and a large allocation for approximately 15 new 
homes at Hoskins Farm, in the centre of the village. The plan contains a 
range of descriptive policies which seek to address issues which are 
important to the community, for example flood risk.

2.3 The Parish Council (who are responsible for preparing the plan) fulfilled the 
statutory requirements of neighbourhood plan making process and have 
undertaken consultation on a draft plan in early 2017 and a finalised version 
in 2018. The plan and the policies contained within it have been supported by 
the majority of respondents at the earlier stages.

2.4 Following the publication of the final version of the Wray-with-Botton 
Neighbourhood Plan, the documentation was scrutinised by an independent 
examiner. The examiner was appointed jointly between the City Council and 
Parish Council. The examination of the plan was carried out through the 
written representations procedure and did not involve any form of hearing 
sessions. The final version of the Examiners Report was received on the 12th 
December 2018 and recommended that, subject to a series of modifications, 
the plan can proceed to referendum. This Examiner Report can be found in 
Appendix B of this Report.

2.5 The modifications set out by the Examiner are considered to be necessary to 
ensure that the neighbourhood plan meets the basic conditions as required by 
the Localism Act. The basic conditions for neighbourhood plan making are:

 Having regard to national policies and advice contained in guidance issued 
by the Secretary of State it is appropriate to make the neighbourhood plan. 

 The making of the neighbourhood plan contributes to the achievement of 
sustainable development. 

 The making of the neighbourhood plan is in general conformity with the 
strategic policies contained in the development plan for the area of the 
authority 

 The making of the order (or neighbourhood plan) does not breach, and is 
otherwise compatible with, EU obligations 

 Prescribed conditions are met in relation to the Order (or plan) and 
prescribed matters have been complied with in connection with the 
proposal for the order (or neighbourhood plan). 

Page 2



2.6 Officers have reviewed the plan in light of the proposed modifications and 
conclude that the plan will continue to meet the Basic Conditions when 
incorporating the Examiner’s modifications. The assessment of the 
Examiner’s modifications can be found at Appendix C in the draft Decision 
Statement. Since receiving the modifications, these have been discussed with 
representatives of the Qualifying Body who have agreed that these changes 
are acceptable and that they wish for it to proceed to referendum at the 
earliest practicable opportunity. The addition of a Monitoring Framework is 
required by Recommendation 1C of the Examiner’s report, the Council is 
working with the Parish Council (Qualifying Body) to finalise this prior to 
referendum. 

2.7 If approved, the referendum will be held at the earliest practicable opportunity, 
in accordance with legislation. The question to be used in the referendum is 
set by the ‘Neighbourhood Planning (Referendums) Regulations 2012’, and 
must be “Do you want Lancaster City Council to use the neighbourhood plan 
for Wray-with-Botton to help it decide planning applications in the 
neighbourhood area?”

2.8 If more than 50% of those voting in the referendum answer “yes”, the plan 
would then form part of the Development Plan for the City Council and would 
then need to be formally ‘made’ (adopted) by the Council. This ‘making’ of the 
neighbourhood plan would be a decision made by full Council. 

3.0 Details of Consultation 
3.1 The Wray-with-Botton Neighbourhood Plan was formally consulted upon at 

Regulation 16 (The Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 (as 
amended) stage prior to the submission of the neighbourhood plan for 
examination by the appointed Examiner. 

4.0 Options and Options Analysis (including risk assessment)
Option 1: Accept the 
modifications of the 
Examiner, issue a 
decision statement to 
this effect and approve 
the Neighbourhood 
Plan to go forward to 
referendum.

Option 2: Reject some 
of the modifications of 
the Examiner and 
delegate authority to the 
Planning Manager to 
publish the decision. 

Option 3: Reject all 
of the 
modifications of 
the Examiner. 

Advantages This would be to the 
benefit of adopting 
localism within the 
district, enabling 
communities to shape 
their area. It would 
enable the community 
as a whole to decide if 
the plan should be sued 
by the Council for 
determining planning 
applications.

That the plan could be 
prepared in line with (or 
closer in line with) the 
original intentions of the 
Neighbourhood Plan sub 
group.

None known. 
Rejection of all the 
modifications would 
mean rejection of 
the plan on the basis 
that the Council 
could not be 
satisfied that the 
Plan could met the 
basic conditions 
required by 
Schedule 4B Town 

Page 3



and Country 
Planning Act 1990. 

Disadvantages None known Officers and the 
Neighbourhood Plan sub 
group have agreed the 
modifications are 
acceptable and that the 
plan is suitable to be the 
subject of a referendum. 

Rejecting modifications 
may remove clarity, 
factual correctness or 
compatibility with other 
local authority plans or 
policies. It could also 
lead to the Basic 
Conditions requirement 
not being met. 

Rejecting modification 
will require further 
consideration by officers 
as to the suitability of the 
plan and further 
consideration by Council. 
 

The Neighbourhood 
Plan would not be 
made. 

Risks None known Removal of some of the 
modification may lead to 
the Plan not meeting the 
basic conditions and to 
the ultimate decision that 
the plan should not be 
progressed. 

Removal of some of the 
Examiner’s 
recommendations may 
also create ambiguity 
and uncertainty in the 
application of the Plan. 
This could lead to legal 
challenge and difficulty in 
the application of 
planning policy to 
planning decisions.

The Plan, with the 
Examiners’ 
recommendations, is 
agreeable to the 
Neighbourhood 
group. To reject the 
Plan by not 
accepting the 
modifications could 
be suggest to public 
law challenge.  

5.0 Officer Preferred Option (and comments)
5.1 The preferred option is Option 1. Given the level of work undertaken by the 

Neighbourhood Plan Sub Group alongside the extensive consultation that 
took place prior to the Examination of the plan it is considered that subject to 
the outcome of the referendum that it is the will of the community of the Parish 
of Wray-with-Botton for a neighbourhood plan to be prepared. The 
independent Examiner has scrutinised plan in making an assessment as to 

Page 4



whether it meets the Basic Conditions and subject to modification is of the 
view that the plan is ready to proceed to Referendum.  

5.2 In conclusion it is the opinion of the Planning Manager that the Wray-with-
Botton Neighbourhood Plan is ready to proceed to referendum, subject to 
modifications as recommended by the Examiner being made. 

RELATIONSHIP TO POLICY FRAMEWORK

Neighbourhood Planning contributes to the Council’s corporate plan priorities, in particular, 
sustainable economic growth. 

Once made (adopted), neighbourhood plans will form part of the Council’s Lancaster District 
Local Plan.  

CONCLUSION OF IMPACT ASSESSMENT
(including Health & Safety, Equality & Diversity, Human Rights, Community Safety, 
HR, Sustainability and Rural Proofing):
The Examiner has confirmed that the Wray-with-Botton neighbourhood Plan meets the Basic 
Conditions (subject to recommended modifications). One of these conditions is that it must 
be compatible with human rights requirements. Officers agree that the plan, with 
modifications meets the Basic Conditions. 
There are not considered to be any equality impacts relating to recommendations of this 
report. 
Another of the Basic Conditions is to contribute the achievement of sustainable 
development. The neighbourhood plan was supported by a Strategic Environmental 
Assessment screening that concluded that the plan would not trigger significant 
environmental effects. In addition to this, the Council has confirmed that it believes the plan 
meets the Basic Conditions including in terms of sustainability. 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
The Council’s Legal duties are set out within the body of this Report and within the relevant 
sections of the Localism Act 2011. In accordance with regulation 12 (4) Schedule 4B of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as applicable by virtue of s38A (3) of the Planning 
and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004), the Council must hold a referendum if it is satisfied 
either: 

a. The proposed Neighborhood Plan meets the following conditions 

(i) The basic conditions are met
(ii) It is compatible with the ECHR
(iii) It complies with the provision made by or under S38A (6) and S38B of 

the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004
          Or 

b. The proposed NP would meet the criteria if modifications are made (whether or 
not recommended by the examiner). 

As per paragraph 2.5 of the report, the modifications set out by the examiner, will ensure that 
the Neighbourhood Plan will meets the basic requires. The examiner has also confirmed via 
their report that the plan does not breach and is compatible with the ECHR. 

Page 5



If Council resolves to reject some of the Examiner’s recommendation, it will have to give 
clear reasons for its rejection. If the rejection is due to some new evidence, fact or a different 
interpretation of a fact, then the authority will have no notify prescribed persons of the 
proposed decision (and the reason for it) and invite representations. The authority may refer 
the issue to independent examination.  

If the Council rejects all of the Examiner’s recommendations then the authority will not be 
able to satisfy itself that the basic conditions are met. This would mean that the Plan would 
have to be refused. This could be subject to a public law challenge if the Council’s rejection 
of all the modifications is not justified by sound reasoning. 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
As set out in the body of the report, to support the preparation of any neighbourhood plan 
Lancaster City Council has a duty to provide officer support to the community preparing the 
pan and as a result will also incur additional costs to cover (1) various stages of publicity, (2) 
Independent Examination and (3) a referendum. The local planning authorities are able to 
claim monies from DCLG to offset the costs of undertaking this work.

A payment of £20,000 becomes eligible once the local authority have set a date for the 
referendum following a successful examination. 

Given the advance stage of the Wray-with-Botton Neighbourhood Plan the Independent 
Examination has already taken place, costing the City Council £4,500. In relation to the 
referendum costs, these will vary greatly depending on the number of voters, the geography 
of the area and the number of polling stations required. To provide an illustration of the likely 
scale of the costs for a referendum for Dolphinholme (within Ellel Parish area) the council’s 
democratic service officers have advised that the estimated direct costs of holding a 
referendum (comprising printing and posting of voting materials, the Poll Station day staff 
and count voters) would be in the region of £2,000.

Budgets will be updated accordingly to provide provision for the costs in the year that they 
are expected to occur.

There are no financial implications associated with the recommended changes to the 
Neighbourhood Plan as set out in Appendix C.
OTHER RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS, such as Human Resources, Information Services, 
Property, Open Spaces:
Managing a referendum will also need the resources of democratic services officers, this 
would need to be funded from the grant, and may require additional staff resources if it 
impacts on other elections.

SECTION 151 OFFICER’S COMMENTS
No comments

MONITORING OFFICER’S COMMENTS
No Comments

BACKGROUND PAPERS Contact Officer: Paul Hatch

Page 6



Appendix A – Wray-with-Botton 
Neighbourhood Plan (Submission Version 
03.05.2018)
Appendix B - Examiners report – the 
examiner’s report is appended for 
consideration and should be read in 
conjunction with the submission version of 
the neighbourhood plan (Appendix A). 
Appendix C – Draft Decision Statement. 
Appendix D – Wray-with-Botton 
Neighbourhood Plan Referendum Version

Telephone:  01524 582 329
E-mail: phatch@lancaster.gov.uk 

Page 7

mailto:phatch@lancaster.gov.uk


Page 8



Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Development Plan

2011 - 2031

Wray with Botton Parish Council

Submission Version 4 

April 2018

Submission Version_4   April 2018

2

Page 9



CONTENTS

Foreword

Section 1 INTRODUCTION
1.1 What is a Neighbourhood Plan
1.2 Why a Neighbourhood Plan for Wray with Botton
1.3 Other Documents that guide development in the NP area
1.4 Plan Preparation
1.5 Community Engagement
1.6 Local Authority & Infrastructure Providers Engagement
1.7 Strategic Environmental Assessment/Habitat Directives
1.8 Area Designation
1.8 Structure of the NP

Section 2 Wray with Botton
2.1 Plan Area Overview
2.2 Historical Context
2.3 Present Character

Section 3 VISION AND OBJECTIVES
3.1 Vision
3.2 Objectives

Section 4 POLICIES AND GUIDANCE
4.1 Policy Development
4.2 List of Policies
4.3 Overall Strategy
4.4 Built Environment
4.5 Housing
4.6 Rural Economy
4.7 Natural Environment
4.8 Community 
4.9 Transport and Infrastructure

Section 5 IMPLEMENTATION & MONITORING

APPENDICES

Submission Version_4   April 2018

3

Page 10



LIST OF APPENDICES  (Separate Documents)

Appendix 1 Proposals Maps 

Appendix 2 Schedule of Evidence 

Appendix 3   Site Selection and Assessment 

Appendix 4 Constraints Overview and Environmental Constraints Maps 

Appendix 5 Local Green Space 

Appendix 6 Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) and Habitat Regulation 
Assessment (HRA)

Appendix 7 Bibliography/References

Appendix 8 Glossary of Terms 

Appendix 9 Table of Successor Policies in Emerging Local Plan

Submission Version_4   April 2018

4

Page 11



Foreword 

Neighbourhood Plans introduced through the Localism Act of 2011 help local 
communities to influence the planning of the area in which they live and work. 

Wray with Botton Parish Council chose to prepare a Neighbourhood Plan in 2014 and 
since then, a committee of residents, the Neighbourhood Planning Group (NPG) has met 
regularly to develop the Plan. The creation of a Neighbourhood Plan is a rigorous process 
that has demanded incredible commitment from the members of the NPG, and their efforts
are to be thoroughly commended. 

At the heart of the Plan is the evidence gathered from consultations, surveys and 
professional advice. This evidence has helped shape the Vision and Objectives that in 
turn are set out as Policies which, together with Lancaster City Council’s Local Plan, will 
shape future development in the village and against which planning applications will be 
judged.

Wray with Botton is a special place with a rich cultural heritage and a strong sense of 
community, set in the protected landscape of the Forest of Bowland Area of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty. The policies drawn up by the NPG are therefore the result of many months
of careful consideration of all the feedback received from Wray with Botton residents, local 
business, statutory authorities and other stakeholders. Every effort has been made by the 
NPG to ensure that the Plan truly reflects the majority of views of local residents.

Wray with Botton Parish Council is very proud of all the work undertaken by the NPG on its
behalf. This version of the Plan is the Submission document which we are formally 
submitting to Lancaster City Council. The City Council will carry out Public Consultation on
the document and arrange examination following which, with any necessary changes, it 
will be formally adopted by Lancaster City Council.  This is another  important step towards
giving the Parish the security of having the Neighbourhood Plan as the legal framework 
against which all future planning applications can be assessed.

Jo Postlethwaite

Chair

Wray with Botton Parish Council

Submission Version_4   April 2018

5

Page 12



Section 1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 What is a Neighbourhood Plan?

1.1.1 Neighbourhood Development Plans were introduced in the 2011 Localism Act.

1.1.2 The National Planning Policy Framework (March 2012) states:
“Neighbourhood planning gives communities direct power to develop a shared vision for 
their neighbourhood and deliver the sustainable development they need. Parishes … can 
use neighbourhood planning to set planning policies through neighbourhood plans to 
determine decisions on planning applications; and grant planning permission through 
Neighbourhood Development Orders and Community Right to Build Orders for specific 
development which complies with the order (para.183).

1.1.3 Neighbourhood planning provides a powerful set of tools for local people to ensure 
that they get the right types of development for their community. The ambition of the 
neighbourhood should be aligned with the strategic needs and priorities of the wider local 
area. Neighbourhood plans must be in general conformity with the strategic policies of the 
Local Plan. To facilitate this, local planning authorities should set out clearly their strategic 
policies for the area and ensure that an up-to-date Local Plan is in place as quickly as 
possible. Neighbourhood plans should reflect these policies and neighbourhoods should 
plan positively to support them. Neighbourhood plans and orders should not promote less 
development than set out in the Local Plan or undermine its strategic policies (para.184).

1.1.4 Outside these strategic elements, neighbourhood plans will be able to shape and 
direct sustainable development in their area. Once a neighbourhood plan has 
demonstrated its general conformity with the strategic policies of the Local Plan and is 
brought into force, the policies it contains take precedence over existing non-strategic 
policies in the Local Plan for that neighbourhood, where they are in conflict. Local planning
authorities should avoid duplicating planning processes for non-strategic policies where a 
neighbourhood plan is in preparation (para.185)”.

1.2  Why a Neighbourhood Plan for Wray with Botton?

1.2.1 Wray with Botton Parish lies wholly within the Forest of Bowland Area of 
Outstanding Beauty (AONB). The AONB designation has the statutory purpose of 
conserving and enhancing the natural beauty of the area. This means that the area’s 
landscape has been identified by the Government as being of national importance. 
Designation as an AONB and the resulting legal powers and statutory obligations arise out 
of the National Parks and Access to the Countryside Act 1949 and the Countryside and 
Rights of Way Act 2000.

1.2.2 The AONB is a special place, characterised by the grandeur of the upland core; the 
steep escarpment of the Moorland Hills; the undulating lowlands; the visual contrasts 
between each element of the overall landscape; the serenity and tranquility of the area; the
distinctive pattern of settlements; the wildlife and the landscape’s historic and cultural 
associations.  Wray with Botton Parish includes many of these characteristics which 
contribute to make it a special place to live, work and play. 

Submission Version_4   April 2018

6

Page 13



1.2.3 Lancaster City Council along with other public bodies have a statutory duty under 
Section 85 of the Countryside and Rights of Way (CRoW) Act 2000 to have regard to the 
statutory purpose of AONBs in carrying out their functions. Within the AONB, Government 
policy requires that councils give great weight to conserving landscape and scenic beauty. 
Management of the AONB which encompasses 18 parishes within 2 counties with 6 district
councils is coordinated by the AONB partnership with its policy framework over the period 
April 2014 to March 2019 set out in the Forest of Bowland Management Plan1. The vision 
for all partners to work towards is that the Forest of Bowland AONB should retain its sense
of local distinctiveness, notably the the large scale open moorland character of the 
Bowland Fells, traditional buildings and settlement patterns of villages, hamlets and 
farmsteads. Natural and cultural heritage should be sympathetically managed and 
contribute to a sustainable and vibrant local economy.

1.2.4 The two AONBs which lie within the Lancaster District are relatively small and 
sparsely populated compared with the whole and the City Council recognised that the 
District-wide Local Plan would not have the AONBs as their main focus. Whilst the 
administrative burden of dealing with the 6 separate councils in the Forest of Bowland 
AONB was considered too onerous to deal with, nevertheless it has chosen to work with 
South Lakeland District Council to produce a Development Plan Document  for the Arnside
and Silverdale AONB2. The AONB DPD can focus on the AONB and have its conservation 
and enhancement at its heart. It is an important means of implementing the the AONB 
Management Plan and will give statutory development plan policy force to some of the 
principles of the management plan when planning applications are considered. The 
Neighbourhood Plan for Wray draws on the work the City Council has done in preparing 
the AONB DPD and seeks a similar approach within the Forest of Bowland. The emerging 
Local Plan now recognises the importance of both AONBs within the District with policies 
which are now acknowledged within the Neighbourhood Plan.

1.2.5 Wray with Botton Parish Council, mindful of its location within the AONB decided in 
Autumn 2014 to draw up a Neighbourhood Development Plan for Wray with Botton 
because it was concerned about a number of issues affecting the Parish.

Issue 1 Meeting the housing needs of the people of Wray

Issue 2 Preserving the historic landscape and townscape of Wray and ensuring that any 
new development in Wray respects these

Issue 3 Finding appropriate uses for sites and buildings in Wray that fall into disuse

1.2.6 By working with Lancaster City Council, the Forest of Bowland AONB, and local 
village groups, Wray with Botton Parish Council  established that a Neighbourhood 
Development Plan with appropriate planning policies, allocations and guidance would be a
good way to address these issues.

1.2.7 The Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Plan sets out a vision and objectives for the 
future of Wray with Botton and establishes how that vision and objectives will be realised 
by identifying planning policies, allocations and guidance that can control land use and 
development in the parish.

1 Forest of Bowland Management Plan 2014-19  http://forestofbowland.com/Management-Plan

2 Submission Version Arnside and Silverdale AONB DPD Feb 2018

Submission Version_4   April 2018

7

Page 14



1.3 Other documents guiding development in the Neighbourhood Plan Area

1.3.1 The Neighbourhood Plan is only one of a number of plans and strategies affecting 
the parish. It will complement existing plans and strategies including the AONB 
Management Plan and other existing and emerging local plan documents. The NP must be
read alongside these other documents in order to understand the full range of 
requirements to which new development will be subject. These other documents will be 
found on the Lancaster City and Forest of Bowland websites - the most important are 
described below:

National Planning Policies

1.3.2 Local Plans must be in general conformity with national planning policies set out in 
the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2012). The central theme of the NPPF is 
a ‘presumption in favour of sustainable development’. Paragraph 14 sets out that:

At the heart of the National Planning Policy Framework is a presumption in favour of
sustainable development,  which should be seen as a golden thread running through
both plan-making and decision-taking. For plan-making this means that:

• Local Planning Authorities should positively seek opportunities to meet the 
development needs of their area;

• Local Plans should meet objectively assessed needs, with sufficient flexibility to adapt 
to rapid change, unless: 

- any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstratively outweigh the 
benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole; or 
-specific policies in this Framework indicate development should be restricted.

1.3.3 Footnote 9 in the NPPF, which relates to the ‘specific policies’ referenced in the 
above paragraph, states: “For example, those policies relating to sites protected under 
the Birds and Habitats Directives (see paragraph 119) and/or designated as Sites of 
Special Scientific Interest; land designated as Green Belt, Local Green Space, an Area of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty, Heritage Coast or within a National Park (or the Broads 
Authority); designated heritage assets; and locations at risk of flooding or coastal erosion.”

1.3.4 This means that the presumption in favour of sustainable development needs to be 
taken in the context of the AONB’s status as a nationally protected landscape and in the 
context of the purpose of AONB designation. The NPPF is quite clear that the delivery of 
Objectively Assessed Needs (OAN) should be restricted in particular areas such as 
AONBs but this does not prevent opportunities to meet OAN being considered through the 
plan-making process.

1.3.5 Paragraph 115 of the NPPF states:

Submission Version_4   April 2018

8

Page 15



Great weight should be given to conserving landscape and scenic beauty in National
Parks, the Broads and Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty, which have the highest
status of  protection in  relation to  landscape and scenic beauty.  The conservation of
wildlife and cultural heritage are important considerations in all these areas, and should
be given great weight in National Parks and the Broads.

1.3.6 Paragraph 17 of the NPPF sets out Core planning principles in the form of 12 bullet 
points. Fundamentally it requires that it should be a genuinely plan-led process, 
empowering local people to shape their surroundings, with succinct local and 
neighbourhood plans setting out a positive vision for the future of the area. The plans 
should proactively drive and support sustainable economic development to deliver the 
homes, business and industrial units, infrastructure and thriving local places that the 
country needs.  They also need to secure high quality design and a good standard of 
amenity for all existing and future occupants of land and buildings. The plans should take 
account of the different roles and characters of different areas and recognise the intrinsic 
character and beauty of the countryside and support thriving rural communities within it.

1.3.7 The NPPF also confirms that Local Planning Authorities should set out the strategic 
priorities for their areas within Local Plans and deliver the conservation and enhancement 
of the natural environment, including landscape (NPPF paragraph 156). It also states that:

•  Planning  should  contribute  to  conserving  and  enhancing  the  natural  environment
(paragraph 17, bullet 7, first part), and Local Plans should identify land where development
would be inappropriate because of its environmental or historical significance (paragraph
157);

• Allocations of land for development should prefer land of lesser environmental value 
(counting AONBs as the highest value: paragraph 17 bullet 7, second part);

•  Local  Planning  Authorities  should  set  evidence  and  criteria  based  planning  policies
against which proposals for any development on or affecting landscape will  be judged
(paragraph 113).

1.3.8 Paragraph 116 of the NPPF states:

Planning permission should be refused for  major developments in these designated
areas except in exceptional circumstances and where it can be demonstrated that they
are  in  the  public  interest.  Consideration  of  such  applications  should  include  an
assessment of:

• The need for the development, including in terms of any national considerations, and 
the impact of permitting it, or refusing it, upon the local economy;

• The cost of, and scope for, developing elsewhere outside the designated area, or 
meeting the need for it in some other way; and

• Any detrimental effect on the environment, the landscape and recreational 
opportunities, and the extent to which that could be moderated.

1.3.9 The National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG), which accompanies the NPPF, 
Submission Version_4   April 2018

9

Page 16



reiterates Local authorities’ statutory duties in relation to AONBs, setting out that Local 
Planning Authorities should have regard to AONB management plans, including their 
contribution to setting the strategic context for development by providing evidence and 
principles.

The Lancaster District Local Plan

1.3.10 The relevant parts of the Lancaster Local Plan are:

(I) The Lancaster District Core Strategy (2008), which sets out the overall 
development strategy and vision for the District. It identifies the AONB as a key element of 
the District’s environmental capital but considered that developing a spatial strategy for the
area would be too complex due the number of authorities involved. The overall policy of 
urban concentration also identified the village of Wray as a sustainable location for 
development to meet local needs.

(II) The Lancaster District Development Management Policies (2014), which 
sets out policies used to help determine planning applications in Lancaster District. It 
identifies the village of Wray as a sustainable settlement in which it is appropriate for some
development to take place. The Development Plan Document is written in anticipation that 
certain policy areas may be subject to further consideration in the preparation of the 
Arnside & Silverdale AONB DPD. At the same time the council stated that it would not 
provide an equivalent DPD  for the Forest of Bowland AONB due to its more isolated and 
rural character.

(lll) The Arnside and Silverdale Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) 
Development Plan Document (DPD) Submission Version (February 2018). The 
submission version sets out the overall strategy for development within the AONB 
including the identification of sites for housing. The DPD is now at an advanced stage and 
deals with similar issues that arise in the area of the Forest of Bowland AONB lying within 
the District and therefore, for the sake of consistency in the application of development 
control across the District, the Neighbourhood Plan draws strongly on its approach.

(IV) Saved policies of the Lancaster District Local Plan (2004).

(V) Lancaster City Council held a public consultation3 on two documents which will 
form the basis of the new Local Plan for the district. These are the Strategic Policies 
and Land Allocations DPD4 for the whole District, excepting the Arnside & Silverdale 
AONB and an update to the Development Management DPD5. These documents have 
subsequently been amended and re-issued at Publication Stage on 9 February 2018 with 
representations invited until 6 April 2018. The City Council recognises that Neighbourhood 
Plans are being developed in a number of areas within the District and has not allocated 
specific sites within these areas. However, the Council expects, via the Neighbourhood 
Plan process, the respective Parish Council’s to proactively and positively plan for housing
growth within their communities. In drafting this NP, full weight must be given to the 

3 Developing a Local Plan for Lancaster District: Public Consultation 27 January to 24 March 2017

4 Publication Draft Strategic Policies and Land Allocation DPD February 2018

5 Publication Draft Development Management DPD February 2018

Submission Version_4   April 2018

10

Page 17



adopted documents noted at (l) (ll) and (lV) above whilst significant consideration has been
given to the emerging documents as the best representation of the Council’s current 
thinking.

The Forest of Bowland AONB Management Plan

1.3.11 The statutory AONB Management Plan is an important document. It was prepared 
by the AONB Partnership led by the Joint Advisory Committee comprising county councils, 
district councils, government agencies, representatives of landowners and others with 
interests as diverse as wildlife and rambling.  The current Management Plan runs from 
April 2014 to March 2019.   It identifies the distinctive qualities of the Forest of Bowland as

● Wild Open Spaces
● A special place for wildlife
● A landscape rich in heritage
● Living landscape
● Delicious local food and drink
● A place to enjoy and keep special

1.3.12 The Management Plan outlines an integrated vision for future development of the 
AONB based on the highest level of shared aspirations for the area, taking into account 
relevant international, national, regional and local policies. It presents objectives specific to
the AONB that will enable this vision to be pursued effectively and allocates responsibility 
for each objective and related actions to relevant partners. The Management Plan also 
details the process by which progress towards these targets will be assessed.

1.3.13 To achieve its vision the plan has adopted a framework based on the following four 
outcomes:

● An outstanding landscape of natural and cultural heritage
● Resilient and sustainable communities
● A strong connection between people and the landscape
● Working in partnership

1.3.14 Planning and development is covered under the first outcome and is summarised 
as follows:

● Provide advice and guidance on planning and landscape-related matters for local 
planning authorities, highway authorities, government agencies, developers and 
communities (based on ‘guidelines for managing landscape change’ within the 
Forest of Bowland AONB Landscape Character Assessment [2009] to uphold the 
statutory duty for AONBs of ‘conserving and enhancing the natural beauty of the 
landscape’.

● Contribute to and influence development plan documents (DPDs) of responsible 
local planning authorities

● Influence relevant planning and development policies and strategies at local, county
and national level to uphold the statutory duty for AONBs of ‘conserving and 
enhancing the natural beauty of the landscape’

1.3.15 The NP aims to complement the Management Plan to help deliver its chosen 
outcomes. The Management Plan itself is not part of the statutory Local Plan for the area 
but it is a material consideration in making planning decisions.

Submission Version_4   April 2018

11

Page 18



1.4  Plan Preparation

1.4.1 The Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Plan has been prepared in accordance with 
the Localism Act 2011, the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 (“the 
Regulations”), the Town & Country Planning Act 1990, the Planning & Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2003 and EU Directive 2001/42 on Strategic Environmental Assessment.

1.4.2 In order to prepare the Plan, the Parish Council first had to establish the Area and 
make arrangements for decision making and undertaking the work.  This included setting 
up a working group and sub-groups for specific areas and themes. Wray with Botton has 
been fortunate enough to be able to draw on local expertise in a variety of specialist areas 
in the form of volunteers. It also decided that it would need independent specialist help at 
certain points in the Plan-making process.  To this end it established a budget including 
grant made available by the Government specifically for the purpose of producing 
Neighbourhood Plans.  It was also able to access other support from Lancaster City 
Council including planning advice, preparation of plans and diagrams, screening exercises
for Sustainability Appraisal under the Strategic Environmental Assessment Directive and 
Habitats Assessment, legality checking etc. and has engaged with the AONB Unit and 
many other bodies through a wide ranging consultation process.

1.5 Community Engagement

1.5.1 Community engagement and consultation lies at the heart of the neighbourhood 
planning process. A questionnaire distributed to all households in October 2014 sought 
comments on the proposed plan boundary and to identify residents’ current concerns. The 
responses were used to develop the vision and objectives for the plan and as a basis for 
discussions with a number of community groups in February and March 2015.  The groups
engaged included Wray Endowed Primary School Governors and Senior Leadership 
Team,  Wray School Council (elected body of pupils), Wray Pre-school, Wray Youth Group,
Holy Trinity Church, Wray Methodist Chapel, the Women's Institute and Wray Scarecrow 
Festival & Fair Committee. At the same time, a large number of other statutory bodies and 
agencies were consulted to identify issues which needed to be taken into account in 
drafting the plan.

1.5.2 As housing was a clear concern for many respondents, a Housing Needs Survey 
was carried out in March 2015. This achieved a response rate of 58.6% which is an 
excellent result for this type of survey. This was followed up in April 2015 with a 
questionnaire distributed to all households which sought residents’ opinions on a number 
of issues including aspects on quality of life, housing and development, jobs and the local 
economy and protection of the environment. During the 2015 Scarecrow Festival and 
Wray Fair, visitors to the village were also invited to give their views on what they thought 
about the area. All this work was brought together at a public open day in July 2015 when 
the results were shown and further comment invited. In addition, the local community 
monthly news sheet, the Wrayly Mail, has been used throughout the development of the 
plan to keep the community informed of progress. A further public open day was held in 
March 2017 to show the progress made with drafting the Neighbourhood Plan, including 
the Housing Needs Survey Report, the draft Landscape Appraisal Report and the 
emerging results of the site selection and assessment process. All landowners of sites 
selected for assessment have been consulted and appraised of the outcome of those 
assessments. General support for the approach and outcomes identified has been noted.  
    

Submission Version_4   April 2018

12

Page 19



1.5.3 Between 30 September and 10 November 2017 Wray with Botton Parish Council 
undertook a statutory 6-week consultation on Pre-submission Version 3 of the Plan. 
Feedback, suggestions and comments have been carefully considered and where 
appropriate amendments have been made to the Plan accordingly. The comments 
received and the changes made are recorded in the Consultation Statement which 
accompanies this Publication Document Version 4 as part of the formal submission to the 
Council for Examination and Referendum. The Consultation Statement contains details of 
all engagement with the community and others in preparing this Plan.

1.6 Local Authority & Infrastructure Providers Engagement

1.6.1 It has been critical to engage with the Local Authority, Lancaster City Council, 
throughout the process as once the Plan has passed the Referendum it will form part of 
Lancaster City Council's Local Plan and any planning applications made for development 
in Wray with Botton from that point on will then be judged against the Neighbourhood Plan 
and other relevant Development Plan Documents.  

1.6.2 Preparation of the Plan was happening at the same time as Lancaster City 
Council's Local Plan was evolving.  As the Neighbourhood Plan has to be in general 
conformity with the Strategic Policies of the Local Plan, this made it even more important 
to maintain a good dialogue with Lancaster City Council throughout the process. In 
addition, Lancaster City Council have been able to help in a variety of ways in accordance 
with the Duty to Support in the Localism Act.

1.6.3 Infrastructure providers were consulted at an early stage of plan preparation. None 
of those who responded identified particular concerns or restraints other than the 
Environment Agency who drew attention to the Flood Zones within the plan area. 
Lancashire County Council as Highway Authority were unable to provide resources to 
comment on matters of access as part of the site assessment process. At the request of 
Lancaster City Council, the Highway Authority provided brief comments6 in January 2018. 
These comments together with the lengthy experience and professional expertise 
available within the Neighbourhood Planning Group have been used to validate the site 
assessment. Infrastructure providers were consulted again on the Pre-Submission Version
3 and no comments were received that required any significant changes to be made.  

1.7 Strategic Environmental Assessment/Habitats Directives

1.7.1 The Neighbourhood Plan has to be assessed under Sustainability Appraisal (SA) to 
ensure it contributes to sustainable development. This is required by the Strategic 
Environmental Assessment (SEA) Directive7. An assessment is also required under the 
Habitats Regulations8.

1.7.2 Once Wray with Botton decided on their Vision and Objectives they submitted these
to Lancaster City Council for Strategic Environmental Assessment and Habitats 

6 Email from David Bloomer (Lancashire CC) to Paul Hatch (Lancaster CC) 24 January 2018

7 Directive 2001/42/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council on the assessment of the effects of 
certain plans and programmes on the environment

8 Directive 92/43/EEC of 21 May 1992 on the conservation of natural habitats and of wild fauna and flora. 
The Directive is primarily transposed in England under the Conservation of Habitats and Species 
Regulations 2010 (the Habitats Regulations).

Submission Version_4   April 2018

13

Page 20



Regulations Directives Assessment screenings. The initial screenings concluded that there
was insufficient information available to determine whether assessments would be 
required. When the Neighbourhood Plan reached pre-submission stage Version 2, it was 
submitted to Lancaster City Council for further screening. The results are provided in 
Appendix 6. The Strategic Environmental Assessment screening concluded that it is 
unlikely that the Neighbourhood Plan would result in a significant environmental effect. The
Habitats Regulation Assessment Screening Report identified four policies requiring 
amendments to their wording to clarify that there would be no likely significant effects on 
designated sites as a result of their implementation. These policies have subsequently 
been amended to satisfy this recommendation and acknowledged at pre-submission stage
Version 3. No significant changes have been made to this version 4 which would require 
further screening to be necessary.  

1.8 Area Designation

1.8.1 One of the first actions in the production of the Neighbourhood Plan was to define 
the Plan Area and have it officially designated by Lancaster City Council.

1.8.2 Wray with Botton were interested in issues that could affect large parts of the Parish
area and as such it decided to have the whole of its area designated as the 
Neighbourhood Plan Area.

1.8.3 The Area was submitted to Lancaster City Council for Designation on 11 November 
2014 and after a 6 week statutory consultation period run by Lancaster City Council, the 
area was designated on 20 February 2015

Submission Version_4   April 2018

14

Page 21



Submission Version_4   April 2018

15

Page 22



1.9 Structure of the Neighbourhood Plan

The document is split into six sections:

Section 1 is this introduction. It tells you what the Neighbourhood Plan is, how it was 
prepared  and how it fits into National and Local planning policy.

Section 2 provides a description of the NP area and background information on the history
and character of the village of Wray  

Section 3 sets out the Vision and Objectives for the NP.

Section 4 sets out the policies through which the vision and objectives will be delivered 
and includes proposed allocation of sites for development.

Section 5  considers the monitoring and implementation of the NP 

The Appendices are contained in separate documents

Submission Version_4   April 2018

16

Page 23



SECTION 2  Wray with Botton

2.1 Overview of the Plan Area

2.1.1 The rural parish of Wray with Botton in the City of Lancaster lies in the Forest of 
Bowland Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB). It is about 14.5 km (9 miles) long 
and up to 2.3 km (1.5 miles) wide, comprising the small village of Wray surrounded by 
agricultural land used for grazing cattle and sheep and a sparsely populated, largely 
upland area of open countryside to the south bounded to the east by the River Hindburn.

2.1.2 The village, most of which is within a Conservation Area and where most of the 
population live9, is tucked away at the confluence of the Rivers Roeburn and Hindburn at 
the point where they flow out from their steep-sided wooded valleys into the floodplain of 
the Lune Valley. Steeped in history, characteristics of this pretty and much-visited 
community include a one-deep (linear) Medieval street pattern with little development 
beyond and distant views out to surrounding landscape.

2.1.3 There is a strong tradition of community spirit and action involving people from the 
fells and the village working together. Local people have embraced change, most recently 
as part of the vanguard for community-owned Broadband for the Rural North (B4RN) Ltd, 
a professionally designed, high-speed and world-class fibre optic broadband network 
serving homes in the parish10.

Key Statistics

Dimensions About 14.5 km (9 miles) in length by up to 2.3 km (1.5 miles) wide

Area 2171 ha11 all within the Forest of Bowland AONB

Population 53212

Households 22213 Note that all bar 20–25 dwellings are located in and around 
the village. More than 90 percent are permanent residences, rather than 

holiday/second homes14

Listed Buildings 44 (28 within the Wray Conservation Area) (Ref) In addition 
to the Listed Buildings, significant numbers of buildings have been identified as 
Buildings of Special Character 

Businesses 4415 These range from farming to therapy. Many are sole 

9 Housing Needs Survey Report, 2015

10 See https://b4rn.org.uk/ (accessed 16/1/17)

11 Office for National Statistics

12 Census, 2011 

13 Census, 2011

14 Housing Needs Survey Report, 2015

15 Wray Business Survey, 2015

Submission Version_4   April 2018

17

Page 24

https://b4rn.org.uk/


proprietors or employ only small numbers of part-time staff or contractors

          
Map 2.1 Wray Conservation Area16

16 Wray Conservation Area Appraisal (Lancaster City Council December 2009)

Submission Version_4   April 2018

18

Page 25



2.2 Historical context

2.2.1 The name Wray derives from the old Scandinavian word ‘wra’, a nook or corner 
denoting a remote valley or isolated place. The village was established in about 1200 by 
the Lord of Hornby Castle, and at that time it was an agricultural settlement:

A double set of homesteads faced each other across what became the village 
street, which turned a sharp corner as it approached the Roeburn, and continued 
downhill to a convenient crossing place at the bottom17

2.2.2 That basic layout on Main Street still forms the heart of the village. In the 17th 
century local Quakers refused to pay agricultural tithes to the established church, leading 
the population away from agriculture to industry. By the 19th century the village had 
become a centre of hat, nail and bobbin making. Many vernacular cottages survive from 
the 17th and 18th centuries, often identified by prominent date stones, and their close 
proximity to each other is distinct:

Its [Wray’s] old appearance can be seen in a village such as Arkholme, a single 
street of well-spaced yeoman houses. At Wray the spaces were rapidly filled in, a 
map of the 1770s already showing almost no gaps18

2.2.3 During this time the crossing place, originally a ford, was replaced by a stone bridge
(late 18th century). Additional buildings ‘with great architectural pretension’19 date from the 
19th century, and architectural historian Nikolaus Pevsner describes Main Street as ‘a 
specially pretty village street with the houses as continuous terraces…’

2.3 Present character

2.3.1 Place

2.3.1.1  The parish is fully contained within the Forest of Bowland AONB and, as would be 
expected, is strongly characterized by any description of that landscape. As noted in the 
Housing Needs Survey Report20, all the factors used in the designation of the AONB can 
be seen in different parts of the parish. These include21 the

● Grandeur and isolation of the upland core
● Steep escarpments of the Moorland Hills
● Undulating lowlands
● Serenity and tranquility of the area
● Distinctive pattern of settlements
● Wildlife of the area

17 Garnett E. 2002. The Wray Flood of 1967: Memories of a Lune Valley Community. Volume 47, Centre for North-
West Regional Studies, Lancaster University

18 Garnett E, 2002

19 Wray Conservation Area Appraisal. 2009. Prepared by The Conservation Studio for Lancaster City Council

20 Housing Needs Survey Report, 2015

21 Forest of Bowland AONB Management Plan 2014-19

Submission Version_4   April 2018

19

Page 26



● Landscape’s historic and cultural associations 

2.3.1.2 Within this, the Wray Conservation Area Appraisal22 contains considerable detail 
about what makes Wray a unique village within the AONB: much of it is a designated 
Conservation Area. Features include its location and setting, historical development, 
character and appearance, and buildings (e.g. see Box 2.3.1). Particularly relevant to the 
present document include the

● Rural setting of the village between [the] Forest of Bowland and the Lune Valley
● Distinctive linear village street pattern [i.e. one-deep] with little backland 

development
● Distant views out of the conservation area to surrounding rural landscape, to 

Hornby Castle and along the River Roeburn

2.3.1.3 The number of Listed Buildings in the Conservation Area (28) is noted to be high 
for such a small settlement, and these together with Buildings of Special Character 
comprise almost all the buildings on Main Street.

Wray Conservation Area Appraisal summary of special interest

● Origins as a planned and planted medieval village established as a farming 
community in the 12th century

● Distinctive linear village street pattern with little backland development
● Rural setting of the village between [the] Forest of Bowland and the Lune Valley
● Located on land rising from the Roeburn valley just west of the confluence of the 

Rivers Hindburn and Roeburn
● Significant number of dwellings that survive from the late-17th to late-19th 

centuries
● Distant views out of the conservation area to surrounding rural landscape, to 

Hornby Castle and along the River Roeburn
● Views of historic buildings within the conservation area, notably landmark 

buildings such as Wray House and Windsor House which hold prominent 
positions at the north end of Main Street

● Architectural and historic interest of the area’s buildings, including 28 listed 
buildings

● Varied townscape of vernacular historic buildings that follow the sinuous curves of
Main Street, as it climbs from the valley of the River Roeburn

● Prevalent use of locally quarried building stone for walling, roof slates and 
boundary walls

● Features and details that contribute to local identity e.g. small areas of cobbled 
stone floorscape, decorative date stones and the Queen Victoria Jubilee lamp

● The Flood Garden, site of houses demolished in the flood of 1967, wherein lies a 
commemorative cobblestone mosaic designed by Maggy Howarth

22 Wray Conservation Area Appraisal, 2009

Submission Version_4   April 2018

20

Page 27



● Trees, particularly in the southern part of the conservation area beside the 
Roeburn and Bank Wood, a steep backdrop to the conservation area

● The River Roeburn and Wray Bridge (1780), listed grade II

2.3.1.4 To supplement the existing information on the special qualities of the area and to 
focus on the setting of the village of Wray, a Landscape Appraisal23 by Alison Farmer 
Associates was commissioned which reviews previous appraisals and defines eight Local 
Character Areas. This character assessment helps bridge the current gap between the 
wider AONB Landscape Character Assessment and the Conservation Area Appraisal. The 
Landscape Appraisal identifies the special qualities of the village to conserve and enhance
and the changes to avoid.  The plan showing the village character and analysis is shown 
on the following page.

2.3.2 People

2.3.2.1 Wray village and the surrounding area have a recent history of proactive 
community development activity, with local people able to look forward and act for the 
benefit of all. For example24:

Community spirit is a difficult thing to pin down, but everyone agrees that Wray has 
it more than most villages, and that it has grown over the years in a spiral of cause 
and effect. Not many places with 500 inhabitants could have generated the 
Scarecrow Festival and Fair which in a warm May can bring somewhere in the 
region of 30,000 visitors; and not many could have supported the building, in the 
year 2001, of two extra classrooms on to a school with fewer than fifty children.’

2.3.2.2 More recently, Wray was a key centre in setting up and installing B4RN fibre optic 
broadband in the rural communities to the east of Lancaster poorly served by the national 
providers. Local volunteers played an active role in extending the core route from 
Roeburndale into and through the village. The high take up of connections helped put 
B4RN on a sound commercial footing, and the network now serves over 2500 properties. 
This development is likely to have contributed to the relatively large proportion of new 
professional, scientific and technical businesses25.

23 Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Plan: Landscape Appraisal, Alison Farmer Associates 2017

24 Garnett E, 2002

25 Wray Business Survey, 2015

Submission Version_4   April 2018

21

Page 28



Submission Version_4   April 2018

22

Page 29



2.4 Planning Constraints

2.4.1 Two plans included at Appendix 4 indicate the most significant constraints in terms 
of national, county council and district council designations. These include the Forest of 
Bowland Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty which covers the whole of the 
neighbourhood Plan area; the Bowland Fells Special Protection Area which covers a 
significant area in the south of the Parish; Flood Zone 3 which is of particular importance in
the vicinity of the Rivers Roeburn and Hindburn where they pass through the village of 
Wray; and the Wray Conservation Area. 

2.4.2 Immediately adjacent to the east of the village of Wray, a significant area of land is 
subject to an agreement under S106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.  A copy 
of the agreement is included at Annex 3 to Appendix 3 Site Selection and Assessment. 
Under the agreement it is covenanted not to erect any further dwellings or replacement 
agricultural buildings on the agricultural land beyond the development of 8 dwellings on the
east side of what is now Home Farm Close. The area concerned is shown on the 
Proposals Map Sheet 2 Inset Plan Wray Village. 

2.4.3 The Parish Council requested that the agreement was negotiated due to the 
importance it attached to this area.  The value of the historic meadowland sloping down to 
the river flood plain and strip fields to the north of the village is also acknowledged in the 
independent research carried out for this plan.  The S106 agreement illustrates the historic
importance the Parish Council has accorded, and will continue to accord, to the 
environmental sensitivity and the conservation of the landscape when it comes to the 
determination of local planning applications.

Submission Version_4   April 2018

23

Page 30



Section 3 VISION AND OBJECTIVES

3.1 Vision

3.1.1 The vision for the Forest of Bowland AONB set out in the adopted Management 
Plan is:

The vision for all partners to work towards is that:
The Forest of Bowland AONB retains its sense of local distinctiveness, notably the large-
scale open moorland character of the Bowland Fells, traditional buildings and
settlement patterns of villages, hamlets and farmsteads. Natural and cultural heritage is 
sympathetically managed and contributes to a sustainable and vibrant local economy.
The management of the AONB has improved the quality of the landscape for all.

3.1.2 The vision set out in the Lancaster District Local Plan26 is:

Economic Vision
The council will seek to meet the challenges of sustainable growth within both the district
and regional economy, creating conditions which will enable managed growth and 
establish a strong, diverse and vibrant local economy. This will be achieved whilst 
protecting and where possible enhancing the strong character of the of the district’s 
landscape, the natural and historic environment and communities from negative impacts 
and achieving a strong sense of place.

Environmental Vision
The District of Lancaster has many landscapes, townscapes, buildings, habitats and 
ecosystems which are unique and special. These features contribute to a unique sense 
of place for local residents, businesses and visitors to the district. The council recognises
the importance to protect these features both for current and future generations and take
the opportunities to enhance these features when and where possible.

Communities Vision
The council believes in the creation and protection of strong, safe and sustainable 
communities, whether they be urban or rural. New development in the district will be 
provided in sustainable locations and to meet the needs of a changing and evolving 
community  

The Strategic Policies and Land Allocations DPD27 in the emerging Local Plan sets out a 
Spatial Vision for Lancaster District which includes specific ambitions for the district’s local 
areas where Wray with Botton falls within the coast and countryside area:

Conserved and enhanced environments with a more diverse network of vibrant rural 
communities acting as hubs for services and businesses that provide for local needs and
directly support farming, forestry and fisheries.

26 As set out in the Local Plan for Lancaster District 2011-2031 Development Management DPD 

27 Local Plan for Lancaster District- Part One: Strategic Policies and Land Allocations DPD Publication 
Version February 2018

Submission Version_4   April 2018

24

Page 31



3.1.3 The vision for the Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Plan needs to reflect and 
supplement the Management Plan vision, the Local Plan vision, national policy and the 
evidence gathered from consultation with the local community.

Based on engagement with the Community and the key issues identified, Wray with 
Botton Neighbourhood  Development Plan's Vision for 2031 is as follows:

Development will be managed in the Neighbourhood Plan area in a way that meets the 
needs of the local community allowing them to continue to live, work and enjoy a high 
quality of life in an area that creates a strong sense of place.

Wray with Botton will support high-quality sustainable development to meet local needs 
which enhances the local distinctiveness of its character and respects its setting within 
the landscape of the Forest of Bowland AONB. 

Sustainable development will be managed within the Parish for the benefit of its 
residents, businesses and wildlife, maintaining and enhancing its character and 
respecting its setting within the landscape. Agriculture and wild places will remain valued
features of local life.

Success will mean Wray with Botton continues to be a small, vibrant, rural community 
encouraging prosperity for residents and local businesses alike whilst conserving its 
natural assets.
 
Reasoned Justification

3.1.4 The vision has been subject to much discussion both within the neighbourhood 
planning group and the wider community through consultation. It encompases the key 
strands of local distinctiveness and the established high quality of life created by a vibrant 
community living in harmony with its special surroundings. The community supports 
sustainable development provided it will enhance and not harm the strong sense of place.

3.2 Objectives

3.2.1 To achieve this Vision, the following Objectives should be met:

(l) Development is compatible with the existing built environment and the landscape of 
the Forest of Bowland AONB in terms of its character, heritage and scale.

(ll) Development is designed to a high standard and within the village of Wray 
compatible with the Conservation Area at its core.

(lll) The housing needs of the Parish are met by providing homes of the right type, size 
and tenure in the most suitable places.

(lV) Priority is given to new development on previously developed land and the reuse of 
existing buildings.. 

(V) Local suitable business initiatives for live/work, agricultural diversification and small-
scale facilities for tourism and enterprise are encouraged and strengthened.

(Vl) Development is compatible with the natural environment, preserving wildlife habitats 
Submission Version_4   April 2018

25

Page 32



and green spaces, and respecting the importance of the setting within the AONB.

(Vll) Development supports and enhances leisure, cultural and sporting activities within 
the Parish.

(Vlll) Parking and pedestrian, cycle and equestrian routes are improved to promote 
safety and community well-being for access to local services and leisure.

Reasoned Justification

3.2.2 As is the case for the vision, the objectives for the Wray with Botton Neighbourhood
Plan need to reflect and supplement national policy, the objectives of the Forest of 
Bowland AONB Management Plan, the Local Plan, national policy and the evidence 
gathered from consultation with the local community. The objectives expand on the vision, 
giving it substance and showing how it will be achieved. In turn, the objectives lead on to 
the specific policies which will deliver them.

3.2.3 Objectives (l) and (ll) establish the overall strategy putting the emphasis on 
development which is compatible with the aims and objectives of the Forest of Bowland 
AONB and ensuring that the main settlement of Wray maintains its local distinctiveness.

3.2.4 Objectives (lll) and (lV) seek to deliver the housing needs of the area in a 
sustainable way making best use of previously developed land and existing buildings in 
the same way that has helped the village grow in the past in a way which maintains the 
strong sense of place and community cohesion.

3.2.5 Objective (V) seeks to support a strong rural economy seeking innovation and 
encouraging diversification to meet changing times.

3.2.6 Objective (Vl) recognises the adverse impacts that can occur where development 
fails to take account of its surroundings and sets a high value on the natural assets which 
support the designation of the Forest of Bowland AONB.

3.2.7 Objective (Vll) refers to the leisure,cultural and sporting activities of the area. These 
are many and varied from athletics to shooting, the scarecrow festival, community-led 
societies, active places of worship and places to relax and enjoy social company. They 
take place in a wide variety of community assets and places. The objective aims to support
their retention and enhancement wherever possible.

3.2.8 Whilst recognising that significant improvement of public transport or highway 
infrastructure is unlikely, nevertheless there is the potential to encourage small scale 
improvements  particularly to reduce the conflict between non-motorised users and 
vehicles within the village of Wray and to improve the footpath and cycleway network to 
promote safety and community well-being. Objective (Vlll) seeks to support this.  

 

Submission Version_4   April 2018

26

Page 33



Section 4  POLICIES AND GUIDANCE

4.1 Policy Development

4.1 The Neighbourhood Plan Group developed policies by looking at each of the 
identified objectives in turn and considering the extent to which additional planning 
policies, allocations and guidance over and above those already in the existing Lancaster 
City Development Plan, the emerging Local Plan and the Forest of Bowland Management 
Plan, could help achieve them. It then drafted policies accordingly, consulting with 
Lancaster City Council's planning officers to ensure that the wording would be as effective 
as possible. 

4.2 List of Policies 

Policy N Policy Name
Referenc
e

OVERALL STRATEGY

OS1 DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY
OS2 LANDSCAPE

BUILT ENVIRONMENT
BE1 DESIGN
BE2 LOCAL DESIGN PANELS

HOUSING
H1 HOUSING DEVELOPMENT
H2 HOUSING PROVISION

RURAL ECONOMY
RE1 ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

NATURAL ENVIRONMENT
NE1 CONSERVATION AND ENHANCEMENT OF THE NATURAL 

ENVIRONMENT
NE2 LOCAL GREEN SPACE 
NE3 HISTORIC ENVIRONMENT

COMMUNITY
COM1 COMMUNITY ASSETS AND LOCAL SERVICES

TRANSPORT AND INFRASTRUCTURE
TRA1 INFRASTRUCTURE FOR NEW DEVELOPMENT

Submission Version_4   April 2018

27

Page 34



4.3 Overall Strategy

4.3.1 A key reason for preparing the the Neighbourhood Plan is to place development 
more clearly in the context of the primary purpose of the Forest of Bowland AONB - to 
conserve and enhance the natural beauty of the area - and to put this purpose at the heart 
of planning within the plan area.  The first two policies aim to establish this purpose at the 
heart of the overall approach.

Policy OS1: Development Strategy

A landscape capacity-led approach to development will be taken in the Neighbourhood 
Plan area. Great weight will be given to the principle of conserving landscape and natural
beauty, wildlife and cultural heritage in the AONB.

All development should be sustainable, consistent with the primary purpose of AONB 
designation28 and support the Special Qualities of the AONB as set out in the AONB 
Management Plan. Development that harms this purpose or which would have an 
adverse impact on an international, national or locally designated site will not be 
permitted. 

Development within the village of Wray29

To promote a vibrant local community and support services, small scale growth and 
investment will be supported within the village of Wray where it closely reflects identified 
local needs within the Parish and conserves and enhances the local landscape and 
settlement character. 

Development on the edge of and outside the village of Wray

Development proposals on the edge of and outside the village will be treated as 
exceptions and will be permitted only where they demonstrate that:

(l) there would be no adverse impact on settlement or landscape character, and that

(ll) there is an essential need for a rural location: or

(lll) it will help to sustain an existing business, including farm diversification schemes; or

28 As set out in the National Parks and Access to the Countryside Act 1949; confirmed by Section 82 of the 
Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000:

● The primary purpose of the designation is to conserve and enhance natural beauty
● In pursuing the primary purpose of the designation, account should be taken of the needs of 

agriculture, forestry and other rural industries and of the economic and social needs of local 
communities. Particular regards should be paid to promoting sustainable forms of social and 
economic development that in themselves conserve and enhance the environment.

● Recreation is not an objective of the designation but the demand for recreation should be met insofar
as this is consistent with the conservation of natural beauty and the needs of agriculture, forestry and
other uses.

29 For the purposes of this Plan the village of Wray is defined by existing development accessed from Main 
Street, Wennington Road, Hornby Road and Millhouses Road to the village boundary signs (not Parish 
boundary), The Gars and Gars End, Lane Head and Kiln Lane to the edge of development, Duck Street, 
Home Farm Close, The Orchard, School Lane to the village boundary sign, Helks Brow from its junction with 
Main Street for a distance of about 50m and Harterbeck from its junction with Main Street as far as Hunts 
Gill. Agricultural land adjacent to these streets is excluded unless otherwise identified as an Allocated or 
Suitable Site for housing in this Neighbourhood Plan.

Submission Version_4   April 2018

28

Page 35



(lV)  it contributes to the meeting of a proven and essential housing need in that location;
or

(V) it represents a sensitive and appropriate reuse, redevelopment or extension of an 
existing building.

Major Development 

Proposals for major development will not be permitted in the AONB, unless the proposal 
can be demonstrated to be in the public interest and exceptional circumstances exist.

Whether a proposed development constitutes major development will be a matter for the 
relevant decision taker, taking into account the individual characteristics and 
circumstances of the proposal and the local context. In determining whether a proposed 
development constitutes major development Lancaster City Council will consider 
whether by reason of its scale, character or nature, the proposal has the potential to 
have a significant adverse impact on the natural beauty of the AONB.

In determining whether exceptional circumstances exist Lancaster City Council will 
consider: 

(VI) the need for the development, including any national considerations, and the impact 
of permitting or refusing it upon the local economy; and 

(Vl) the cost of, and scope for, developing outside the designated area, or meeting the

need for it in some other way; and 

(X) any detrimental effect on the environment, the landscape and recreational

opportunities, and the extent to which that could be moderated. 

The intimate nature of the AONB landscape means that even some smaller scale 
proposals may be considered to be major development depending on the local context.

Brownfield Land 

The categorisation of a site as brownfield does not negate or outweigh the need for the 
full and careful consideration of the impacts of a development on the AONB against the 
full range of policy requirements.

A landscape-capacity led approach

4.3.2 The primary purpose of the AONB designation is to conserve and enhance the 
landscape and natural beauty of the area. It is therefore entirely appropriate that the 
Development Strategy identifies a landscape-capacity led and criteria-based approach to 
development consistent with this primary purpose and the Forest of Bowland AONB’s 
Special Qualities. A strategy that did not put the conservation and enhancement of the 
landscape central to the approach to development would compromise the primary purpose
and undermine the national designation and the value of the AONB in the national interest.
Where a development proposal would create conflict between the primary purpose of the 
AONB and other uses of the AONB, greater weight will be attached to the purpose of 
conserving and enhancing the landscape and natural beauty of the AONB.

4.3.3 Within the Neighbourhood Plan area, the landscape-capacity led approach will 
enable the village of Wray to meet its local development needs and those of the wider 
Parish while continuing to conserve the natural beauty, character and Special Qualities of 
the AONB. The Neighbourhood Plan recognises the need for new development, especially

Submission Version_4   April 2018

29

Page 36



housing, to maintain a thriving local community. It allocates sufficient land for housing to 
meet its local needs and sets out policies to manage applications that may come forward 
on unallocated sites to ensure that development contributes to the social, economic and 
environmental sustainability of the Neighbourhood Plan Area.

Objectively Assessed Needs 

4.3.4 An important part of Lancaster City Council’s District-wide plan preparation is the 
identification of objectively assessed housing needs (OAN). This includes needs for 
affordable housing, but also any needs for other housing types, including open market 
housing. When the Local Plan is submitted for examination, the Government Inspector will 
consider very closely whether and how it is meeting evidenced needs. Although Lancaster 
City Council District is refining its identified level of need, the figure represents the position 
across the whole of the District. It is difficult to apportion a figure specific to either the area 
of the AONB within Lancaster City or the Parish of Wray with Botton. OAN calculations are
district-wide assessments and there are difficulties in calculating an OAN for smaller areas
such as individual parishes.

4.3.5 Given the difficulties in apportioning the OAN, and the emphasis on the capacity of 
the landscape to accommodate development within the AONB, Lancaster City and South 
Lakeland District Councils have concluded, taking advice from relevant Counsel and 
organisations such as the Planning Advisory Service, that it is not necessary to identify a 
specific housing requirement for the Arnside and Silverdale AONB. In the AONB, the 
priority should be to meet identified affordable and other local housing needs within the 
capacity of the landscape. Similarly this same reasoning can be applied to development 
within the Forest of Bowland AONB and has been adopted for the purpose of this 
Neighbourhood Plan.

4.3.6 A Housing Needs Survey30 was carried out as part of the preparation of this 
Neighbourhood Plan. All households were given the opportunity to take part and an 
excellent  58.6% return was achieved. The survey found that the main affordable need for 
the 5 year period to 2020 is for 1 or 2 bed houses to buy at discounted prices (4 units) 
followed by 3+ bed houses to buy at discounted prices (2 units) and Sheltered Housing (1 
unit for rent and 1 unit to buy at a discounted price) and 1 requirement for a 3+ bed house 
to rent. Other needs identified could be met on the open market. Whilst it will be necessary
to review and revise this information periodically over the course of the 15 year plan 
period, it was concluded that there was no pressing demand within the parish for 
significant numbers of new dwellings. The implementation of existing planning permissions
(10 dwellings) and the opportunities for further infill in the village of Wray over the plan 
period would be likely to provide sufficient dwellings to meet local need and make a 
contribution towards growth and needs identified in the Lancaster City District as a whole.

4.3.7 In line with the landscape-capacity led approach, no target has been set for the 
amount of development to be achieved as this would require a particular quantum of 
development to be delivered regardless of its impacts upon the protected landscape. 
Instead, the Development Strategy ensures that only development that can be 
accommodated without harm to the AONB’s primary purpose will be permitted, whilst 
maintaining a positive approach, recognising that appropriately located and designed 
development can contribute to conserving and enhancing the landscape and settlement 
character, including where opportunities for regeneration and redevelopment can be 
delivered.

30 See Appendix 2: Housing Needs Survey Report 2015

Submission Version_4   April 2018

30

Page 37



Major Development

4.3.8 National planning policy does not allow major new development in Areas of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty except in exceptional circumstances because of the likely 
harm it would cause to the nation’s long-term interest of conserving these places. 
Proposals are subject to the most rigorous examination and have to demonstrate that they 
are genuinely in the nation’s interest if they are to proceed.

4.3.9 Whether a proposed development constitutes major development will be a matter 
for the relevant decision taker. Major development in the Neighbourhood Plan Area is 
defined as development that has the potential to have a serious adverse impact on the 
landscape, wildlife, cultural heritage or Special Qualities of the AONB because of its scale, 
form, character or nature. Examples may include quarrying, medium and large scale 
housing development, commercial development that is out of keeping with the landscape, 
caravan sites, new roads, tall vertical structures and high voltage overhead power lines. 
The intimate nature of the AONB landscape means that even smaller-scale development 
proposals may be considered to be ‘major’ depending on the context. Development may 
have the potential to have a significant impact on the qualities of an AONB whether it is 
located inside or adjacent to its boundary.

4.3.10 The majority of development proposals in the AONB are modest in scale. However, 
it is important that where proposals for larger developments are put forward, they are 
properly and fully considered in line with national policy and in the context of the AONB 
designation. The policy sets out the approach to be taken to major development within the 
AONB. It sets clear criteria that reflect national policy to enable judgements to be made as 
to what constitutes major development on a case-by-case basis, taking into account a 
range of factors. This approach is in line with previous judgements on the assessment of 
major development within AONBs.

Brownfield Land

4.3.11 The policy sets out the approach to be taken to the re-development of brownfield 
land within the Neighbourhood Plan Area. The Development Strategy does not set a 
brownfield target on the basis that brownfield opportunities are currently limited within the 
the plan area and that brownfield sites are not automatically suitable for development and 
if developed may harm the AONB’s Special Qualities.

4.3.12 The redevelopment of a brownfield site may offer opportunities to enhance the 
AONB, and may often be preferable in other ways to the development of greenfield sites. 
However, brownfield status is one factor to be taken into account amongst many, including 
in the context of making judgements about whether a proposal constitutes major 
development, and does not provide justification to ignore or reduce the weight given to 
policy requirements or factors such as the landscape impacts of the specific proposals or 
the biodiversity value of the brownfield site.

Policy OS2 - Landscape

Development proposals will be required to demonstrate how they conserve and enhance
the landscape and natural beauty of the area. Proposals will not be permitted where they
would have an adverse effect upon the landscape character or visual amenity of the
AONB or its setting.

Development proposals will be supported where they:

(I) take into account the AONB Landscape Character Assessment, and other relevant 
Submission Version_4   April 2018

31

Page 38



evidence including but not limited to the Wray Conservation Area Appraisal, and the 
Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Plan Landscape Appraisal; and 

(II) reflect the rural nature, historic character and local distinctiveness of the area 
including settlement character and separation, local vernacular traditions and building 
materials and native vegetation/planting; and 

(Ill) respect visual amenity, views (including into and out from the AONB), tranquility, dark
skies, and the sense of space and place, avoiding the introduction of intrusive elements, 
or compromise to the skyline or settlement separation; and 

(lV) take full account of the cumulative and incremental impacts of development having 
regard to the effects of existing developments (including unintended impacts and 
impacts of development that has taken place as a result of Permitted Development 
Rights, licensing or certification) and the likely further impacts of the proposal in hand; 
and 

(V) include a landscape assessment; the level of detail of which should be proportionate 
to the scale of the proposal and the level of impact of the proposed development on the 
landscape. For larger or otherwise more sensitive sites or schemes, this will require a 
Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA) undertaken by a qualified professional 
to Landscape Institute standards, showing how impacts may be minimised or mitigated.

4.3.13 The Forest of Bowland AONB benefits from the highest status of protection in 
relation to landscape and scenic beauty and great weight will be given to conserving the 
landscape in considering development proposals. The southern area of the 
Neighbourhood Plan Area includes the Bowland Fells Special Protection Area (SPA), an 
internationally designated site. Any development proposals which could impact on this site 
will be subject to the requirements of Policy DM27: The Protection and Enhancement of 
Biodiversity in the Local Plan for Lancaster District 2011-2031 Development management 
DPD or its successor policy in the emerging Local Plan.

4.3.14 The Forest of Bowland was designated as an AONB in recognition of its landscape 
attributes characterised by the grandeur of the upland core; the steep escarpment of the 
Moorland Hills; the undulating lowlands; the visual contrasts between each element of the 
overall landscape; the serenity and tranquility of the area; the distinctive pattern of 
settlements; the wildlife; and the landscape’s historic and cultural associations. Although it 
forms only a portion of the overall AONB, Wray with Botton Parish includes many of these 
characteristics. The Wray-with Botton Neighbourhood Plan Landscape Appraisal includes 
a detailed analysis of setting of the village and identifies eight local character areas around
the village of Wray which help to create a picture of the distinctive places within the 
existing settlement and how they relate to the adjacent land. This appraisal forms the basis
of individual site assessment to determine the sensitivity of each area and its capacity to 
accommodate housing growth in the context of the village and its setting. 

4.3.15 ‘Natural Beauty’ is not just an aesthetic concept, and ‘landscape’ means more than 
just scenery. The landscape and natural beauty of AONBs is partly due to nature, and is 
partly the product of many centuries of human modification. Landscape encompasses 
everything – ‘natural’ and human – that makes an area distinctive: geology, climate, soils, 
plants, animals, communities, archaeology, buildings, the people who live in it (past and 
present) and the perceptions of those who visit it.

Submission Version_4   April 2018

32

Page 39



4.3.16 The character of the landscape in the Neighbourhood Plan area is a highly valued 
asset. The wooded valleys and field patterns stretching out to open moorland are defining 
features. It is the unique combination of elements and features (characteristics) in this area
that makes the landscape so distinctive and resulting in a strong sense of place.The AONB
is part of the cultural and natural heritage of the nation and if these characteristics are 
damaged, for example by insensitive development, then that will compromise the primary 
purpose of the AONB and the enjoyment of the area by the public.

4.3.17 In order to best serve the primary purpose of AONB designation, new development 
must relate to the established character of the area (as described in the Landscape 
Character Assessment and the Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Plan Landscape 
Appraisal) in which it is to be located. It must integrate with its setting and be in keeping 
with neighbouring buildings and the landscape by appropriate siting, nature, scale, 
proportion, massing, design, materials and landscaping. It must respect the prevailing 
proportion of buildings to gardens and green space.

4.3.18 New development can make a positive contribution to the landscape but can also 
harm it in a number of ways. For example, new features that are uncharacteristic of the 
landscape may be introduced that detract from the local vernacular building style, intrude 
into skylines or obstruct or erode important views. Important landscape features such as 
hedges, drystone walls and mature trees may be damaged or removed. Over time, 
development can lead to the gradual erosion of local distinctiveness and in a protected 
landscape of such unique character, this sort of cumulative loss and harm must be avoided
in order to serve the primary purpose of AONB designation.

4.3.19 The land at the edge of settlements often forms part of the historic setting of the 
settlement and can include areas which have cultural importance. Public rights of way can 
often provide access to these areas and connections to the open landscape of the AONB 
beyond. They provide key opportunities for green infrastructure in addition to shaping and 
maintaining settlement character.

4.3.20 Development has the potential to introduce intrusive and jarring elements into the 
landscape resulting in adverse impacts on views and visual amenity. How a site, feature, 
building or view is seen, fitting in with its surroundings, and enjoyed in that context is very 
important within the AONB. This is a highly valued aspect of the AONB by local residents 
and is the reason why many visitors come to the AONB. Development proposals within the
AONB or affecting its setting will have to demonstrate clearly that they are appropriate to 
the landscape character type and designation, taking into account the wealth of landscape 
character evidence and guidance available. Lancaster City Council may require the 
submission of a Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA) undertaken to 
recognised Landscape Institute standards, and will also expect proposals to have regard 
to the content of the AONB Management Plan.

4.3.21 A sense of tranquillity is a special quality of the AONB but is gradually being eroded 
by increases in noise, activity, traffic and disturbance. The scale and type of new 
development and level of activity along with journeys to and from a site will affect 
tranquillity and will be a factor in determining whether or not a proposed development can 
proceed.

4.3.22 All light pollution, however small, contributes to the general erosion of darkness in 
the AONB. The spilling of light beyond a site boundary and into the surrounding 
countryside can be disturbing to wildlife and have an intrusive visual impact. Light pollution
contributes generally to the urbanisation of the rural landscape and the loss of darkness in 
our night skies and should be minimised in any new development.

4.3.23 There are many opportunities to conserve and enhance the special and distinctive 
character of the AONB landscapes by managing development and supporting the 

Submission Version_4   April 2018

33

Page 40



conservation of distinctive landscape features such as in-field trees, hedgerows, dry stone 
walls, and ponds. Proposals will be supported where they remove elements that adversely 
affect the landscape, such as overhead cables.

Submission Version_4   April 2018

34

Page 41



4.4 BUILT ENVIRONMENT

4.4.1 The character of the village of Wray is strongly linked to the surrounding landscape.
Settlement character is not only shaped by the landscape through use of local materials 
and topography but also contributes to the landscape through influences of style, 
construction methods, form, scale, layout and pattern. In order to serve the purpose of 
both the AONB designation and the Wray Conservation Area, it is crucial to continue this 
mutual relationship, ensuring that the design of new development contributes fully to 
conserving and enhancing the landscape and settlement character.

Policy BE1 – Design

Within the built environment of the Neighbourhood Plan Area, high standards of design
and  construction  will  be  required  to  conserve  or  enhance  the  layout  of  the  built
environment,  distinctive  settlement  character  and  historic,  cultural  and  architectural
features.

In addition to the design requirements set out in the relevant District policies, 
development proposals should:

(I) conserve and enhance the character of the local built environment including buildings,
open spaces, trees, distinctive settlement character and other important features that 
contribute to visual, historical or architectural character; and 

(II) reinforce the distinctive qualities of places through the consideration of uses, scale, 
height, solid form, massing, proportions, alignment, design detailing, lighting, materials, 
colours, and finishes; and 

(III) respect the integrity of the historic layout of the village of Wray including boundary 
and street elements; and 

(IV) have particular regard to local vernacular, building to plot/green space ratios and to 
the quality, integrity, character and settings of natural, built and historic features; and 

(V) provide well designed landscape works that retain distinctive trees and include new 
structural planting that contributes to the character and amenity value of the area; and

(VI) ensure that boundary treatments and the design of entranceways reflect local 
character and context including through retention (or appropriate replacement where 
necessary) of existing features of value such as hedgerows, trees and traditional stone 
walls and through the careful consideration of materials and heights for gates and 
fencing and of species for planting.

4.4.2 The distinctive settlement character of the village of Wray lying within the AONB 
makes an important contribution to its overall character. The overall ambience is greatly 
dependent on the quality and distinctiveness of the built environment. The design, 
construction, materials and detailing of individual buildings, the form, layout and pattern of 
the village and other hamlets and the settings of many of the buildings are key elements of
settlement character. The use of local stone underpins the natural beauty of the 
Neighbourhood Plan area and unifies its character, in turn with other settlements in the 
Forest of Bowland AONB making a major contribution to its special character.

4.4.3 Certain aspects of settlement character derive from their history, such as village 
layouts and the shapes of individual plots. Wray village is essentially a ‘one deep’ layout 
based on the ‘T’ shape formed by Hornby/Wennington Road running east/west and Main 
Street running north-south. This linear pattern is typically high density but affords many 

Submission Version_4   April 2018

35

Page 42



properties views towards the surrounding landscape. Nevertheless due to the topography, 
the village is barely seen from a distance, nestling in the steeply wooded valleys of the 
rivers Roeburn and Hindburn. New development should respect and be in keeping with 
historic settlement character.

4.4.4 Open green spaces within settlements are an important aspect of settlement 
character. They can contribute to the setting and appreciation of important buildings and 
have historical significance in themselves, either as part of historic settlement pattern and 
form or as an archaeological resource. They can also allow public views in to or out from 
within the settlement and can provide a recreational resource for the local community. 
Open spaces add distinctiveness to the character and interest of settlements and the 
quality of life of their inhabitants and are a key part of the rural character of Wray village.

4.4.5 Local distinctiveness and visual harmony between buildings and the local 
topography is important within the Neighbourhood Plan Area as it is in the Forest of 
Bowland AONB as a whole. This is very important in the visual appeal of the landscape 
and built environment and is valued by the public – both residents and visitors to the 
AONB.

4.4.6 Gradual erosion of local distinctiveness and visual harmony can occur unless there 
is careful control of design and materials. Use of local and appropriate materials to ensure 
new development is in keeping with the local surroundings is essential. There are strong 
vernacular traditions in the area including the design, materials, construction and detailing 
of individual buildings and these should be retained and reflected in new development. 
The risk of a gradual erosion of settlement character needs to be carefully considered in 
any assessment of development proposals.

4.4.7 The grouping of buildings, use of local building materials, road and footway 
surfaces, signs and lighting apparatus, all affect the character and quality of the street 
scene.

4.4.8 To sustain character and quality, development should reflect traditional materials, 
styles and proportions. For proposals affecting the street scene, the following factors are 
important:

(I) retaining traditional surfaces and layouts, or reintroducing them; 

(II) ensuring that the scale, texture, colour and patterns of new materials are sympathetic 
to the area’s character and appearance; 

(III) retaining or reinstating street furniture of historical or architectural interest or of local 
distinctiveness; 

(IV) ensuring that road signs and markings are of appropriate appearance and quality, with
no unnecessary duplication, and fixed, where possible and appropriate, to buildings or 
existing street furniture;

(V) using lighting equipment that reflects established local styles, and which is not 
excessive or unsympathetic in intensity and colour.

In order to ensure that settlement character is conserved and enhanced, it is important to  
understand the specific character of the village of Wray. This is set out very clearly in the 
Wray Conservation Area Appraisal and the Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Plan 
Landscape Appraisal Final Report to which reference should be made in considering all 
planning applications.

POLICY BE2: Local Design Panels
 
Where Local Design Panels are made use of at the pre-application stage as required 

Submission Version_4   April 2018

36

Page 43



under certain circumstances by Local Plan31 Policy DM 35: Key Design Principles or its 
successor policy in the emerging Local Plan, these Panels should include Members of 
Wray Parish Council and/or their representatives as well as representatives appointed 
by the Forest of Bowland AONB Joint Advisory Committee.

4.4.9 The Parish Council is, under the Localism Act, a statutory planning body and has 
taken the opportunity offered to it under the Act to produce this Neighbourhood 
Development Plan. It has also been a consultee on planning applications for many years. 
As such the Parish and members of the Neighbourhood Planning Group along with other 
volunteers have not only shown considerable concern about the area but have become 
familiar with planning policy and procedures which they have combined with their intimate 
knowledge of the Parish to gain a clear appreciation of how the Parish in general and the 
village of Wray in particular has been or could be affected by planning policy and 
decisions. Furthermore, while many visitors and thereby the economy of the AONB would 
be affected by adverse development in the Parish, it is the people of Wray who would be 
most affected by such decisions. 

4.4.10 The Parish of Wray with Botton have identified in this plan the role of Wray as being
one that contributes to the AONB and the wider economy through its heritage and the 
quality of its unique townscape and landscape and have identified themselves as having a 
role (along with others such as landowners, AONB, Council and others) as custodians of 
the Parish’s townscape and landscape. As such, if, in those circumstances outlined in 
Policy DM35, a Local Design Panel is to be used, then that Panel should have 
representation from the Parish and, where they feel technical help might be appropriate, 
their representatives.

31 A Local Plan for Lancaster District 2011-2031: Development Management DPD Adopted December 2014

Submission Version_4   April 2018

37

Page 44



4.5 HOUSING

Policy H1: Housing Development

Proposals for meeting housing needs through the conversion or sub-division of existing 
buildings, or on previously developed land and on allocated sites within the village of 
Wray listed below that have been identified through the Site Assessment process will be 
supported where they are of a scale, siting and design that is compatible with the area 
as outlined in Policy BE1 of this Plan.

New housing development will be supported where the maximum possible affordable 
homes are delivered and where the number, size, types and tenures of all homes 
provided demonstrably reflects and meets identified local needs in accordance with 
current housing needs evidence at the time of application. 

Proposals will be expected to demonstrate that densities make best and efficient use of 
land and reflect the settlement character. The delivery of affordable housing should be 
phased in line with demand to ensure that the market is not over-supplied at any one 
time.

Development which would have an adverse impact on an international, national or 
locally designated site will not be permitted.32

Allocated Sites 

Site 
Reference

Name Area Estimated 
Dwellings

WR3 Appletree Barn & Paddock 0.34 ha 533

WR5 Hoskins Farm 0.54 ha 15
WR6 Adj 45 Wennington Road 0.03 ha 134

WR9 Old Chapel Field 0.08 ha 2
WR10 New Inn n/a 435

WR11 New Inn Car Park 0.03 ha 1

4.5.1 The background to our approach is based on what has worked best in practice in 
the past - incremental growth with no large scale development other than Hoskins Farm. 
The local housing needs survey indicated  a current maximum requirement for up to 9 
affordable homes to buy or rent. It is recognised that the level and mix of local housing 
need will need to be regularly reviewed and updated, and also that some of the current 

32 Proposals are subject to the requirements of Local Plan Policy DM27 or its equivalent successor policy in
the emerging Local Plan

33 Planning permission already granted Refs 14/01134/FUL & 15/00087/OUT

34 Planning permission already granted Ref 15/01443/FUL

35 Planning permission already granted Ref 14/01088/CU (number includes an existing disused cottage)

Submission Version_4   April 2018

38

Page 45



need may change and/or resolve itself (for example if new households are formed or if 
people leave the Parish to take up work opportunities elsewhere).This policy is also driven 
by the need to avoid encroachment on the surrounding countryside; to conserve the 
setting of the village in the landscape; to minimise harmful visual impact of development 
on the Forest of Bowland AONB and the Wray Conservation Area; and, to conserve 
important views into and out of the Wray Conservation area.  Wray Parish Council is 
mindful of overall housing need identified at District level but this must be balanced against
the potential harm to the Forest of Bowland AONB and notes that a similar landscape-
capacity led approach has been proposed in the Publication versions of the emerging 
Strategic Policies and Land Allocations DPD and the Arnside & Silverdale AONB DPD. The
latest District housing needs study is not broken down to parish level, and with three times 
the response rate due not least to our ability to deliver and collect surveys in person, the 
Parish Council is confident that its local surveys do and will continue to supply the fine-
grained level on need that is required to inform development decisions in a sensitive 
AONB area.

4.5.2 The historic rate has averaged about 1 to 2 properties each year since the 1940s. A 
similar approach would result in 15 to 30 new homes over the plan period of which 4 at the
New Inn, 5 at Appletree Barn and 1 adjacent to 45 Wennington Road have planning 
consent. A new house has been completed recently behind The Gars which continues this 
historic trend. 

4.5.3 The most significant site identified to come forward in the plan period will be 
Hoskins Farm where the owner has indicated36 that the site could come forward for 
development within 5 to 10 years time. Being in the heart of the village, a well designed 
scheme would be expected to conserve and enhance the Wray Conservation Area and the
listed buildings both on the site and nearby. Development of the site also has the potential 
to release land to provide a limited amount of off-street parking for community use. 

4.5.4 It may be necessary to offset the loss of the agricultural buildings in the settlement 
area to some extent with agricultural related development outside the settlement area in 
order to maintain the agricultural function of the surrounding fields in which case such 
development should be of an acceptable design and scale. Such proposals would need to 
meet the definition of purpose (l)37 of Local Plan Policy DM7: Economic Development in 
Rural Areas or its successor policy in the emerging Local Plan and that the development 
has regard to Policies BE1 and BE2 of this Plan and to the provisions in paragraph 11538 of
the NPPF.

4.5.5  The City Council commissioned a report39 to examine the potential for introducing 
the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) which concluded that CIL could be levied on small

36 Letter to Lancaster City Council from John & Pat Staveley 3 September 2016 and email 26 November 
2018 in response to Pre-submission consultation

37 Essential operations for agriculture, horticulture, equine related activities, allocated mineral extraction or 
waste management facilities and essential infrastructure where there is a proven and justified need.

38 Great weight should be given to conserving landscape and scenic beauty in National Parks, the Broads 
and Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty, which have the highest status of protection in relation to landscape
and scenic beauty. The conservation of wildlife and cultural heritage are important considerations in all these 
areas and should be given great weight in National Parks and the Broads.

39 Community Infrastructure Levy-Economic Viability Assessment GVA Sept 2012

Submission Version_4   April 2018

39

Page 46



and medium sized developments on both brown and greenfield sites in high value areas of
the district. Wray, in common with most areas of the Lune Valley falls within the higher 
value area and it is therefore a reasonable assumption to make that new housing would in 
principle be economically viable on all the Allocated Sites including Hoskins Farm and that 
opportunities to pursue issues such as affordable housing can be achieved. This view was 
confirmed by a Lancaster City Council Planning Officer40 during the preparation of this 
plan.  

4.5.6 A further 3 sites have been identified which are considered suitable for housing and 
are listed in the table below. However the landowners do not have a positive intention to 
bring these sites forward in the present financial climate. They are therefore not available 
and cannot be allocated.  Nevertheless, they demonstrate the availability of land for small 
developments which would contribute to incremental growth throughout the plan period.

Suitable Sites with the potential to come forward within the Plan period

Site 
Reference

Name Area Estimated 
Dwellings

WR4 Wood House Paddock 0.21 ha 6
WR12 Enclosure West of Bridge 

House Farm
0.07ha 2

WR14 Land adjacent School Lane 0.19 ha 4

4.5.7 The overall increase in the number of homes in and around the village of Wray 
would therefore range between 28 and 40 over the plan period representing an increase of
between about 13% and 18% of the 222 households identified in the 2011 census.  This 
does not include windfall sites or potential proposals centred on the farmsteads and 
agricultural buildings spread over the remainder of the Parish.  These will be considered 
on a case by case basis, and expected to meet the policies and achieve the objectives set 
out in this Neighbourhood Plan. Subject to detailed design considerations and all other 
relevant planning policies, the Parish considers that this potential increase can be 
satisfactorily accommodated within a landscape capacity approach to development within 
the Forest of Bowland AONB. 

POLICY H2: Housing Provision

Within the Neighbourhood Plan area, subject to satisfying other relevant policy 
requirements and in order to ensure that new development in the AONB meets local 
needs, proposals for new housing development will be supported where they deliver at 
least 50% affordable housing. Only where this is demonstrably unachievable through 
available mechanisms will a lower percentage be acceptable.

New housing development will be supported where the maximum possible affordable 
homes are delivered and where the number, size, types and tenures of all homes 
provided demonstrably reflects and meets identified local needs in accordance with 
current housing needs evidence at the time of the application.

Priority will be given to the delivery of affordable housing and maximising the potential 
for meeting identified local needs and local affordable needs from appropriate individual 

40 Email dated 16 May 2017 from Paul Hatch (LCC) to Robert Partington (NPG)

Submission Version_4   April 2018

40

Page 47



development opportunities. Proposals will be expected to demonstrate that densities 
make best and efficient use of land and reflect local settlement character.

Affordable housing needs are forecast to apply over a period of time and not all the 
identified need is required straight away. The delivery of affordable housing should be 
phased in line with demand to ensure that the market is not over-supplied at any time. 
This can be done by close working with and between housing developers, landowners 
and appropriate Registered Providers of affordable housing.

Subject to meeting other policy requirements, proposals will be supported that:

(I) meet housing needs through the conversion or sub-division of existing buildings or 
through the redevelopment of previously developed land; or 

(II) meet the needs of specific societal groups or restrict occupancy to sole/main 
residence or to those with a local connection.

    
4.5.8 A requirement for 50% of new homes to be affordable is justified because the 
Neighbourhood Plan Designated area lies wholly within the AONB, a sensitive landscape 
protected at a national level. It is inappropriate to use those sites that are suitable for 
development to deliver development that does not meet local affordable or other local 
needs. Doing so would mean that those needs would remain unmet and more sensitive 
sites would have to be developed in order to meet the needs, causing harm and 
compromising the primary purpose of the AONB designation.

4.5.9 Existing policies and legal conditions mean that all affordable housing is already 
restricted to those with a local connection in perpetuity. There is no evidence to suggest 
that there is a high proportion of second homes and holiday lets that would justify 
additional occupancy restrictions where this type of approach may also increase viability 
concerns. Therefore this plan does not set out any proposal to restrict the occupancy of 
new properties other than the existing restrictions placed on affordable housing. However, 
the policy does identify that where proposals offer occupancy controls that help to support 
the meeting of local needs, this will be looked upon favourably as part of the overall 
consideration of the scheme.

4.5.10 This policy is supported by the City Council’s Publication version of the emerging 
Local Plan: Review of the Development Management DPD (February 2018), Policy DM6  
Housing Provision in the Forest of Bowland AONB.

Submission Version_4   April 2018

41

Page 48



4.5.11 The policy will be used to address potential future applications on non-allocated 
sites.4.6 RURAL ECONOMY

RE1: Economic Development

Development proposals of an appropriate scale and nature will be supported where they 
bring economic and community benefits to the Neighbourhood Plan area within the 
Forest of Bowland AONB, including economic diversification, for the following purposes:

(I) essential operations for agriculture, horticulture, allocated mineral extraction or waste 
management and essential infrastructure where there is a proven and justified need; 

(II) appropriate small-scale new or expanded outdoor sport, leisure and tourism facilities;

(III) the conservation or enhancement of sites of heritage, biodiversity or geodiversity 
value; 

(IV) house extensions or extensions to outbuildings that are ancillary to the existing 
dwelling and are sympathetic to the character of the original building and its setting; 

(V) sensitive conversions and alternative uses for farm buildings that can be shown to be
no longer required for agriculture but that enable farm diversification where they:

 - sustain, complement and are ancillary to the core farm business;

 - do not compromise the working of the farm, or create additional requirements for new 
agricultural buildings; 

- provide satisfactory access, servicing and parking arrangements; 

(VI) micro-growth points for business development,

(VII) shared (co-location) and flexible service facility uses of buildings in the village of 
Wray where this will help to ensure the continued operation of key services or 
community assets.

Re-use in support of tourism and the visitor economy will be considered an appropriate 
use as required by criterion (lll)41 of Local Plan Policy DM9 or its successor policy in the 
emerging Local Plan.

Development which would have an adverse impact on an international, national or 
locally designated site will not be permitted.42

Proposals which lead to the loss of land in agricultural use lying below the 50m AOD 
contour will only be supported where the land has been identified through the rigorous 
site assessment process and allocated for development in this Plan for the proposed use
and the proposal complies with other policies in the adopted Local Plan.

4.6.1 Local Plan Policy DM9: Diversification of the Rural Economy supports “proposals in 
rural areas which seek to diversify the rural economy” where there are no “adverse 
impacts on the environment” and will “encourage the re-use, adaptation or conversion of 
existing rural buildings which assist in the diversification and economic stability of an 
agricultural holding where”,  amongst other criteria,  “it can be demonstrated by the 

41 “The proposed use of the building is appropriate in a rural location, that the building(s) are of a 
substantial and permanent construction, structurally sound and capable of conversion without major 
alterations or adaption and where important features can be retained.”

42 Proposals are subject to the requirements of Local Plan Policy DM27 or its equivalent successor policy in
the emerging Local Plan.

Submission Version_4   April 2018

42

Page 49



applicant that the buildings which are part of the proposal can no longer be used for 
ongoing agricultural uses.”

4.6.2 Neighbourhood Plan Policy RE1 aims to supplement Policy DM9 by specifically 
including tourism to support the visitor economy in the area. The summary of findings in 
the Wray with Botton Landscape Appraisal Final Report in respect of the special qualities 
to conserve and enhance and the changes to avoid provides important advice on 
preserving and enhancing the character of the surroundings.

4.6.3 The southern area of the Neighbourhood Plan Area includes the Bowland Fells 
Special Protection Area (SPA), an internationally designated site. Any development 
proposals which could impact on this site will be subject to the requirements of Policy 
DM27: The Protection and Enhancement of Biodiversity in the Local Plan for Lancaster 
District 2011-2031 Development management DPD or its successor policy in the emerging
Local Plan.

4.6.4 As evidenced by the Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Plan Landscape Appraisal, 
agricultural land surrounding the village is important to the character of Wray both as a 
living activity and something that maintains the historic field patterns. An Historic 
Landscape Characterisation (HLC) was undertaken for the whole of Lancashire in 2002. 
This identified the field enclosures to the north and east of Wray as ancient enclosures, 
characterised by an irregular pattern with sinuous or wavy edged field patterns and 
winding lanes. In particular the field enclosures associated with Wray are thought to 
originate from the division of open fields which remain in the landscape today as fossil strip
fields. Ancient enclosures cover 24% of Lancashire, but only 7% of this is derived from 
open fields and within the Forest of Bowland AONB this type is even less common. 
Consequently the HLC in its guidance for enhancing and safeguarding this HLC type 
states the need to retain and where appropriate restore common field boundaries. 

4.6.5  To the south and west of Wray, where the land rises and becomes more undulating, 
the enclosure pattern is one of post-medieval enclosures, defined by an irregular field 
layout reflecting piecemeal enclosure from moorland by individuals on the Bowland 
fringes. The pattern of this enclosure adjacent to Wray has remained unaltered since the 
1st Edition OS mapping. The HLC guidance states the need to conserve this type of 
distinctive pattern of post-medieval enclosure of upland moor. 

4.6.6 Agriculture forms an important element of the local rural economy providing 
employment as evidenced by census data and contributing to UK food supply, an aspect 
that is likely to grow in importance in the future due to the rising cost of food imports. 
Paragraph 112 of the NPPF states that ‘Local Planning Authorities should take into 
account the economic and other benefits of the best and most versatile agricultural land. 
Where development of agricultural land is demonstrated to be necessary, local planning 
authorities should seek to use areas of poorer quality land in preference of that of a higher 
quality.’ Annex 2 of the same framework makes clear that the ‘best and most versatile 
agricultural land’ relates to land in grades 1, 2 and 3a of the Agricultural Land 
Classification. No land within the plan area falls within grades 1, 2 and 3a. However, much 
of the land rising to the fells is in difficult terrain and at the higher levels provides only 
limited grazing to support stock in the spring and summer months. In contrast, land lying 
below the 50m AOD contour (broadly to the north and east of Wray) provides all year 
round opportunities enabling stock grazing in the winter months brought down from the 
fells and silage crops during the summer for winter feed. Therefore, even though the 
classification of land is mainly Grade 3B and not considered the ‘best and most versatile’ 

Submission Version_4   April 2018

43

Page 50



land by UK standards, nevertheless in the context of the Lune Valley and Forest of 
Bowland AONB, it is the best and most versatile land available locally and makes a vital 
contribution to the sustainability of local farms. This factor together with the historic field 
pattern provides a unique set of circumstances which justifies the constraints imposed by 
the policy and is consistent with the principle set out in the NPPF that poorer quality land 
should be used in preference to that of a higher quality..  

4.6.7 Policy RE1 allows for new construction as well as re-use, adaptation and 
conversion of existing buildings and seeks to complement Local Plan Policy DM7: 
Economic Development in Rural Areas or its successor policy in the emerging Local Plan.

“Development proposals for economic development within rural areas which maintain and enhance
rural  vitality  and  character  will  be  supported  where  it  is  demonstrated  that  they  improve  the
sustainability  of  rural  communities  by  bringing  local  economic,  environmental  benefits.  This
includes  economic  development  which  is  an  appropriate  scale  and  nature  and  assists  in  the
diversification of the rural economy including the diversification of agricultural buildings.”

Local Plan Policy DM7 is necessarily broad in scope and requires a lot of local 
interpretation. In Wray with Botton, small-scale business enterprises and facilities for 
tourism should be regarded as acceptable under Local Plan Policy DM7 in that these 
specific uses have been identified as being ones that would (subject to design, siting etc) 
be likely to maintain and enhance rural vitality and character, consistent with supporting 
the Forest of Bowland AONB’s primary purpose and Special Qualities.  Such 
developments would be likely to improve the sustainability of the Wray with Botton rural 
community as they would bring economic, environmental and community benefits which is 
what both the Neighbourhood Plan and Local Plan are trying to achieve.

4.6.8 The village of Wray is predominantly residential in character with commercial 
premises generally providing services to the community rather than significant employment
opportunities. The Business Survey43 identified that many businesses are sole proprietors 
or employ only small numbers of part-time staff or contractors. Digital, office, service, rural 
craft and trade skills businesses were favoured by those who sought to encourage new 
business and a need was identified for business workshop space, storage facilities and 
office facilities. Given the relatively high density of existing housing and the priority to 
identify further sites for housing there are few areas within the village which could be 
developed for commercial use without imposing a significant adverse impact on 
surrounding residents. However, one site (C1) located on the edge of Flood Zone 3 
adjacent to Bridge House Tea Rooms was identified, a site assessment carried out and is 
considered suitable for a small commercial development of lock-up units. However, as the 
landowner does not have a clear intention to take the site forward at present, it cannot be 
formally allocated. It has therefore been shown on the Proposals Map as a site for 
potential commercial development. 

43 Wray with Botton Parish Council Business Survey June 2015

Submission Version_4   April 2018

44

Page 51



4.7 NATURAL ENVIRONMENT 

Policy NE1: Conservation and enhancement of the natural environment

The high quality of the natural environment is a key feature of the Neighbourhood Plan 
area lying wholly within the Forest of Bowland AONB. New development will conserve 
and enhance the biodiversity of the Forest of Bowland AONB and avoid the 
fragmentation and isolation of or disturbance to wildlife, habitats and species. It will also 
help to create and reinforce green corridors and ecological networks, and deliver 
ecosystem services44 as a means of maximising wider public benefits and in reinforcing 
the local area’s identity and sense of place.

To protect and enhance robustness, function and value of the natural environment, 
development proposals must protect and contribute to the appropriate enhancement of 
the extent, value or integrity of any site or habitat protected for its biodiversity value, any 
priority habitat or species and/or any natural environment features or assets of particular 
significance and value in the Forest of Bowland AONB or characteristic of the AONB as 
described in the Forest of Bowland Management Plan, including those that do not enjoy 
formally protected status. 

When determining applications against Local Plan Policies DM 27 and DM 29 or their 
successor policies in the emerging Local Plan, the Council will have regard to the Wray 
Conservation Area Appraisal, the Forest of Bowland AONB Landscape Character 
Assessment, the Lancashire Character Assessment and the Wray with Botton 
Neighbourhood Plan Landscape Appraisal Final Report. 

Development that results in the removal of or damage to single trees, tree groups, 
woodland or species rich hedgerows will be required to provide replacement trees at an 
appropriate ratio and of appropriate species to conserve and enhance the special 
character of the area. The conservation of those hedgerows which mark historic field 
patterns, particularly to the north and east of the village of Wray are of particular 
importance for not only to maintain wildlife habitats and habitat connectivity but also for 
their contribution to the wider landscape in the Forest of Bowland AONB and the setting 
of the Wray Conservation Area.  

4.7.1 The Local Plan has several policies to protect and enhance the natural environment
including Local Plan Policy DM27: The Protection and Enhancement of Biodiversity, DM28:
Development and Landscape Impact and DM 29: Protection of Trees, Hedgerows and 
Woodland. 

4.7.2 Wray Village is small in scale and has a very low impact on the landscape to the 
extent that someone approaching Wray would not see the Village until practically entering 
it. This landscape has an important role contributing to the wider landscape character of 
the Forest of Bowland AONB. The Parish Council felt that in order to help the Council’s 
planners to interpret these policies in Wray and to support the site selection and 
assessment process, some further evidence of the landscape character, the biodiversity 
and the trees, hedgerows and woodland would be useful. Therefore the Wray-with Botton 

44 Ecosystem services are the benefits provided to us by the natural environment when it is allowed to 
function healthily, including clean air and water, climate and disease regulation, crop pollination and cultural, 
health and recreational benefits – also see Glossary.

Submission Version_4   April 2018

45

Page 52



Neighbourhood Plan Landscape Appraisal Final Report was commissioned from Alison 
Farmer Associates to supplement that which already exists in the form of the Lancashire 
Character Assessment, the Forest of Bowland Character Assessment and parts of the 
Wray Conservation Area Appraisal.
 
4.7.3 Policy NE1 seeks to conserve and enhance the ancient and species-rich 
hedgerows within the plan area with particular emphasis on those to the north and east of 
Wray which mark the historic field pattern to maintain and enhance wildlife habitats. It is 
also important to conserve and enhance the steep wooded valley sides along the banks of 
the Rivers Roeburn and Hindburn as a haven for wildlife and as a setting for the village 
together with the conservation and enhancement of water quality within the catchment 
areas of rivers and streams within the plan area to support wildlife diversity, angling and 
other aquatic pursuits. 

4.7.4 Local Plan Policy DM29 protects Trees, Hedgerows and Woodland where they 
contribute to the visual amenity and/or environmental value of the location. After 
undertaking additional research it became clear that nearly all the trees, hedgerows and 
woodland in the Parish contribute to the visual amenity and/or environmental value of 
Wray. In particular, the hedgerows were shown to contain protected species thereby 
contributing to the biodiversity of the area and in some cases delineate the distinctive, 
ancient field patterns that are still visible today around Wray. The importance of the 
woodlands has already been recognised by their being designated in the Local Plan and 
their being mentioned specifically in the Forest of Bowland AONB Landscape Character 
Assessment.

Policy NE 2:  Local Green Space
 
This Plan designates the areas of green space listed below for special protection. These 
Local Green Spaces have been put forward by the local community, with a strong 
evidence base, due to their particularly special, local importance. 

Wray LG1 School Playing Field
Wray LG2 Wray Flood Gardens

These areas have been identified on the Proposals Map.

Inappropriate development will not be permitted within a Local Green Space except for 
very special circumstances. Development which will enhance, support and facilitate the 
sustainability of the community needs, services and purposes provided by the Local 
Green Space will be considered appropriate. The design, scale and size of development 
will be required to be proportionate and reflective of/in keeping with each Local Green 
Space, the purposes of the designation and the community it serves.

Development will also only be considered appropriate if it is in accordance with 
paragraphs 89 and 90 of the NPPF.

Following the Local Green Space designation, if one of the identified sites is designated
for another purpose, particularly one of a higher level of protection, this will need to be
taken into account.

Submission Version_4   April 2018

46

Page 53



4.7.5 Lancaster City Council prepared a robust methodology which has been subject to 
public consultation in late 2015. Following the completion of the methodology the Council 
conducted a ‘Call for Sites’ exercise, inviting members of the community to submit 
potential Green Spaces in their areas for assessment. This assessment work was 
undertaken by a panel of stakeholders during the course of the summer with a number of 
sites identified to go forward as green space designations. Four sites within the Wray 
Neighbourhood Plan area were submitted for consideration of which the two listed above 
satisfied the four tests necessary to justify designation.

4.7.6 These spaces hold particular local significance for the community. They are 
demonstrably special and are in close proximity to the people they serve. For this reason 
the spaces should be given the special status offered by the National Planning Policy 
Framework:
 
“76. Local communities through local and neighbourhood plans should be able to identify for 
special protection green areas of particular importance to them. By designating land as Local 
Green Space local communities will be able to rule out new development other than in very special
circumstances. Identifying land as Local Green Space should therefore be consistent with the local
planning of sustainable development and complement investment in sufficient homes, jobs and 
other essential services. Local Green Spaces should only be designated when a plan is prepared 
or reviewed, and be capable of enduring beyond the end of the plan period.
 
77. The Local Green Space designation will not be appropriate for most green areas or open 
space. 
The designation should only be used: 
● where the green space is in reasonably close proximity to the community it serves;  
● where the green area is demonstrably special to a local community and holds a particular local 
significance, for example because of its beauty, historic significance, recreational value (including 
as a playing field), tranquility or richness of its wildlife; and 
● where the green area concerned is local in character and is not an extensive tract of land.”

4.7.7 The School Playing Field is a multi-functional space enclosed on three sides by 
existing development. It contains a well equipped play area for children and is of a 
sufficient size to meet a variety of needs both sporting and recreational throughout the 
year. It is also the site of the annual Wray Fair in conjunction with the Scarecrow Festival. 

4.7.8 The Wray Flood Gardens are an attractive area formed following the devastating 
Wray Flood in 1967 where a number of homes were washed away. It provides a space to 
relax and enjoy the tranquil surroundings. The land is owned by the Parish Council.

4.7.9 Policy NE2 takes the same approach as the City Council’s draft Policy SC2: Local 
Green Spaces in the Strategic Policies and Land Allocations DPD (February 2018) in the 
emerging Local Plan and is consistent with the aims of Policy DM25: Green Spaces & 
Green Corridors in the Development Management DPD, adopted December 2014.

4.7.10 Lancaster City Council’s Planning officers are satisfied that the 2 sites 
identified in Policy NE2 are demonstrably special to the local community to warrant their 
designation as Local Green Space. Full details of the methodology used and the details of 
all the sites submitted may be found in Appendix 5.

Submission Version_4   April 2018

47

Page 54



Policy NE3 – Historic Environment

In addition to the requirements set out in Local Plan Policies DM30, 31, 32, 33 and 34 for
the historic environment or their successor policies in the emerging Local Plan, all 
development in the plan area should take into account the unique heritage features and 
historic character of the area, including built, natural and cultural heritage features, and 
protect or enhance historic landscape character, locally important heritage assets and 
their settings, and the distinctiveness of settlements.

Before works to historic buildings or assets take place, surveys should be undertaken to 
record their historical interest and build the heritage evidence of the Forest of Bowland 
AONB. 

Development proposals affecting designated and non-designated heritage assets, that 
are either identified on the Council’s Local List, the Historic Environment Record or that 
are discovered during the application process, will be supported provided that they:

(I) conserve or enhance the special architectural and historic interest of the asset. This 
may include schemes that specifically aim to (or include measures to) protect, restore, 
enhance, reveal, interpret, sensitively and imaginatively incorporate or record historic 
assets or features; 

(II) reflect local vernacular and the distinctive historic and settlement character through 
the design, style, scale, massing and materials used; 

(III) conserve or enhance the character and setting of the asset; and 

(IV) promote enjoyment, understanding and interpretation of the assets, as a means of 
maximising wider public benefits and in reinforcing the identity of Wray with Botton and 
sense of place within the Forest of Bowland AONB.

Proposals that result in or contribute to the loss or fragmentation of heritage assets will 
not be permitted. Proposals affecting ancient/historic field patterns should reinforce and 
reflect the pattern.

4.7.11 The policy sits alongside existing policies and legislation and provides a 
comprehensive, Neighbourhood Plan specific approach within the Forest of Bowland 
AONB that seeks to recognise and conserve heritage assets and the wider historic 
environment and historic character of the plan area in a way that reflects the AONB 
Management Plan and the AONB’s Special Qualities.

4.7.12 Evidence such as the Wray Conservation Area Appraisal, the Historic Landscape 
Characterisation undertaken for the whole of Lancashire in 2002,and amplified in the Wray
with Botton Neighbourhood Plan Landscape Appraisal together with other sources such as
the Traditional Orchards Survey, Heritage at Risk Register, Register of Parks and 
Gardens, Historic Environment Record, National Heritage List for England and National 
Archaeological Identification Survey should be used to inform planning applications and 
decisions. In addition to the policy requirements above, further measures relating to 
archaeology are set out in the Local Plan policies.

4.7.13 Within the village of Wray, features of particular note include the extent of the Wray 
Conservation Area and the potential noted in the appraisal to extend the designated area 
to include the historic buildings nearby in the vicinity of the Old Bobbin Mill; the large 
number of Listed Buildings within the conservation area some of which are identified as 
Landmark Buildings together with a significant number of Buildings of Special Character; 

Submission Version_4   April 2018

48

Page 55



significant trees and tree groups which contribute to the overall character of the area; the 
historic strip fields to the north and east of the village and the post-medieval pattern of 
enclosures to the south and west; the Queen Victoria Golden Jubilee Lantern in Main 
Street and the more recent walled mosaic to commemorate the Wray Flood of 1967 on the
banks of the River Roeburn.

4.7.14 The full range of heritage features, designated and non-designated, should be 
recognised and taken into account when planning new development, including, but not 
exclusively: hidden features and archaeology; field patterns; ancient enclosures; historic 
routes; lime kilns; milk churn stands; bee boles; mile-markers; traditional road signs; 
marker posts and directional signage; traditional stone walls and buildings; parkland; 
historic designed landscapes; ponds; wells; hedgerows; orchards and veteran trees. 
Features should not be considered in isolation but in their context as part of a historic 
environment at the landscape scale.

Submission Version_4   April 2018

49

Page 56



4.8 COMMUNITY

Policy COM1 - Community Assets and Local Services

New development should conserve or enhance assets and services valued by the 
community, including those listed below: 

● Wray Endowed Primary School
● Wray Institute
● The Church and its grounds
● The Chapel and Former Friends Meeting House and their grounds
● The Post Office and Shop
● The George & Dragon Public House
● Wray Pre-school Forest School
● Bridge House Tea Rooms and Garden Centre
● The allotments
● Agricultural Land used for the fairground and car parking during the annual 

Scarecrow Festival

Proposals that would result in the loss of buildings/uses which currently (or have 
previously) provided the community with a local service must provide compelling and 
detailed evidence in accordance with the criteria set out in Policy DM49: Local Services 
or its successor policy in the emerging Local Plan to demonstrate that the asset or 
service no longer has an economic or social value to the community.

4.8.1 The Parish identified through their consultation process that the people of Wray 
valued their community especially its traditions and activities but also certain assets (in 
addition to the landscape and townscape) that they believe contribute to community 
cohesion. Many of these coincide with those elements identified in the Local Plan as 
important criteria for sustainable communities and as such, important for the continued 
vitality and viability of the village. These assets support Wray’s contribution to the Forest of
Bowland AONB both directly by providing services for visitors and indirectly by supporting 
the people of Wray who act as custodians of the Parish, its landscape and townscape. 

4.8.2 The number of visitors that a village like Wray can regularly host at any one time is 
limited by its size, a point emphasised by the need for substantial planning and resources 
including use of nearby fields to accommodate parking during the annual Scarecrow 
Festival and Wray Fair. As such while visitors are welcome to the Village and tourism is 
something that can be developed to the benefit of Wray and the wider AONB Area, it must 
be proportionate and appropriate both for the sake of the people who live there but also to 
the visitors themselves whose evidence45 has shown are attracted to the area’s relatively 
unspoilt character.

4.8.3 It is recognised that the need for and demand for local services is likely to change 
over time. The policy therefore signposts to criteria in the Local Plan which may be used to
determine how the value of the community assets and services listed should be assessed 
in the future and will be kept under regular review by the Parish Council.

45 Visitor Questionnaire Results and Tea Room Questionnaire Results 2015

Submission Version_4   April 2018

50

Page 57



4.9 TRANSPORT AND INFRASTRUCTURE

4.9.1 During the preparation of this plan, Lancashire County Council has published its 
District of Lancaster Highways and Transport Master Plan. This necessarily focuses on the
priority needs in the urban centres of Lancaster, Morecambe, Heysham and Carnforth. The
document identifies the following issues to be addressed in Rural Lancaster in which this 
Neighbourhood Plan lies:

By their nature, the rural areas of Lancaster tend to be very dependent on the car, which can not only lead 
to local problems on the highways network, but makes life very difficult for those who, for whatever reason,
do not have their own transport:

• Rural isolation and an ageing population both present health and wellbeing issues for the health sector, 
so there is a real opportunity to work together to maximise the benefits of reducing social isolation for 
organisations as well as individuals.

• Young people who don't have access to a car can find it very challenging to reach education and 
employment, to the point that they may be forced to leave their own community to find suitable work and 
housing.

• Car dependence is unlikely to be sustainable in the longer term, both on cost grounds and through the 
need for carbon reduction. Car ownership in rural areas is likely to become increasingly unsustainable, so 
alternatives need to be in place sooner rather than later.

• More than in any other area of the county, visitors need to be able to travel without a car and there is a 
definite need to support a sustainable visitor economy to ensure that the natural environment is protected 
while its economic benefit is maximised.

These problems could be compounded in the future if consideration is not given to sustainable access 
when considering the scale and location of future housing and employment needs within existing rural 
communities.

We therefore need to do what we can to make more sustainable modes available where possible, both for 
those who don't have the choice of a car and for those who would want other options, whether through 
age or cost. However, the car will remain a vital part of rural transport and we therefore need to do what 
we can to make car ownership itself as sustainable as possible.

Source: District of Lancaster Highways and Transport Master Plan P45
 
4.9.2 The Master Plan identifies many of the challenges that lie ahead and indicates a 
potential ‘Greenway’ route from Lancaster that would pass through the north end of the 
Parish to serve the needs of cyclists and pedestrians though its delivery is neither funded 
nor timetabled. It also recognises the difficulties of funding conventional bus services for 
sparsely populated rural areas and indicates that an innovative approach will be needed to
provide sustainable access to these areas in the future. The Parish Council accepts that 
the reality for the future, particularly given recent cuts to local bus services, is likely to 
focus on the continuing primacy of the car for local travel planning. The following policies 
are intended to focus decision makers on the wider implications of new development and 
the opportunities that exist to make improvements which would contribute to safer and 
more sustainable neighbourhood transport outcomes.  

  

Policy TRA1 - Infrastructure for New Development

Submission Version_4   April 2018

51

Page 58



Within the Neighbourhood Plan area, new development will contribute towards new 
infrastructure or improve the capacity of existing infrastructure in a way that reflects the 
primary purpose of the Forest of Bowland AONB designation.

Compliance with Development Management DPD Policies DM20: Enhancing 
Accessibility and Transport Linkages, DM21: Walking and Cycling, DM22: Vehicle 
parking Provision, and DM35: Key Design Principles and their successor policies in the 
emerging Local Plan is essential to ensure that the issues raised for Rural Lancaster in 
the District of Lancaster Highways and Transport Master Plan have been fully addressed
and any necessary mitigation measures identified.  

The Neighbourhood Plan priorities for spending any monies derived from Planning 
Agreements (Section 106) and Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) or successor 
mechanisms such as Local Infrastructure Tariff (LIT) from development within the parish 
will be as follows:

(l) Off-street parking provision, where appropriate on Main Street, Wray to improve road 
safety and the character and appearance of the village by reducing the dominance of the
motor vehicle within the streetscape. 
(ll) All-ability access to the footpath network including improvements to footways within 
the village of Wray to reduce the need to walk in the road and to improve the health and 
wellbeing of residents and visitors.
(lll) Measures to conserve and enhance the local environment, including designated 
local green space.

Opportunities will be taken to fund such improvements through planning applications.
Proposals by developers or other authorities which provide improvements to sustainable
modes of transport will be supported and may include:

(l) Improvements to the existing local network of cycleways, bridleways and footways 
which encourage their use.
(ll) Measures which improve accessibility within the Parish by public transport, walking 
and cycling and the provision of additional car parking within the village of Wray.
(lll) Improvements to links between the Parish and local service centres including 
development of new cycleways to reduce reliance on the B6480 and enhance safety for 
all. 

  

4.9.3 The only classified road within the Neighbourhood Plan area is the B6480 running 
broadly east - west through the village of Wray. Both the B6480 and all other routes in the 
plan area are essentially minor roads with limited carriageway widths, winding alignments 
and generally poor forward visibility. All routes have virtually no continuous verge which 
makes them particularly hazardous for non-motorised users. In addition, parts of the 
B6480 and the minor road network are designated cycle routes, including the Way of the 
Roses which means that many cyclists are unfamiliar with the conditions they encounter. 

4.9.4 Public transport is also very limited, particularly following the severe cuts to bus 
services in 2016 which make it almost impossible for use by employees travelling to and 
from work and by students and others to reach the main service centres in Lancaster and 
Morecambe. Similarly although there is a train station in Wennington, this provides only 4 
trains in each direction between Morecambe and Leeds. The lack of weekend and bank 

Submission Version_4   April 2018

52

Page 59



holiday public transport services also has a harmful impact on the visitor economy and the 
leisure opportunities of residents. As a result, residents are either totally car dependent for 
travel or are excluded from many leisure opportunities in the surrounding area.

4.9.5 Within the village of Wray there are only limited lengths of footway which together 
with the conflict caused by parked vehicles make access to community facilities for 
residents and visitors particularly hazardous.  The infrastructure policy is therefore 
intended to ensure that the full implications of development for accessibility and 
connectivity are taken into account through compliance with relevant policies in the Local 
Plan to prevent any further deterioration in the current unsatisfactory conditions. 

4.9.6 The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) is a national scheme which allows local 
planning authorities to set local charges for new development to fund the provision of 
infrastructure. Money raised by CIL can be used to support development by funding 
infrastructure that the council, local community and neighbourhoods want. The proceeds 
would be paid directly to the Parish and can be used to back the community’s priorities. 
Within Neighbourhood Plan areas which secure the consent of local people in the 
referendum, 25 per cent of the revenues from the Community Infrastructure Levy arising 
from the development that they choose to accept would be made available. This policy 
sets out the priorities for spending CIL or any successor policy such as Local Infrastructure
Tariff (LIT) within the Parish.

4.9.7 Planning agreements under section 106 of the Planning Act are intended to mitigate
the impact of development on local communities. For all development schemes with a 
local impact, Lancaster City Council would normally negotiate with the developer a 
package of measures to limit the impacts on the local environment and residents. This 
policy provides Lancaster City with guidance as to the priorities for funding within the 
Parish of such monies as may arise.

4.9.8 The National Planning Policy Framework seeks to ensure our transport 
infrastructure is more balanced towards sustainable modes of transport including public 
transport. Benefits include reduced carbon emissions and health benefits.  The current 
situation for cyclists in particular having to use the B6480 as part of the cycle network is 
unsatisfactory. With necessary funding either the long term proposal to convert the disused
railway line from Bull Beck through to Kiln Lane in Wray could be progressed or a lower 
cost alternative of upgrading the existing bridleway (1-38-BW 37) along Back Lane to Kiln 
Lane would at least eliminate a particularly hazardous section of the B6480. A modest 
upgrade of the remaining length from Meal Bank Bridge in the east to Kiln Lane would also
add significantly to the quality of the non-motorised user network in the Parish and provide 
significant health benefits to residents and visitors alike.

4.9.9 The B6480 is subject to the national speed limit outside the the village of Wray and 
to a 30mph within the village. Main Street from its junction the B6480 to Wray Bridge is 
subject to a 20mph speed limit. Both restrictions are widely disregarded and there is little 
likelihood that any enforcement action would have a lasting effect. Whilst the imposition of 
a 20mph speed limit throughout village would have a positive impact on both the safety 
and security of non-motorised users particularly where there are no continuous footways, 
further low cost physical measures such as road narrowing with priority gateways could 
contribute significantly to traffic calming. It is acknowledged that more specific evidence 
may be required to justify and then implement measures to mitigate the speed and flow of 
through traffic. Whilst Lancaster City Council considers such matters to be beyond the 
remit of a Neighbourhood Plan focussed on land-use, nevertheless providing a safe and 
accessible transport network is key to unlocking the potential of Rural Lancaster.

Submission Version_4   April 2018

53

Page 60



SECTION 5 IMPLEMENTATION AND MONITORING 

5.1 The Neighbourhood Plan will be delivered and implemented over the period to 
2030. Different stakeholders and partners will be involved. It is not a rigid ‘blue-print’ and 
provides instead a ‘direction for change’ through its vision, objectives and policies. 
Flexibility will also be needed as new challenges and opportunities arise over the plan 
period. In this respect, implementation, monitoring and review will be crucial.

5.2 Wray with Botton Parish Council will be the responsible body to manage and 
oversee the implementation of the Neighbourhood Plan.

Key Activities

5.3 There will be three key strands of activity which will direct delivery and each is 
important in shaping the plan area in the months and years ahead. These comprise:

l) The statutory planning process will direct and control private developer and investor 
interest in the Parish in the context of the Neighbourhood Plan, Lancaster City Council 
Local Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework. The Parish Council (in its role as 
statutory consultee to planning applications) and Lancaster City Council as the Local 
Planning Authority will use the Neighbourhood Plan to assess the appropriateness and 
suitability of applications. This assessment will help inform the Parish Council’s response 
to the application (e.g. written representations in support of, or in objection to the 
proposals) and will inform the Local Planning Authority’s final decision. In summary, 
planning applications that are broadly in accordance with both the Lancaster City Local 
Plan, and with the Neighbourhood Plan should be supported while those that are not, 
should be refused.

ll) Investment in, and management of, public services, assets and other measures to 
improve local services and vitality and viability for the Parish. In the context of the 
prevailing economic climate and public funding there is a recognition that public 
investment in the Parish will be challenging to secure. The Community Infrastructure Levy 
(CIL), if introduced by Lancaster City Council, could contribute a small amount through 
new development. In the meantime, Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 allows for agreements between developers and Lancaster City Council, with financial
contributions towards necessary services and infrastructure improvements. Such 
contributions resulting from developments within the Neighbourhood Plan designated area 
should be allocated towards improvement or addition of local services and /or the securing
of environmental benefits  for Wray with Botton Parish residents and community.

lll) The voluntary and community sector will have a strong role to play particularly in terms 
of local community infrastructure, events and Parish life. This sector is likely to play an 
important role in the future, and includes, but is not limited to, Wray Institute and the 
Scarecrow Festival Committees, Holy Trinity Church, Wray Methodist Church and Friends 
of the Chapel, Wray Over Sixties, Wray with Botton Heritage Group, Wennington and 
District WI and Wray Scouts & Guides.

Key Areas of Action

5.4 The key areas of action summarises the Parish Council’s approach to delivery and 
implementation of the Neighbourhood Plan:

Housing Development

5.5 The Parish Council will work with local landowners, developers and Lancaster City 
Submission Version_4   April 2018

54

Page 61



Council to deliver modest incremental growth in new housing over the plan period to meet 
identifies local needs in the Neighbourhood Plan area.

Rural Economy

5.6 The Parish Council will encourage businesses to improve local employment 
opportunities for local people and work with landowners and stakeholders to bring 
brownfield sites such as underused or disused agricultural buildings forward for 
redevelopment or conversion into economic use.

Natural Environment

5.7 The Parish Council will work with Lancaster City Council, The Forest of Bowland 
AONB Unit, Lancashire County Council and other statutory bodies and agencies together 
with landowners and stakeholders to ensure the natural environment is protected from 
inappropriate development.

Transport and Infrastructure

5.8 The Parish Council will work with Lancaster City Council and Lancashire County 
Council to find ways to improve road safety, address speed and parking issues and 
provide suitable pedestrian, cycle and equestrian facilities throughout the Parish.

Monitoring and Review

5.9 The Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Plan is a ‘living’ document and as such will 
become an integral component of the stewardship of the Parish Council.

a) The Parish Council meeting will include a regular agenda item to monitor and action 
activities to progress the implementation of the Neighbourhood Plan.

b) The Parish Annual Meeting will report on annual progress achieved, and set out the 
programme aims and key activities for the subsequent year ahead integrating this within its
own forward planning processes.

c) The Parish Council will undertake a strategic review of the Neighbourhood Plan every 3 
years. The focus of the strategic review will be to ensure that the policies made are 
effectively contributing to the realisation of the vision and objectives set out in the 
Neighbourhood Plan. Any resulting proposals to correct and improve policies to meet the 
vision and objectives will require to be undertaken in full collaboration with Lancaster City 
Council. Evidence will also be reviewed and updated as required.

Next Steps

5.10 The following sets out the remaining planned key milestones of the neighbourhood 
planning process:

May 2018 Neighbourhood Plan Submission to Lancaster City Council

July 2018  Lancaster City Council Public Consultation on Submission version
of Neighbourhood Plan ends

September 2018 Independent Examination report due

November 2018 Wray with Botton Parish Referendum of Residents to Support the 
Plan

January 2019 Lancaster City Council confirm our Neighbourhood Plan is ‘made’

February 2019  Implementation of ‘made’ Neighbourhood Plan starts

Submission Version_4   April 2018

55

Page 62



The appendices are compiled as separate documents as follows:

 

Appendix 1 Proposals Maps 

Appendix 2 Schedule of Evidence 

Appendix 3   Site Selection and Assessment 

Appendix 4 Constraints Overview and Environmental Constraints Maps 

Appendix 5 Local Green Space 

Appendix 6 Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) and Habitat Regulation 
Assessment (HRA)

Appendix 7 Bibliography/References

Appendix 8 Glossary of Terms 

 

Submission Version_4   April 2018

56

Page 63



Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Plan Independent Examiner’s Report Final 
Rosemary Kidd MRTPI Planning Consultant Page 1 

 

 

WRAY WITH BOTTON NEIGHBOURHOOD 

PLAN 

Submission Draft Version 

 

 

 

 

A report to Lancaster City Council  

into the examination of the  

Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Plan 

by Independent Examiner,  Rosemary Kidd 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Rosemary Kidd, Dip TP,  MRTPI 

NPIERS Independent Examiner 

12 December 2018  

Page 64



Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Plan Independent Examiner’s Report Final 
Rosemary Kidd MRTPI Planning Consultant Page 2 

Contents: 

  Page 

1 Summary 3 

2 Introduction 4 

3 The Neighbourhood Plan - as a Whole 15 

 The Neighbourhood Plan - Policies  17 

4 Referendum 38 

5 Background Documents 39 

6 Summary of Recommendation 40 

 

  

Page 65



Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Plan Independent Examiner’s Report Final 
Rosemary Kidd MRTPI Planning Consultant Page 3 

1.0 Summary 

1.1 The Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Plan has been prepared to set out the 

community’s wishes for this parish so that development can be managed in a 

way that meets the needs of the community allowing them to continue to live, 

work and enjoy a high quality of life in an area that creates a strong sense of 

place. The parish lies within the Forest of Bowland AONB and contains the 

village of Wray which is the main centre of population. 

1.2 The Plan sets out comprehensive policies to deliver the future development 

needs and safeguard the high quality environment of the village and its 

surrounding area to support and complement those in the Local Plan. I have 

made a number of recommendations in this report in order to make the 

wording of the policies and their application clearer including improvements to 

the mapping of sites referred to in policies to ensure that the Plan meets the 

Basic Conditions.  Section 6 of the report sets out a schedule of the 

recommended modifications. 

1.3 The main recommendations concern: 

• Revisions to the SEA and HRA Screening Reports; 

• The deletion of Policy BE2; 

• The inclusion of Key Considerations in Policy H1 to set out factors to be 

taken into account on the design and layout of the housing allocations; 

• Clarification of the wording of policies and the supporting text; and 

• Improvements to the mapping of policies.  

1.4 Subject to the recommended modifications being made to the Neighbourhood 

Plan, I am able to confirm that I am satisfied that the Wray with Botton 

Neighbourhood Plan satisfies the Basic Conditions and that the Plan should 

proceed to referendum.  

 

 

  

Page 66



Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Plan Independent Examiner’s Report Final 
Rosemary Kidd MRTPI Planning Consultant Page 4 

2.0 Introduction 

 

Background Context 

2.1 This report sets out the findings of the examination into the Wray with Botton 

Neighbourhood Plan (referred to as the WNP throughout this report).  

2.2 Wray village lies about ten miles to the north east of Lancaster. All of the 

parish falls within the Forest of Bowland Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 

(AONB) which contains extensive areas of sparsely populated upland used 

mainly for grazing. The parish lies within the boundary of Lancaster City 

Council 

2.3 It has the historic village of Wray at its core containing a conservation area 

and several listed buildings. The Bowland Fells is a Special Protection Area of 

European Importance and covers a significant area of the parish.  At 2011 

there were 532 people living in Wray with Botton parish in 222 households.  

Appointment of the Independent Examiner 

2.4 I was appointed as an independent examiner to conduct the examination on 

the Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Plan by Lancaster City Council with the 

consent of Wray with Botton Parish Council in August 2018. I do not have any 

interest in any land that may be affected by the WNP nor do I have any 

professional commissions in the area currently and I possess appropriate 

qualifications and experience. I am a Member of the Royal Town Planning 

Institute with over 30 years’ experience in local authorities preparing Local 

Plans and associated policies. My appointment was facilitated through the 

Neighbourhood Planning Independent Examiner Referral Service.  

Role of the Independent Examiner 

2.5 As an independent Examiner, I am required to determine, under paragraph 

8(1) of Schedule 4B to the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, whether the 

legislative requirements are met:  

• The Neighbourhood Plan has been prepared and submitted for 

examination by a qualifying body as defined in Section 61F of the Town 

and Country Planning Act 1990 as applied to neighbourhood plans by 

section 38A of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004;  

• The Neighbourhood Plan has been prepared for an area that has been 

designated under Section 61G of the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990 as applied to neighbourhood plans by section 38A of the Planning 

and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004;  

• The Neighbourhood Plan meets the requirements of Section 38B of the 

Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (the Plan must specify the 

period to which it has effect, must not include provisions relating to 

‘excluded development’, and must not relate to more than one 

Neighbourhood Area); and  

Page 67



Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Plan Independent Examiner’s Report Final 
Rosemary Kidd MRTPI Planning Consultant Page 5 

• The policies relate to the development and use of land for a designated 

Neighbourhood Area in line with the requirements of the Planning and 

Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 Section 38A.  

 

2.6 An Independent Examiner must consider whether a neighbourhood plan 

meets the “Basic Conditions”. The Basic Conditions are set out in paragraph 

8(2) of Schedule 4B to the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as applied to 

neighbourhood plans by section 38A of the Planning and Compulsory 

Purchase Act 2004. The Basic Conditions are: 

1. having regard to national policies and advice contained in guidance 

issued by the Secretary of State it is appropriate to make the 

neighbourhood plan; 

2. the making of the neighbourhood plan contributes to the achievement of 

sustainable development; 

3. the making of the neighbourhood plan is in general conformity with the 

strategic policies contained in the development plan for the area of the 

authority (or any part of that area); 

4. the making of the neighbourhood plan does not breach, and is otherwise 

compatible with, EU obligations; and  

5. prescribed conditions are met in relation to the plan and prescribed 

matters have been complied with in connection with the proposal for the 

neighbourhood plan. The following prescribed condition relates to 

neighbourhood plans: 

o Regulation 32 of the Neighbourhood Planning (General) 

Regulations 2012 (as amended) sets out a further Basic Condition 

in addition to those set out in the primary legislation. That the 

making of the neighbourhood plan is not likely to have a significant 

effect on a European site (as defined in the Conservation of 

Habitats and Species Regulations 2012) or a European offshore 

marine site (as defined in the Offshore Marine Conservation 

(Natural Habitats, &c.) Regulations 2007) (either alone or in 

combination with other plans or projects). (See Schedule 2 to the 

Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 (as 

amended). 

2.7 Under the terms of the neighbourhood planning legislation I am required to 

make one of three possible recommendations: 

• That the plan should proceed to referendum on the basis that it meets all 

the legal requirements; 

• That the plan should proceed to referendum if modified; or 

• That the plan should not proceed to referendum on the basis that it does 

not meet all the legal requirements. 

2.8 If recommending that the Neighbourhood Plan is submitted to referendum my 

report must also recommend whether the area for the referendum should 

Page 68

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/schedule/9/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/schedule/9/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/637/part/9/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/637/part/9/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/235/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/637/schedule/2/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/637/schedule/2/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/235/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/235/made


Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Plan Independent Examiner’s Report Final 
Rosemary Kidd MRTPI Planning Consultant Page 6 

extend beyond the neighbourhood area to which the Neighbourhood Plan 

relates, and if to be extended, the nature of that extension. 

2.9 The role of an Independent Examiner of a neighbourhood plan is defined. I 

am not examining the test of soundness provided for in respect of 

examination of Local Plans. It is not within my role to comment on how the 

plan could be improved but rather to focus on whether the submitted 

Neighbourhood Plan meets the Basic Conditions and Convention rights, and 

the other statutory requirements.  

2.10 It is a requirement that my report must give reasons for each of its 

recommendations and contain a summary of its main findings. I have only 

recommended modifications to the Neighbourhood Plan (presented in bold 

type) where I consider they need to be made so that the plan meets the Basic 

Conditions and the other requirements. 

The Examination Process 

2.11 The presumption is that the neighbourhood plan will proceed by way of an 

examination of written evidence only. However the Examiner can ask for a 

public hearing in order to hear oral evidence on matters which he or she 

wishes to explore further or so that a person has a fair chance to put a case.  

2.12 I have sought clarification on a number of factual matters from the qualifying 

body and/or the local planning authority in writing. I am satisfied that the 

responses received have enabled me to come to a conclusion on these 

matters without the need for a hearing.   

2.13 I had before me background evidence to the plan which has assisted me in 

understanding the background to the matters raised in the Neighbourhood 

Plan. I have considered the documents set out in Section 5 of this report in 

addition to the Submission draft of the Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Plan 

2011 – 2031 dated April 2018.   

2.14 I have considered the Basic Conditions Statement and the Consultation 

Statement as well as the screening reports for the Habitats Regulation 

Assessment and the Strategic Environmental Assessment. In my assessment 

of each policy I have commented on how the policy has had regard to 

national policies and advice and whether the policy is in general conformity 

with relevant strategic policies, as appropriate.   

2.15 I have undertaken an unaccompanied visit to the Plan area and viewed the 

sites referred to under the policies in the plan.   

 

Legislative Requirements 

Qualifying Body 

2.16 The neighbourhood plan making process has been led by Wray with Botton 

Parish Council which is a “qualifying body” under the Neighbourhood 

Page 69



Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Plan Independent Examiner’s Report Final 
Rosemary Kidd MRTPI Planning Consultant Page 7 

Planning legislation which entitles them to lead the plan making process. The 

Plan was prepared by the Neighbourhood Plan Steering Group. 

2.17 I am satisfied that the requirements set out in the Localism Act (2011) and in 

Section 61F(1) and (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act (as applied to 

neighbourhood plans by section 38A of the Planning and Compulsory 

Purchase Act) have been met. 

The Plan Area  

2.18 The Neighbourhood Plan area is co-terminus with the parish of Wray with 

Botton. The area was designated by Lancaster City Council on 20 February 

2015 as a Neighbourhood Area. The Basic Conditions Statement confirms 

that there are no other neighbourhood plans relating to that area.  

2.19 This satisfies the requirements of preparing a Neighbourhood Development 

Plan under section 61G (1) (2) and (3) of the Town and Country Planning Act 

1990 (as applied to neighbourhood plans by section 38A of the Planning and 

Compulsory Purchase Ac 2004) and regulations 5, 6 and 7 of the 

Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012. 

Plan Period 

2.20 A neighbourhood plan must specify the period during which it is to have 

effect. The front cover and page 2 of the Plan state that the lifespan of the 

Neighbourhood Plan is 2011 – 2031. However I have concerns that the 

commencement date of the Plan is some time before the plan was prepared 

and it is recommended that it should be revised to the date it is “made”.  

Recommendation 1: Revise the date of the Plan period to 2018 – 2031.  

Excluded Development 

2.21 The Basic Conditions Statement states that the Plan does not include 

provision for any excluded development: county matters (mineral extraction 

and waste development), nationally significant infrastructure or any 

matters set out in Section 61K of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.  

2.22 However, Policy RE1 includes “allocated mineral extraction or waste 

management”. I have recommended modifications to Policy RE1 to delete 

reference to excluded forms of development from the policy.  

Development and use of land  

2.23 The Neighbourhood Development Plan should only contain policies relating to 

development and use of land. Subject to the modifications proposed, the 

WNP would be compliant with this requirement of Section 38B of the Planning 

and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 as amended.  

2.24 I am satisfied therefore that the Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Plan 

satisfies all the legal requirements set out in paragraph 2.5 above. 

Page 70



Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Plan Independent Examiner’s Report Final 
Rosemary Kidd MRTPI Planning Consultant Page 8 

 

The Basic Conditions 

Basic Condition 1 – Has regard to National Policy  

2.25 The first Basic Condition is for the neighbourhood plan “to have regard to 

national policies and advice contained in guidance issued by the Secretary of 

State”. The requirement to determine whether it is appropriate that the plan is 

made includes the words “having regard to”. This is not the same as 

compliance, nor is it the same as part of the test of soundness provided for in 

respect of examinations of Local Plans which requires plans to be “consistent 

with national policy”.  

2.26 The Planning Practice Guidance assists in understanding “appropriate”. In 

answer to the question “What does having regard to national policy mean?” 

the Guidance states a neighbourhood plan “must not constrain the delivery of 

important national policy objectives.”  

2.27 In considering the policies contained in the Plan, I have been mindful of the 

guidance in the Planning Practice Guide (PPG) that:  

“Neighbourhood planning gives communities direct power to develop a 

shared vision for their neighbourhood and shape the development and growth 

of their local area. They are able to choose where they want new homes, 

shops and offices to be built, have their say on what those new buildings 

should look like.” 

2.28 In order to ensure that a neighbourhood plan can be an effective tool for the 

decision maker, the PPG advises that:  

“A policy in a neighbourhood plan should be clear and unambiguous. It should 

be drafted with sufficient clarity that a decision maker can apply it consistently 

and with confidence when determining planning applications. It should be 

concise, precise and supported by appropriate evidence. It should be distinct 

to reflect and respond to the unique characteristics and planning context of 

the specific neighbourhood area for which it has been prepared.” 

2.29 The NPPF of 2012 is referred to in this examination. Paragraph 214 of 

Appendix 1 of the July 2018 NPPF states that the policies of the 2012 NPPF 

will apply for the purpose of examining plans where those plans are submitted 

on or before 24 January 2019. The footnote to this paragraph confirms that 

this applies to neighbourhood plans.  

2.30 NPPF paragraph 183 states that parishes can use neighbourhood planning to 

set planning policies through neighbourhood plans to determine decisions on 

planning applications. The Planning Practice Guidance on Neighbourhood 

Plans states that neighbourhood plans should “support the strategic 

development needs set out in the Local Plan” and further states that “the 

neighbourhood plan must address the development and use of land by setting 

Page 71



Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Plan Independent Examiner’s Report Final 
Rosemary Kidd MRTPI Planning Consultant Page 9 

out planning policies to be used in determining planning applications because 

once the plan is made it will become part of the statutory development plan”. 

2.31 Paragraph 16 of the National Planning Policy Framework is clear that those 

producing neighbourhood plans should support the strategic development 

needs set out in local plans, including policies for housing and economic 

development. Qualifying bodies should plan positively to support local 

development, shaping and directing development in their area that is outside 

the strategic elements of the Local Plan. PPG guidance under Rural Housing 

states that “all settlements can play a role in delivering sustainable 

development in rural areas – and so blanket policies restricting housing 

development in some settlements and preventing other settlements from 

expanding should be avoided unless they can be supported by robust 

evidence”.  

2.32 The Basic Conditions Statement describes how the policies of the Plan are 

aligned with national policy and guidance. It demonstrates that the Plan has 

regard to the elements set out in the NPPF relevant to the Plan Area and to 

delivering sustainable development. 

2.33 I consider the extent to which the policies of the plan meet this Basic 

Condition No 1 in Section 3 below.  

Basic Condition 2 - Contributes to sustainable development 

2.34 A qualifying body must demonstrate how a neighbourhood plan contributes to 

the achievement of sustainable development. The NPPF as a whole 

constitutes the Government’s view of what sustainable development means in 

practice for planning. The NPPF explains that there are three dimensions to 

sustainable development: economic, social and environmental.  

2.35 There is no legal requirement for a formal Sustainability Appraisal to be 

carried out in respect of neighbourhood plans. However good practice 

suggests that where neighbourhood plans are allocating land for development 

an appraisal should be carried out.  

2.36 The Basic Conditions Statement considers how each policy in the WNP 

contributes to the delivery of sustainable development with regards to 

economic, social and environmental aspects. The Plan includes Policy OS1 

which is entitled “Development Strategy” and summarises the Plan’s overall 

approach to promoting sustainable development. I will comment further on 

this policy later in my report.  

Basic Condition 3 – is in general conformity with strategic 

policies in the development plan 

2.37 The third Basic Condition is for the neighbourhood plan to be in general 

conformity with the strategic policies contained in the Development Plan for 

the area. The adopted strategic policies covering the Neighbourhood Plan 

area are contained in the Lancaster District Local Plan. This includes the 

Core Strategy (adopted in 2008) and the Development Management Policies 

Page 72



Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Plan Independent Examiner’s Report Final 
Rosemary Kidd MRTPI Planning Consultant Page 10 

(2014). A new Local Plan is well advanced with consultation on the 

Publication stage of the Strategic Policies and Land Allocations DPD and the 

Development Management DPD undertaken in February to April 2018.  

2.38 The Basic Conditions Statement comments on how the policies of the Plan 

are in conformity with adopted and emerging Local Plan policies. I consider in 

further detail in Section 3 below the matter of general conformity with the 

strategic policies of the plan. 

Basic Condition 4 – Compatible with EU obligations and human 

rights requirements   

2.39 A neighbourhood plan must be compatible with European Union obligations 

as incorporated into UK law, in order to be legally compliant. Key directives 

relate to the Strategic Environmental Assessment Directive and the Habitats 

and Wild Birds Directives. A neighbourhood plan should also take account of 

the requirements to consider human rights.  

2.40 Regulation 15 of the Neighbourhood Planning Regulations as amended in 

2015 requires either that a Strategic Environmental Assessment is submitted 

with a Neighbourhood Plan proposal or a determination from the responsible 

authority (Lancaster City Council) that the plan is not likely to have “significant 

effects.” 

2.41 A SEA Screening Report was prepared by Lancaster City Council. This 

concluded in paragraph 4.1 that “Initial internal screening of the 

Neighbourhood Plan concludes that it is unlikely that the Neighbourhood Plan 

would result in a significant environmental effect. It is however recognised 

that the Neighbourhood Plan is being brought forward in advance of the Land 

Allocations document and as such does not benefit from higher level 

appraisal. That said the strong focus of the Neighbourhood Plan on the 

protection of the environment, its AONB focus and lack of allocations, albeit 

one allocation within a previously developed site in the centre of the village, 

make it unlikely to result in significant effects.”  

2.42 I have concerns about the adequacy of this screening in the light of advice in 

the PPG on SEA in Paragraph: 046 Reference ID: 11-046-20150209. This 

states that 

“Whether a neighbourhood plan proposal requires a strategic environmental 

assessment, and (if so) the level of detail needed, will depend on what is 

proposed. A strategic environmental assessment may be required, for 

example, where: 

• a neighbourhood plan allocates sites for development 

• the neighbourhood area contains sensitive natural or heritage assets that 

may be affected by the proposals in the plan 

• the neighbourhood plan is likely to have significant environmental effects 

that have not already been considered and dealt with through a 

sustainability appraisal of the Local Plan.” 

Page 73

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/local-plans--2


Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Plan Independent Examiner’s Report Final 
Rosemary Kidd MRTPI Planning Consultant Page 11 

2.43 The SEA screening includes contradictory statements saying that there are 

no allocations in the plan in Table 1 line 4 and in Table 2 second line a). 

Elsewhere in Table 1 line 8 and in Table 2 second line b) reference is made 

to the Hoskins Farm site but not the other sites set out in Policy H1. The 

conclusion is also contradictory referring to a “lack of allocations, albeit one 

allocation within a previously developed site in the centre of the village”.  

2.44 Whilst the screening considers the impact on the AONB, the impact of the 

allocations on other environmental designations including the listed buildings 

and conservation area in the village has not been considered. Historic 

England do not appear to have commented on the screening report, although 

they have lodged objections to the assessment of four site allocations under 

Policy H1 in the site assessment report (Appendix 3 of the Plan). The Sites 

Assessment Report refers to a number of environmental considerations which 

should have informed the SEA screening.  

2.45 The statutory environmental bodies: Historic England, Natural England and 

the Environment Agency were consulted on the SEA and HRA Screening 

Reports in May 2017. 

2.46 I have raised my concerns with the Lancaster City Council. In response, the 

Council’s Conservation Officer has undertaken a Heritage Impact 

Assessment (HIA) of three sites WR5 – Hoskins Farm, WR9 – Old Chapel 

Field and WR11 – New Inn Car Park. Historic England have been consulted 

on the HIA and they have agreed that provided that the HIA is included as 

evidence to support the WNP that a SEA would not be required. Natural 

England and the Environment Agency have been re-consulted and have 

raised no issues with the content and outcome of the SEA Screening Report. 

2.47 I recommend therefore that for the WNP to proceed, the LPA as the 

responsible body corrects the factual errors and omissions in the SEA 

Screening Report concerning the number of allocations and the significance 

of the heritage assets. Reference to the HIA and a summary of its 

conclusions should also be included. The HIA should be published as a 

separate background evidence report to the Plan. 

2.48 I have taken account of the recent judgement of Case 323/1/Court of Justice 

of the European Union “People over Wind and Peter Sweetman v Coillte”. 

The Court of Justice of the European Union (CJEU) ruled that Article 6(3) of 

the Habitats Directive must be interpreted as meaning that mitigation 

measures (referred to in the judgement as measures which are intended to 

avoid or reduce effects) should be assessed within the framework of an 

appropriate assessment (AA) and that it is not permissible to take account of 

measures intended to avoid or reduce the harmful effects of the plan or 

project on a European site at the screening stage. 

2.49 The HRA screening report for the Wray NP contains recommendations for 

additional wording to be added to policies to ensure protection of the 

European Sites.  

Page 74



Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Plan Independent Examiner’s Report Final 
Rosemary Kidd MRTPI Planning Consultant Page 12 

2.50 I have asked the LPA to review the recent CJEU ruling and consider whether 

an Appropriate Assessment should be undertaken of the Wray NP in the light 

of this judgement.   

2.51 LCC has responded to say “The initial screening report concluded in table 3 

that, in the absence of mitigation measures, no likely significant effects on the 

designated sites as a result of the implementation of the policy. Whilst 

additional wording was suggested to improve the policy this was made 

following the above conclusion and was suggested to improve the wording of 

the policy and add clarity and not as mitigation. In this respect the council do 

not believe that the initial screening report is affected by the above ruling. It is 

recognised that paragraph 6.3 of the report implies the need for this wording 

to be included within the policy to avoid significant effects. This was not the 

intention of table 3 and as such if required the paragraph could be amended 

to make this clear.” 

2.52 I agree with the comments made by LCC that the HRA screening should be 

amended to improve its clarity. 

2.53 The Basic Conditions statement includes a section on Human Rights and 

states in section 4.4 that “The Plan has regard to the fundamental rights and 

freedoms guaranteed under the European Convention on Human rights and 

complies with the Human Rights Act 1998”.  

2.54 However no assessment has been provided of how the plan has had regard 

to Human Rights. From the evidence provided in the Consultation Statement, 

I am satisfied that adequate efforts were made to consult the community and 

to take appropriate account of the views expressed. I am not aware of any 

matters that would lead me to believe that Human Rights have not be given 

due account.   

2.55 I am not aware of any other European Directives which apply to this particular 

Neighbourhood Plan and no representations at pre or post-submission stage 

have drawn any others to my attention. Subject to the recommended 

modifications and taking all of the above into account, I am satisfied that the 

WNP is compatible with EU obligations and therefore with Basic Conditions 

Nos 4 and 5. 

Recommendation 2: For the Plan to proceed, the LPA as the responsible body 

should correct the factual errors and omissions in the SEA Screening 

Report concerning the number of allocations and the significance of the 

heritage assets. Reference to the HIA and a summary of its conclusions 

should also be included. The HIA should be published as a separate 

background evidence report. 

 For the Plan to proceed, the LPA as the responsible body should correct 

the HRA Screening Table 3 and the screening conclusion to make it 

explicit that the revisions are to improve the clarity of the policies and 

are not mitigation measures. 

Page 75



Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Plan Independent Examiner’s Report Final 
Rosemary Kidd MRTPI Planning Consultant Page 13 

The LPA should prepare an explanatory note summarising the 

corrections that have been made to the SEA and HRA Screening 

Reports that should be published alongside the corrected reports. 

 

Consultation on the Neighbourhood Plan  

2.56 I am required under The Localism Act 2011 to check the consultation process 

that has led to the production of the Plan. The requirements are set out in 

Regulation 14 in The Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012.  

2.57 The Consultation Statement sets out an overview of the various stages of 

consultation that have been carried out during the preparation of the Wray 

with Botton Neighbourhood Plan. It highlights the aims of the consultation and 

summarises the consultation process undertaken during the preparation of 

the plan. Feedback from each stage of the consultation is recorded in the 

Appendices of the evidence report.  

2.58 The preparation of the Neighbourhood Plan commenced in September 2014 

with a public meeting. This was followed by: 

• Parish wide opinion surveys (individual and local organisations) in 2015 

• Housing Needs Survey 

• Local business survey 

• Visitor survey 

• Landowner consultation 

• Village ‘Open Day’ (July 2015 and March 2017) 

• Discussions with local groups including school and youth group 

• Regular articles in the village newsletter ‘The Wrayly Mail’ 

• Consultations with external bodies/organisations (national bodies and 

organisations/neighbouring Parish and local councils etc.) 

• The Regulation 14 pre-submission consultation ran from 30 September 

until 10 November 2017. 

2.59 Publicity for the consultation events was undertaken through: 

• A Neighbourhood Plan page on the Parish Council website;  

• Regular articles in the Wrayly Mail; 

• Publicity leaflets on noticeboards and distributed to all households;  

• By publishing minutes of Steering Group meetings on the Parish Council 

website; and 

• Documents were made available at the Village Institute. 

2.60 The Regulation 16 consultation on the Submission Draft Plan was undertaken 

by Lancaster City Council between 11 June until 23 July 2018. Eleven 

representations were received, some making several comments. In addition, 

six responses were received from organisations that offered no comments on 

the plan. I have taken into account the points made in the representations in 

preparing my report. 

Page 76



Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Plan Independent Examiner’s Report Final 
Rosemary Kidd MRTPI Planning Consultant Page 14 

2.61 I am satisfied that the consultation and publicity on the draft Plan has met the 

requirements of Regulations 14, 15 and 16 in the Neighbourhood Planning 

(General) Regulations 2012.  

2.62 This report is the outcome of my examination of the Submission Draft Version 

of the Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Plan 2011 - 2031. I am required to 

give reasons for each of my recommendations and also provide a summary of 

my main conclusions. My report makes recommendations based on my 

findings on whether the Plan meets the Basic Conditions and provided the 

Plan is modified as recommended, I am satisfied that it is appropriate for the 

Neighbourhood Plan to be made. If the plan receives the support of over 50% 

of those voting, then the Plan will be made following approval by Lancaster 

City Council.   

Page 77



Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Plan Independent Examiner’s Report Final 
Rosemary Kidd MRTPI Planning Consultant Page 15 

3.0  Neighbourhood Plan – As a whole 

3.1 The Neighbourhood Plan is considered against the Basic Conditions in this 

section of the Report following the structure and headings in the Plan. Given 

the findings in Section 2 above that the plan as a whole is compliant with 

Basic Conditions No 4 (EU obligations) and other prescribed conditions, this 

section largely focuses on Basic Conditions No 1 (Having regard to National 

Policy), No 2 (Contributing to the achievement of Sustainable Development) 

and No 3 (General conformity with strategic policies of the Development 

Plan).  

3.2 Where modifications are recommended, they are presented and clearly 

marked as such and highlighted in bold print, with any proposed new wording 

in italics. 

3.3 Basic Condition 1 requires that the examiner considers whether the plan as a 

whole has had regard to national policies and advice contained in guidance 

issued by the Secretary of State. Before considering the policies individually, I 

have considered whether the plan as a whole has had regard to national 

planning policies and supports the delivery of sustainable development.  

3.4 The Plan is well presented with policies relating to sustainable development, 

the built environment, housing, the rural economy, the natural environment 

community and transport and infrastructure. Many of the policies in the Plan 

have been adapted from those in the emerging Arnside and Silverdale AONB 

DPD which is currently undergoing Public Examination. The WNP areas lies 

within the Forest of Bowland AONB which has its own distinctive character 

and care is therefore needed to ensure that the policies in the WNP are 

relevant to and reflect its characteristics and special qualities. I have carefully 

considered each policy to ensure that it is applicable to the WNP area and 

provides land use planning policy; that it is clearly worded and is capable of 

being applied consistently by decision makers.  

3.5 Lancaster City Council has commented that the WNP needs to strike a 

balance in making provision for the needs of the local area against 

safeguarding the important designations such as the AONB. I have also been 

mindful that Plan area contains part of the Bowland Fells SPA and Wray 

village contains a conservation area and several listed buildings and other 

heritage assets.  

3.6 Historic England has made a number of comments about the need to 

strengthen the plan to better consider the impact of development on the 

historic environment, historic assets and their settings. I have commented on 

these under the relevant policies and recommended revisions where 

appropriate.     

3.7 Six sites are proposed for allocation for housing development and a further 

three are identified as having potential to come forward for housing during the 

plan period. I have commented on these under Policy H1.   

Page 78



Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Plan Independent Examiner’s Report Final 
Rosemary Kidd MRTPI Planning Consultant Page 16 

3.8 Three maps are included in the Plan showing the boundary of the plan area, 

the townscape appraisal of the conservation area and the village character 

analysis. Appendix 1 includes two maps entitled Proposals Maps, firstly of the 

whole parish showing boundaries of the AONB and the Bowland Fells Special 

Protection Area and secondly an inset map of the village showing the housing 

allocations and other sites referred to in policies of the WNP. The relevant 

Policy number is identified against some sites but not all. The Proposals 

Maps are legible and the keys are clear. It is recommended that the key links 

all site designations to the relevant policy. I have made recommendations 

under Policies H1 and COM1 to improve the mapping of sites. For ease of 

use the Proposals Maps should be included in the NP document rather an 

Appendix. 

3.9 Nineteen site options have been assessed for their potential for housing 

development. These are assessed in the Site Selection and Assessment 

Report (Appendix 3 to the WNP). The Report describes each site and 

considers their suitability, availability and achievability. Where it is concluded 

that the site is suitable for housing development key development 

considerations are set out should development be proposed on the site.  

3.10 A Landscape Appraisal of the Plan area was undertaken by independent 

consultants which sought to identify the special qualities of Wray and its 

setting. The Appraisal included a description of the various landscape 

character types in the plan area; an assessment of the special qualities of the 

conservation area including comments from the conservation area appraisal 

on the views into and out of the village; and the description of Local Character 

Areas in and around the village. The report gives a detailed assessment of 

the potential housing site options considering the potential impact of the 

development of each site on the landscape, the village, the conservation area 

and its setting.  

3.11 Several policies include the statement that “development will not be 

permitted” in specified circumstances. It is considered that this does not have 

regard to national policy. NPPF paragraph 2 states that “Planning law 

requires that applications for planning permission must be determined in 

accordance with the development plan, unless material considerations 

indicate otherwise”. A Neighbourhood Plan policy will be taken into account 

by decision makers but it cannot tie the hands of decision makers in 

determining planning applications. I have made recommendations under 

relevant policies to delete this wording. 

3.12 LCC has suggested that the policy numbers should be different from those in 

the Local Plan to avoid any confusion by decision makers. I make no 

comment on the suggestion other than to note that other neighbourhood 

plans use the initial letters from the plan name.  

Recommendation 3: Include the Proposals Maps in the Plan rather than an 

Appendix. 

Page 79



Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Plan Independent Examiner’s Report Final 
Rosemary Kidd MRTPI Planning Consultant Page 17 

The Neighbourhood Plan - Policies 

Introduction 

3.13 The introduction sets out the context for the Plan and includes lengthy quotes 

from the NPPF and the Forest of Bowland Management Plan. In order to 

make the WNP more succinct it is recommended that this section should 

include references to the relevant key themes but avoid lengthy quotes as 

these will become out of date over time and the documents are revised.  

3.14 I have raised concerns about the adequacy of the SEA and HRA screening 

reports. As a consequence Section 1.7 should be rewritten to reflect the 

action taken. 

Recommendation 4: Revise section 1.3 to highlight the relevant key themes 

without quoting from the documents.  

Revise section 1.7 to set out the final position on the SEA / HRA 

screening reports. 

 

Vision and Objectives 

3.15 The Plan’s vision has been developed through discussion with the local 

community. Reference to this should be included in paragraph 3.1.3 rather 

than being in the Vision box itself. The Vision statements of the AONB 

Management Plan and the Local Plan are quoted in the introductory section. 

In order to provide a clearer focus on the Plan’s Vision, it is recommended 

that the Vision statements set out on page 24 from other sources are deleted. 

3.16 Eight objectives have been set out. The justification sets out how they have 

been delivered through the Plan. Historic England has made a representation 

that proposes revisions to objectives (I) and (II) to ensure that they are 

consistent with local and national policies by deleting the words “compatible 

with” and replacing it with more appropriate wording. I also recommend that 

“compatible with” in objective (VI) should be replaced. These revisions would 

improve the wording of the objectives and ensure that they are consistent with 

national and local policies.  

3.17 LCC considers that Objective (III) which refers to” meeting the housing needs 

of the Parish” is too restrictive. They argue that the village is a sustainable 

settlement and there is a need for the Plan to ensure that the housing needs 

of the wider rural area are achieved. Whilst the Housing Needs Survey has 

ascertained the housing needs of the parish, the village is considered to be 

capable of helping to deliver housing to meet the housing needs of a wider 

rural area.  

3.18 I agree with the sentiments expressed, however it is not possible for the WNP 

to determine and plan for the housing needs arising from outside the plan 

area. This requires guidance to be set out in the Local Plan. To ensure that 

Page 80



Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Plan Independent Examiner’s Report Final 
Rosemary Kidd MRTPI Planning Consultant Page 18 

the Objective is not unduly restrictive, it is recommended that “of the Parish” 

is deleted. 

Recommendation 5: Delete the Vision statements from other Plans from page 

24 of the WNP. Delete the following “Based on engagement with the 

community and the key issues identified” from the Vision box and add 

the text to paragraph 3.1.3.  

Revise Objective (I) to read: Development conserves and enhances the 

existing…. “. 

Revise Objective (II) to read: “…..village of Wray to sustain and enhance 

the Conservation Area at its core.” 

Revise Objective (III) to read: “The housing needs are met ….”. 

Revise Objective (VI) to read: “Development safeguards and 

enhances….” 

 

Policy OS1 Development Strategy 

3.19 Although the policy is entitled “Development Strategy” its focus is on 

delivering sustainable development and this may be a more appropriate title.  

3.20 The second paragraph states that “Development that harms this purpose or 

which would have an adverse impact on an international, national or locally 

designated site will not be permitted”. It is considered that this ties the hand of 

decision makers and does not have regard to NPPF paragraph 2 as there 

may be other policies or material considerations that should be taken into 

account. Development Management DPD Policy DM27 sets out the approach 

to considering development proposals on internationally and nationally 

designated biodiversity sites in accordance with NPPF paragraph 113. 

Distinctions are made between the hierarchy of international, national and 

local sites so that protection is commensurate with their status. LCC has 

commented that the WNP does not clearly define locally designated sites. It is 

therefore recommended that the sentence is deleted. 

3.21 Historic England has commented to say that the policy should include 

reference to the conservation and enhancement of the historic environment, 

heritage assets and their setting in line with national and local policies. I agree 

that the policy has not given adequate weight to heritage matters and propose 

revisions to ensure that it better reflect national and local policies. 

3.22 LCC has confirmed that Wray has been defined as a sustainable settlement 

in the Local Plans since 2004. The status has been carried forward into the 

emerging Strategic Policies & Land Allocations DPD. It is noted that Wray 

with Botton PC has lodged representations to Wray’s position as a 

sustainable settlement.  

Page 81



Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Plan Independent Examiner’s Report Final 
Rosemary Kidd MRTPI Planning Consultant Page 19 

3.23 LCC has expressed concern about the narrow focus of the WNP in only 

meeting the housing needs of the Parish. I agree that growth and investment 

should not be restricted to the needs of the Parish only as the settlement may 

have the potential to provide for the community needs of residents of the 

surrounding more remote rural areas. It is recommended that this limitation is 

deleted from the third paragraph of the policy.  

3.24 LCC has expressed concern that the Plan has not been sufficiently proactive 

and positive in the consideration of development opportunities in the area. 

They consider that sites have been discounted prematurely and opportunities 

for potential housing delivery have been missed.  

3.25 In the light of these inconsistencies, LCC has doubts about the robustness of 

the conclusions of the site assessment work and as a consequence whether 

the Plan is positive enough in pursuing opportunities to meet future 

development needs.  

3.26 The Council cites the misapplication of the S106 agreement referred to in 

paragraphs 2.4.2 and 2.4.3 of the Plan which is considered to act as a 

restraint on development to the east of the village. The Parish Council and 

LCC have provided me with legal opinions about the S106 agreement. The 

agreement prohibits the development of the land and is binding on the 

successors in title. There is, however, legal provision for LCC to revoke the 

S106 should they wish to remove the restriction on all or part of the site so 

that it may be allocated for development.  

3.27 The second example refers to inconsistencies between the findings of the 

Parish Council’s landscape assessment and that prepared by LCC. It is clear 

that the report prepared by Alison Farmer for the Parish Council is a more 

detailed report and has considered the findings of the Arcadis report prepared 

for the District as a whole as part of its assessment of the landscape of the 

Plan area. The report does conclude in paragraph 7.2.10 that “there is some 

capacity for housing in the southern part of site WR1”. LCC is concerned that 

the findings have been discounted without any clear or robust justifications.  

3.28 I am satisfied that the Site Assessment Report has been a comprehensive 

appraisal of the sites around the village and has taken account of, amongst 

other things, the findings of the City Council’s SHLAA, the landscape 

assessment and the importance of the sites for use during the scarecrow 

festival as well as the S106 agreement. The selected sites have been 

considered through consultations.  

3.29 It is suggested that should additional sites be required for housing 

development when the Plan is reviewed in the future, the revocation of the 

S106 agreement should be considered and it should not be viewed as an 

insurmountable constraint. 

3.30 Under the heading of “Major Development” the policy includes a number of 

statements that are either quoted from or interpret the NPPF guidance in 

paragraph 116 on major development in AONBs. The sections add no locally 

Page 82



Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Plan Independent Examiner’s Report Final 
Rosemary Kidd MRTPI Planning Consultant Page 20 

specific guidance on the matter and it is therefore recommended that they 

should be deleted from the policy. The explanatory text in the justification 

should be retained and paragraph 4.3.10 amended to delete reference to the 

policy setting out the approach to considering major development and 

replacing it with reference to the NPPF.   

3.31 Under the heading of “Brownfield Land” the text is a reminder that the impact 

of a development on brownfield land should be given full and careful 

consideration on the AONB. The section adds no locally specific guidance on 

the matter and it is therefore recommended that it should be deleted from the 

policy. The explanatory text in paragraph 4.3.12 of the justification provides 

general guidance on how development on brownfield sites should be 

considered although it is recommended that it be strengthened to include 

reference to the “historic environment, heritage assets and their setting”.  

Recommendation 6: Revise Policy OS1 as follows: 

Revise the title of the policy to “Delivering Sustainable Development” 

Delete “Development that harms this purpose or which would have an 

adverse impact on an international, national or locally designated site 

will not be permitted”. 

Delete “within the Parish” from the third paragraph. 

Add the following at the end of the third paragraph: “historic 

environment, heritage assets and their setting”.  

Revise criterion (I) by deleting “settlement” and replacing it with 

“historic environment, heritage assets and their setting”. 

Delete the section headed Major Development and the subsequent 

criteria. Delete the following from paragraph 4.3.10: “The policy sets 

out…..AONBs.” 

Delete the section headed Brownfield Land and paragraph 4.3.11. Add 

the following to the end of paragraph 4.3.12 “or historic environment, 

heritage assets and their setting”.  

 

Policy OS2 Landscape 

3.32 The policy requires development proposals to demonstrate how they will 

conserve and enhance the landscape and natural beauty of the area. The 

second sentence sets out the circumstances where “proposals will not be 

permitted”. As stated previously this form of wording does not have regard to 

national guidance. It is recommended that it be revised to read “Proposals 

should not….”  

3.33 Criterion (III) refers to proposals respecting views (including those into and 

out from the AONB). A number of viewpoints in Wray village are shown on 

Page 83



Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Plan Independent Examiner’s Report Final 
Rosemary Kidd MRTPI Planning Consultant Page 21 

Proposals Map 2 and it is recommended that these should be cross 

referenced to this policy and it should refer to the Plan area rather than the 

AONB. The QB has commented that the criterion is not limited to these 

viewpoints. A recommendation is made to improve the clarity of the criterion.  

3.34 I have asked the QB and LCC how it is intended that criterion (IV) is to be 

applied in considering development proposals. LCC has suggested that it is 

for developers and decision makers to ask themselves: “Can the impacts of 

this development proposal (in the context set out in the policy) on the 

landscape character and visual amenity be mitigated?”  If yes, proceed with 

drawing up proposal/considering proposal in principle (i.e. subject to all other 

considerations).  If no, modify or refuse permission. It is recommended that 

this explanation should be added to the justification to aid the interpretation of 

the criterion for developers and decision makers.  

Recommendation 7: Revise Policy OS2 as follows: 

Revise the second sentence to read “Proposals should not have an 

adverse impact on……” 

Revise criterion (III) to read: “respect visual amenity, views within, into 

or out of the Neighbourhood Plan area (including but not limited to 

those shown on the Proposals Map),….. 

Add the following to the justification to aid the interpretation of criterion 

(IV): “When considering the cumulative and incremental impacts of 

development, developers and decision makers should ask themselves: 

‘Can the impacts of this development proposal (in the context set out in 

the policy) on the landscape character and visual amenity be 

mitigated?’  If yes, proceed with drawing up proposal/considering 

proposal in principle (i.e. subject to all other considerations).  If no, 

modify or refuse permission.” 

 

Built Environment 

Policy BE1 Design 

3.35 The policy sets out a number of matters that are to be taken into account in 

considering the design of development. LCC has commented that the policy 

is confusing and repetitive. I have asked the QB and LCC to consider and 

agree revisions to the policy to simplify and clarify it. The recommendation 

reflects the wording that has been agreed subject to an amendment in 

criterion (II) to replace “AONB” with “Plan area”.  

Recommendation 8: revise Policy BE1 as follows: 

“For development proposals in the Neighbourhood Plan area the 

highest standards of design and construction will be required to 

Page 84



Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Plan Independent Examiner’s Report Final 
Rosemary Kidd MRTPI Planning Consultant Page 22 

conserve and enhance the landscape, built environment, distinctive 

settlement character and historic, cultural and architectural features. 

“In addition to design requirements set out in the Local Plan, the design 

of developments in the Neighbourhood Plan area should be informed by 

the Wray with Botton Landscape Appraisal (2017) and, where 

appropriate, the Wray Conservation Area Appraisal (2009) and should: 

I. Respond to the character of the landscape and local built 
environment including buildings, boundary treatments, open 
spaces, trees, roofscapes, village layout and have particular to 
regard to the local vernacular, building to plot / green space 
ratios and to the quality, integrity, character and settings of 
natural, built and historic features;  

II. Reinforce what is special and locally distinctive about design in 
the Plan area through the careful consideration of visual amenity, 
layout, views, scale, height, solid form and massing, proportions, 
alignment, detailing, lighting, materials used, colours, finishes 
and the nature of development;  

III. Provide well designed landscape schemes that retain distinctive 
trees and include new structural planting that contributes to the 
character and amenity value of the area;  

IV. Ensure that boundary treatments, screening and entranceways 
reflect local character and context including retention (or 
appropriate replacement where necessary) of existing features of 
value such hedgerows, trees, verges and traditional stone walls 
through careful consideration of materials and heights for gates, 
gateposts and fencing and the use of appropriate species for 
planting; and 

V. Avoid using development that is harmful to landscape and 
settlement character to inform the design of new development or 
proximity to it as justification for further poor quality or harmful 
development. 

 

Policy BE2 Local Design Panels 

3.36 This policy proposes that members of the Parish Council and representatives 

of the Forest of Bowland AONB Joint Advisory Committee should be included 

in Local Design Panels. 

3.37 This is a procedural matter and not a land use planning policy. It is 

recommended that it is deleted. The policy may be included in the Plan as 

Community Action. 

Recommendation 9: Delete Policy BE2. Include it in a new section of the Plan 

on Community Actions noting that this is an aspiration of the Parish 

Council and not a land use planning policy. 

  

Page 85



Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Plan Independent Examiner’s Report Final 
Rosemary Kidd MRTPI Planning Consultant Page 23 

Housing 

Policy H1 Housing Development 

3.38 Core Strategy Policy SC3 and the Development Management DPD Policy 

DM42 identify Wray as a sustainable community. Policy SC3 states than an 

allowance of 10% of new homes is made to accommodate development to 

meet local needs in villages.  

3.39 As part of its preparation for the emerging Local Plan LCC has prepared its 

objectively assessed housing needs. However, no apportionment has been 

set out of the amount of housing growth for each village. In accordance with 

NPPF paragraph 54, as the sustainable village is one that has a minimum 

level of 5 services, it is expected to help to meet the housing needs of more 

remote or isolated rural communities. 

3.40 The WNP has been prepared on the basis of meeting the priority for identified 

affordable and other local housing needs within the capacity of the landscape. 

A Housing Needs Survey has been undertaken of households in the parish. 

With a response rate of 58.6% this identified a need for 9 affordable dwellings 

of varying types and sizes by 2020 in addition to other housing needs that 

would be met through the open market. No indication has been provided of 

the likely scale of housing need in other nearby parishes. 

3.41 Development Management DPD Policy DM41 sets targets for affordable 

housing in a rural area of 20% on sites of between 5 and 9 dwellings and of 

30% of sites of 10 or more dwellings. Policy DM42 sets out provisions for 

rural exceptions sites.  

3.42 Policy H1 gives support to housing development where the maximum number 

of affordable homes is to be delivered. To improve the clarity of the policy, it is 

recommended that reference to the need to test the viability of development 

proposals is included. I give further consideration to the provision of 

affordable housing under Policy H2 which sets a target of at least 50% 

affordable housing.  

3.43 The figures in the Plan demonstrate that 28 new dwellings are proposed as 

either commitments or allocations and this amounts to a 13% increase in the 

number of households in the parish.  

3.44 The only current strategic guidance on the level of growth is that in Policy 

SC3 which proposes an allowance of 10% of the overall housing 

requirements of the Lancaster District Core Strategy. Both the LPA and QB 

have highlighted that the 10% figure is a generic figure for the rural area of 

the district as a whole and the ability to deliver such growth will be determined 

by development opportunities or physical constraints. 

3.45 LCC is seeking to provide indicative housing growth figures for 

neighbourhood plan areas, including Wray-with-Botton, in the new Local Plan. 

However, these figures will only be robustly tested at Examination in early 

2019 and cannot therefore be given weight in the WNP Examination. 

Page 86



Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Plan Independent Examiner’s Report Final 
Rosemary Kidd MRTPI Planning Consultant Page 24 

3.46 In the absence of strategic guidance on how the parish should accommodate 

housing needs from the surrounding remote rural areas, I have to conclude 

that the Plan is supporting the delivery of new homes for the parish that will 

contribute to the current rural areas allowance of 10% of the overall housing 

requirements of the Lancaster District Core Strategy. It is suggested that once 

robust figures have been agreed through the new Local Plan, the housing 

provision in the WNP area should be reviewed.  

3.47 The third paragraph states that affordable housing is to be delivered in 

accordance with demand. However, the Proposals Map includes phasing for 

the Hoskins Farm site of between 6-10 years with the other sites of between 

years 1-5. Paragraph 4.5.3 explains the expected date the Hoskins Farm site 

will be released. In view of the small scale of the sites and low level of 

development that is proposed in the plan area, it is considered unnecessary 

to phase the sites. In any case it may be difficult to enforce phasing should 

the circumstances around the timing of the release of any of the sites change. 

3.48 The final paragraph of the policy refers to development proposals affecting 

international, national or locally designated sites not being permitted. It is 

unclear what is meant by “designated sites”. Development Management DPD 

Policy DM27 sets out the approach to considering development proposals on 

internationally and nationally designated biodiversity sites in accordance with 

NPPF paragraph 113 which states that distinctions should be made between 

the hierarchy of international, national and local sites so that protection is 

commensurate with their status. It is therefore recommended that this 

paragraph should be deleted although the footnote referring to Policy DM27 

may be retained in the justification for information. 

3.49 Six sites are set out in a box beneath the policy and headed “Allocated Sites”. 

Three of these sites already have planning permission and should therefore 

be identified as commitments in the justification. The sites to be allocated 

should be included in the box for Policy H1. It is noted that site WR9 Old 

Chapel Field has been omitted from Proposals Map in error.  

3.50 Paragraph 4.5.6 and the subsequent table identify three sites as suitable sites 

with potential to come forward for housing in the plan period. However the 

landowners have not given a positive confirmation that the sites are available. 

As these are not allocations, I am therefore recommending that paragraph 

4.5.6 and the subsequent table be deleted. Paragraph 4.5.7 should be 

revised to delete the higher figure of 40 and 18%. The suitability and 

deliverability of the sites should be reviewed as and when the WNP is 

updated.  

3.51 The Housing Sites Selection and Assessment report includes Key 

Development Considerations for the development of each site. Historic 

England has suggested that they should be referred to in the policy. I agree 

that these important considerations should be included in the policy to provide 

guidance for plan users on the nature of the development and the 

environmental safeguards required.  

Page 87



Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Plan Independent Examiner’s Report Final 
Rosemary Kidd MRTPI Planning Consultant Page 25 

3.52 Historic England has lodged a number of representations to the site 

assessment report for the following sites: Hoskins Farm, the Old Chapel 

Field, the New Inn and the New Inn Car Park, that insufficient consideration 

has been given to the significance of the heritage assets and the potential 

impact of the development of the sites on their settings and the conservation 

area.   

3.53 I have asked the LPA to consider the points made and undertake a Heritage 

Impact Assessment of the sites. This has been undertaken by the Council’s 

Conservation Officer and includes conclusions and recommendations for 

each development site. It is recommended that these should be included in 

an Appendix to the Plan and the key recommendations included in the Key 

Considerations for each site.  

Recommendation 10: revise Policy H1 as follows: 

Add the following at the beginning of the second paragraph: “Subject to 

the assessment of viability, new housing development …..” 

Delete the second sentence of paragraph 3 of the policy “The delivery of 

affordable housing shall be phased…at any one time.”  

Delete the final paragraph of the policy “Development which …..will not 

be permitted.” 

Include a new paragraph in Policy H1: “Housing developments shall 

take account of the Key Considerations set out in Appendix 3 on Site 

Selection and Assessment and the recommendations in Appendix X on 

Heritage Impact Assessment.” Include the Key Considerations within 

Policy H1 for the site allocations WR5, WR9 and WR11. 

On the Proposals Map, show site WR9, differentiate between housing 

commitments and allocations and delete the phasing periods. 

Delete paragraph 4.5.6 and the subsequent table. Revise paragraph 4.5.7 

to read “…would therefore be about 28…representing an increase of 

13% ….” 

 

Policy H2 Housing Provision 

3.54 This policy seeks to set an affordable housing target of at least 50%, although 

it includes provision for a lower percentage where it can be demonstrated to 

be unachievable. LCC has commented that the robustness of the evidence 

for the 50% requirement which is set out in the relevant policy in the emerging 

DPD, is still being investigated. In the circumstances, the requirement should 

be deleted as it cannot be demonstrated to be deliverable.   

3.55 I have asked the QB to supply me with the evidence to support their target of 

50%. They have stated that they are relying on the evidence prepared for the 

Page 88



Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Plan Independent Examiner’s Report Final 
Rosemary Kidd MRTPI Planning Consultant Page 26 

Publication Draft Local Plan which is promoting a 50% affordable housing 

requirement across the AONB areas and that there is no evidence that this 

requirement is any less deliverable on the Hoskins Farm site than on any 

other sites within either of the AONBs. 

3.56 However, the Local Plan’s 50% requirement has yet to be tested at 

examination, and so may change before adoption. In the circumstances, it is 

recommended that Policy H2 should be revised to refer to the Local Plan 

policy which sets the affordable requirement for the Local Plan area’s AONBs 

(currently Policy DM6). 

3.57 The Plan is not clear in how it will help to deliver sites needed to meet the 

current housing needs of the area, particularly for affordable housing. The 

Plan could have selected a rural exceptions site under Policy DM42. But this 

opportunity has not been pursued. Other than the Hoskins Farm site which is 

unlikely to be delivered for at least five years, sites for new housing are small 

and are unlikely to deliver any affordable housing to meet the currently 

identified need. 

3.58 Much of Policy H2 repeats the wording in Policy H1. This is unnecessary and 

I recommend that the repetitious text should be deleted. 

3.59 The fourth paragraph of the policy is an explanation of the need for a 

continuing supply of affordable housing and the need for close working with 

Registered Providers. This is not policy and should be placed in the 

justification. Reference to phasing should be deleted in accordance with my 

recommendation on Policy H1.  

3.60 Part of criterion (II) supports proposals that restrict occupancy to sole/main 

residence. I have asked the QB for their evidence to support this policy 

restriction. They have replied that they do not have any specific local 

evidence. In view of the lack of robust evidence, it is recommended that 

reference to restricting occupancy to sole/main residence should be deleted 

from criterion (II) and the last sentence of paragraph 4.5.9. 

Recommendation 11: revise Policy H2 as follows: 

 Revise the first sentence of Policy H2 to read: “…proposals for new 

housing development should deliver affordable housing in accordance 

with the adopted Local Plan policy on affordable housing, taking into 

account the assessment of viability of the development.” 

Delete paragraph 2, the second sentence of paragraph 3 and criterion (I). 

Place the fourth paragraph in the justification and delete “phased”. 

Delete “or restrict occupancy to sole/main residence” from criterion (II) 

and delete the last sentence form paragraph 4.5.9. 

 

Page 89



Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Plan Independent Examiner’s Report Final 
Rosemary Kidd MRTPI Planning Consultant Page 27 

Rural Economy 

Policy RE1 Economic Development 

3.61 Policy RE1 sets out the type of development that will be supported in the 

AONB in order to bring economic and community benefits.  

3.62 Criterion (I) includes “allocated mineral extraction or waste management” 

which are considered to be excluded development under section 61K of the 

Town and Country Planning Act 1990. It is recommended that the term be 

deleted. 

3.63 Historic England has commented on criterion (III) which gives support to 

economic development for the purpose of conservation or enhancement of 

sites of heritage, biodiversity or geodiversity. These are factors taken into 

consideration in assessing the suitability of sites and buildings for 

development proposals rather than business uses. It is considered that this 

criterion is unclear and imprecise. The need to consider the assessment of 

these matters is adequately addressed in Local Plan policies and the criterion 

should be deleted.  

3.64 Criterion (IV) supports residential extensions or extensions to outbuildings. 

The QB has confirmed that it is intended that they are to provide space for 

employment purposes. They have proposed a revision to the criterion which I 

recommend should be made. 

3.65 Criterion (VI) refers to micro-growth points for business development. The QB 

has explained that this term means very small scale development that 

supports the growth or diversification of new or existing businesses which 

may include but is not restricted to live-work units. It would be helpful to plan 

users if this explanation were included in the justification to the policy.  

3.66 Local Plan Policies DM8 and DM9 set out a number of criteria that are to be 

satisfied in the conversion or re-use of rural buildings and agricultural 

buildings. It is therefore recommended that Policy RE1 makes reference to 

both these policies as part of the requirements. A revision to paragraph two of 

the policy is recommended.  

3.67 The third paragraph of the policy refers to development proposals affecting 

international, national or locally designated sites not being permitted. It is 

unclear what is meant by “designated sites”. Development Management DPD 

Policy DM27 sets out the approach to considering development proposals on 

internationally and nationally designated biodiversity sites in accordance with 

NPPF paragraph 113 which states that distinctions should be made between 

the hierarchy of international, national and local sites so that protection is 

commensurate with their status. It is therefore recommended that this 

paragraph should be deleted although the footnote reference to Policy DM27 

may be retained in the justification for information. 

3.68 The final paragraph of the policy seeks to safeguard land below the 50m AOD 

contour. Whilst I can appreciate the aspirations of the plan makers to 

Page 90



Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Plan Independent Examiner’s Report Final 
Rosemary Kidd MRTPI Planning Consultant Page 28 

safeguard the areas of better quality land in the parish, national planning 

policy states that best and most versatile land refers to land classified as 

grades 1, 2 and 3a. Paragraph 4.6.6 of the WNP acknowledges that most of 

the land is Grade 3b. It is considered that this aspect of the policy has not had 

regard to national planning policy and a modification is recommended to 

delete the paragraph.  

3.69 Paragraphs 4.6.3 to 4.6.5 describe various historic and environmental 

features of the plan area. To aid interpretation of the policy, it is 

recommended that these descriptive paragraphs should be deleted from the 

justification to this policy and may be included under the sections on the 

historic and natural environment as appropriate.   

3.70 Paragraph 4.6.8 includes reference to a “site for potential commercial 

development” adjacent to Bridge House Tea Rooms. As the landowner has 

not indicated a willingness to bring the site forward it cannot be considered as 

deliverable as a proposal of the Plan and should be deleted from the Plan. It 

may be reconsidered as and when the Plan is reviewed. 

3.71 LCC has commented that the policy should make it clear that it refers to 

“sustainable economic growth”. I agree that it would be helpful to make this 

explicit in the title to the policy. 

Recommendation 12: Revise Policy RE1 as follows: 

Revise the title of the Policy to “Policy RE1: Sustainable Economic 

Development”. 

Delete “allocated mineral extraction or waste management” from 

criterion (I). 

Delete criterion (III). 

Revise criterion (IV) to read: “House extensions or extensions to 

outbuildings for economic (non-residential) purposes that are ancillary 

to the existing dwelling and are sympathetic to the character of the 

original building and its setting;” 

Revise criterion (V) to read: “Subject to satisfying the requirements of 

Local Plan Policy DM9 or its successor policy in the emerging Local 

Plan, sensitive conversions…..” 

Revise the second paragraph to read “Subject to satisfying the 

requirements of Local Plan Policies DM8 or DM9 or its successor policy 

in the emerging Local Plan, the re-use of rural buildings or agricultural 

buildings to support tourism and the visitor economy will be 

supported.”  

Delete the third paragraph: “Development which would.….will not be 

permitted.” 

Page 91



Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Plan Independent Examiner’s Report Final 
Rosemary Kidd MRTPI Planning Consultant Page 29 

Delete the final paragraph of the policy and paragraph 4.6.6. 

Delete paragraphs 4.6.3 and 4.6.4. 

Delete the last two sentences from paragraph 4.6.8 “However, one site 

(C1)….commercial development) and site C1 from the Inset Map for 

Wray Village. 

Add an explanation in the justification of the term micro-growth points: 

“These are very small scale developments that support the growth or 

diversification of new or existing businesses which may include but is 

not restricted to live-work units.” 

 

Natural Environment 

Policy NE1 Conservation and Enhancement of the Natural 

Environment 

3.72 The policy seeks to safeguard the natural environmental features of the 

AONB including those of biodiversity value, landscape and trees and 

hedgerows. Three policies in the Development Management DPD: DM27 on 

Protection and Enhancement of Biodiversity, DM28 on Development and 

Landscape Impact and DM29 on Protection of Trees, Hedgerows, and 

Woodland provide a clear framework for considering development proposals 

affecting the natural environment. The role of a policy in a neighbourhood 

plan should be to provide a more detailed policy approach based on an 

understanding of the local circumstances.  

3.73 Policy NE1 is a wordy policy which is partly descriptive. However, it provides 

very little additional understanding of the biodiversity and natural assets of the 

plan area. There is a degree of overlap with Policy OS2 on Landscape. It 

refers to the Forest of Bowland AONB but makes no mention of the 

biodiversity sites including the SPA, Biological Heritage Site and SSSI that 

are shown on the Constraints Overview Map. It seeks the reinforcement of 

green corridors but does not identify them. It refers to the characteristics of 

the AONB including those that do not enjoy formally protected status. No 

explanation is given as to which these sites are.  

3.74 The QB has supplied me with a paragraph for the justification that describes 

the biodiversity assets of the plan area including the significance of the Forest 

of Bowland SPA, the Biological Heritage Site and the SSSI shown on the 

Environmental Constraints map in Appendix 4. It is recommended that this 

text should be included in the justification. 

3.75 It is considered that the first three paragraphs of the policy do not add a local 

dimension to that set out in the Development Management Policies. They are 

unclear and imprecise and would be difficult for decision makers to implement 

consistently. There is an overlap in the approach to landscape conservation 

and enhancement with Policy OS2. It is recommended therefore that the first 

Page 92



Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Plan Independent Examiner’s Report Final 
Rosemary Kidd MRTPI Planning Consultant Page 30 

three paragraphs of the policy should be deleted and the title of the policy 

revised to reflect the revised policy.  

3.76 The fourth paragraph of the policy refers to the removal or damage to trees, 

woodland and hedgerows. The conservation of the hedgerows marking 

historic field patters is identified as important. This paragraph adds some 

localised policy matters to that set out in Policy DM29 and is therefore 

considered worthy of retention. The policy gives attention to the replacement 

of any trees lost through development but places limited emphasis on their 

retention. In response to my question, the QB has proposed revisions to the 

wording of the policy that strengthens the policy in this respect. I recommend 

that the policy and justification be revised accordingly.  

3.77 Paragraph 4.7.1 should be revised to explain that development proposals that 

affect the natural environmental assets should be considered against the 

relevant Local Plan policies. Paragraph 4.7.2 should be revised to remove 

reference to the Parish Council’s viewpoint. 

Recommendation 13: Delete the first three paragraphs of Policy NE1. 

Revise the title of Policy NE1 to “Protection and enhancement of Trees, 

Woodland and Hedgerows.” 

Add the following at the beginning of the fourth paragraph of Policy NE1 

to read: “New development should protect and enhance existing trees, 

woodland and hedgerows unless there are clear and demonstrable 

reasons why their removal would aid delivery of a better development 

overall, and should positively incorporate new trees, woodland and 

hedgerows where possible.”  

Revise the last sentence of the fourth paragraph of the policy to read: 

“The conservation of those hedgerows…..habitat connectivity as well as 

for their contribution to …….Wray Conservation Area.” 

Revise paragraph 4.7.1 to read: “Development proposals that affect the 

natural environmental assets and sites of biodiversity importance will 

also be considered against Development Management DPD Policies 

DM27, DM28 and DM 29 or their successor policies.” 

Delete the third sentence from paragraph 4.7.2: “The Parish Council felt 

that….would be useful. Therefore”. 

Revise paragraph 4.7.3 to reflect the revisions to the policy wording to 

emphasise the protection and enhancement of trees, woodland and 

hedgerows. 

Add a new paragraph to describe the biodiversity assets shown on the 

environmental constraints map in Appendix 4 as follows:  

“The Neighbourhood Plan Area includes a number of areas which have 

been designated for their environmental importance at an International, 

Page 93



Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Plan Independent Examiner’s Report Final 
Rosemary Kidd MRTPI Planning Consultant Page 31 

National and Local level. The area includes the Bowland Fells Special 

Protection Area (SPA) which is an extensive upland area providing 

important habitats for protected plant and bird species. The area also 

includes Roeburndale Woods and Clear Beck Meadows Sites of Special 

Scientific Importance (SSSI) and a number of more locally designated 

Biological Heritages sites. Such local designations include Middle 

Wood, Neddy Park Wood, Quarry Wood (including Hoskins Wood, Mill 

Wood and Spout Brow Wood), Bank Wood and Hunt’s Gill Wood, 

Powley Wood (including Beck Gill Wood, Scroggy Wood, Audland Close 

Wood, Stubb Wood and Tenter Hill Wood), the Stables Bank Wray 

Bridge, Alcocks Farm Grasslands, Over Close Wood and Proctor Wood, 

Well Beck Wood (including Helks Home Wood and Middlefield Wood) 

and Fall Wood Coppice.” 

 

Policy NE2 Local Green Space 

3.78 Two sites are proposed to be designated as Local Green Space following an 

assessment carried out in accordance with LCC’s methodology. This is 

contained in Appendix 5 of the Plan. It is considered that both sites meet the 

criteria of NPPF paragraph 77.  

3.79 Lancashire County Council has made a representation to the designation of 

the school playing field as the designation may prevent the necessary 

development of school facilities. However, Policy NE2 includes provisions for 

development that supports community services to be considered appropriate 

development and it is considered that this would be sufficient to enable 

provision to be made of any necessary development for additional school 

premises. 

3.80 The first paragraph of the policy should make it clear that the sites are 

designated as ”Local Green Space”. The second sentence describing how the 

sites have been selected is unnecessary and it is recommended that it be 

deleted.  

3.81 The penultimate paragraph refers to development being in accordance with 

paragraphs 89 and 90 of the NPPF. This is the 2012 NPPF which gives 

guidance on Green Belt policy. It is unnecessary and it is recommended that 

it be deleted.  

3.82 The final paragraph states that regard should be given to any designation for 

another purpose, particularly one of higher level protection. It is not clear what 

this is referring to as the Local Green Space designation is of national 

importance. Where there is a conflict between the WNP and any future Local 

Plan policies, national guidance is that the latest policies should apply. It is 

recommended that the last paragraph should therefore be deleted.  

 

 

Page 94



Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Plan Independent Examiner’s Report Final 
Rosemary Kidd MRTPI Planning Consultant Page 32 

Recommendation 14: Revise Policy NE2 as follows: 

Revise the first sentence of the first paragraph to read: “The areas listed 

below are designated as Local Green Space.”  

Delete the second sentence of the first paragraph: “These LGS have 

been put forward……importance.” 

Delete the penultimate and final paragraphs of the policy.  

 

Policy NE3 Historic Environment 

3.83 LCC and Historic England have made a number of comments on the wording 

of this policy. I have asked the QB and LCC to review the policy wording and 

agree revisions in response to the comments made in the representations. I 

consider that the revisions proposed add clarity to the policy and ensure that 

it is in conformity with national and local strategic policies on the historic 

environment. 

3.84 The Proposals Map shows three non designated heritage assets. LCC has 

informed me that they are currently working on compiling a list of Local 

Heritage Assets. The three non designated heritage assets highlighted on the 

Proposals Map will be considered against the selection criteria for inclusion in 

the Council’s List.  

3.85 As the non-designated heritage assets have not yet been included in the 

Council’s List of Non-Designated Heritage Assets, they should be deleted 

from the Proposal Map. They could be included in the WNP on a separate 

map as “Proposed Non-Designated Heritage Assets”.  

3.86 I have recommended under Policy COM1 that the Green Corridor on the 

western bank of the River Roeburn should be recognised under Policy NE3 

for its contribution to the character of the Conservation Area. Reference to the 

area should be included in paragraph 4.7.13.  

Recommendation 15: revise Policy NE3 as follows: 

“To supplement the relevant policies in the Local Plan which relate to 

the historic environment, all development in the Neighbourhood Plan 

area should seek to protect and enhance the unique heritage features 

and the wider historic character of its location. This should include built, 

natural and cultural heritage features and historic landscape character. 

“Where proposals lead to the loss of a designated or non-designated 

heritage asset, in accordance with national planning policy, surveys 

should be undertaken to record their historical interest and build the 

heritage evidence of the Forest of Bowland AONB. 

“Development proposals affecting designated or non-designated 

heritage assets, the latter of which may either be identified on the 

Page 95



Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Plan Independent Examiner’s Report Final 
Rosemary Kidd MRTPI Planning Consultant Page 33 

Council’s Local List, the Historic Environment Record or that are 

discovered during the application proposals, will be supported provided 

that: 

“(I) They conserve and enhance the significance of the asset. This 

may include schemes that specifically aim to (or include 

measures to) protect, restore or enhance historic assets or 

features; 

“(II) They conserve and enhance the character and local 

distinctiveness of the area through design, scale and materials 

used; and 

“(III) They promote the enjoyment, understanding and interpretation of 

the assets as a means of maximising wider public benefits which 

reinforce the character of the village of Wray and sense of place 

within the Forest of Bowland AONB. 

“Proposals which affect historic field patterns in the locality should 

seek to reinforce and reflect those patterns. The loss and fragmentation 

of these assets will be discouraged.” 

Add the following to paragraph 4.7.13: “The green corridor and riverside 

walk along the western bank of the River Roeburn contribute to the 

character of the conservation area and the setting of the village.”  

Delete the Non Designated Heritage Assets from the Proposals Map. 

Include them on a map of Conservation Area Assets as “Proposed Non-

Designated Heritage Assets”. Indicate the Green Corridor along the 

northern bank of the River Roeburn on this map.   

 

Community 

Policy COM1 Community Assets and Local Services 

3.87 Policy COM1 lists a number of community assets which are to be 

safeguarded. Any proposals that would result in their loss are to be 

considered against the criteria set out in Local Plan Policy DM49.  

3.88 The sites are shown on the Proposals Map as numbered stars. It is 

recommended that they are shown in a way that the boundaries of the sites / 

buildings can be determined so that the policy can be used consistently by 

decision makers. The sites should be numbered (instead of bullet points) in 

the policy consistent with that on the Proposals Map. 

3.89 LCC has commented that the policy does not address proposals to provide 

new community assets. It is noted that this matter is addressed in Local Plan 

Policy DM49. 

Page 96



Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Plan Independent Examiner’s Report Final 
Rosemary Kidd MRTPI Planning Consultant Page 34 

3.90 Site 5 on the Map is described as the “former” Friends Meeting House. The 

Qualifying Body has confirmed that the building is used by the community as 

the Methodist Chapel Sunday School. I consider that it is appropriate to 

identify this building as a community asset.  

3.91 LCC has raised concerns about the inclusion of agricultural land used for the 

fairground and car parking for the Scarecrow Festival (site 10). The QB has 

explained this is a long standing community event and the area is the most 

suitable for this popular event. The QB has provided me with a map showing 

the area of agricultural land used for car parking which covers the three fields 

marked with a star no 10 on the Proposals Map and two additional fields to 

the north and west of the village which are not shown on the Proposals Map.  

3.92 I have asked the QB about the planning and legal status of the use. It is 

undertaken through an agreement with the landowner and tenant. No 

evidence has been provided to show that planning permission has been 

granted for the use and I therefore presume that the use is undertaken as 

permitted development use of the land for a limited period of time.  

3.93 This is an extensive area of agricultural land. Should the landowner no longer 

wish to offer the fields for the temporary car parking, planning permission 

would not be required to discontinue the use and Policy COM1 could not be 

applied. Policy COM1 would place an unnecessary restriction on the land and 

it is considered that it would be impractical to apply Policy DM49 to proposals 

for any other forms of development on part of the land. It is therefore 

recommended that the land used for car parking for the scarecrow festival 

should be deleted from the policy and Proposals Map. 

3.94 The Policies Map includes an additional site (11) which is not included in the 

list in Policy COM1. The QB has explained that this site was omitted for the 

text of Policy COM1 in error. The site is an attractive area of land alongside 

the river crossed by the riverside walk; it is identified in the Conservation Area 

Report. The site had been proposed as a Local Green Space but was 

considered to be not sufficiently special to justify designation. As an informal 

open space, it is considered that it would be more appropriate to recognise its 

important contribution to the conservation area under Policy NE3 in 

paragraph 4.7.14. It is recommended that it should be deleted from the 

Proposals Map.  

Recommendation 16: Revise Policy COM1 as follows: 

Delete Community Asset sites 10 from the Proposals Map.  

Delete site 11 from the list of Community Assets on the Proposals Map. 

Include reference to the area in paragraph 4.7.13. 

List and number the assets in Policy COM1 and the key to the Proposals 

Map in the same order and shown the boundaries of the sites/buildings.  

 

Page 97



Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Plan Independent Examiner’s Report Final 
Rosemary Kidd MRTPI Planning Consultant Page 35 

Transport and Infrastructure 

Policy TRA1 Infrastructure for New Development 

3.95 The first paragraph seeks contributions from new development towards new 

or improved infrastructure. The last paragraph and final three criteria list 

improvements to transport that may be sought from development proposals.  

3.96 However, these paragraphs do not make it clear that contributions can only 

be sought from those development proposals which, if it can be shown 

through appropriate Transport Assessments, require contributions to be made 

to infrastructure improvements. The policy should reflect the legal tests for 

planning obligations. 

3.97 A neighbourhood plan policy cannot dictate spending priorities. It can only 

provide guidance as to how planning applications are to be determined. 

Therefore, a policy can only deal with developer contributions which are made 

under the planning obligation. Not only are these required to meet the test of 

paragraph 201 of the 2012 NPPF but also, only five pooled contributions can 

be made towards any one project. That is a requirement laid down by 

Regulation 122 of the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010. 

Contributions therefore can only be collected towards any of the schemes set 

out in the policy, if there is a direct relationship to that development.  

3.98 I therefore do not consider that it is appropriate to list all projects in the policy, 

but these projects can however be set out in the Community Projects section 

of the Plan which could be included in an Appendix. It should be made clear 

that it is not to be taken as development plan policy. I will be recommending 

changes to the first part of the policy. 

3.99 The second paragraph of the Policy requires compliance with relevant Local 

Plan policies and refers to issues raised in the Highways and Transport 

Master Plan. It is considered that reference to Local Plan policies and other 

documents would be appropriately included in the justification to the policy. 

3.100 The third paragraph of the policy and three criteria following set out spending 

priorities for contributions from S106 agreements and CIL.     

3.101 A neighbourhood plan policy must be a policy “related to the use and 

development of land”. A neighbourhood plan sets out planning policies that 

will be used to determine planning applications (PPG para 002 reference ID 

41–0 02–20140306). It goes on to recognise that “neighbourhood planning 

can inspire local people and businesses to consider other ways to improve 

the neighbourhood than through the development and use of land. They may 

identify specific actions or policies to deliver these improvements. Wider 

community aspirations than those related to the use and development of land 

can be included in the neighbourhood plan but actions dealing with non land 

use matters should be clearly identified.” 

3.102 I consider that this policy as written does not relate to development proposals. 

In fact, the policy lists the type of proposals the Parish Council will be seeking 

Page 98



Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Plan Independent Examiner’s Report Final 
Rosemary Kidd MRTPI Planning Consultant Page 36 

to improve: off street parking, improvements to footpaths and the local 

environment. As such it is a Community Aspiration or Project not a land use 

planning policy. It is recommended that it be included in a separate section of 

the Plan as a Community Project.   

Recommendation 17: Revise Policy TRA1 as follows: 

Replace the first and fourth paragraphs with “Where development 

proposals are shown through evidence to be required to contribute 

towards any of the following schemes, so as to make the development 

acceptable, appropriate financial contributions will be sought through a 

planning obligation. Developer contributions towards improved 

community infrastructure will be sought where it is shown that the 

obligation is necessary to make the scheme acceptable in planning 

terms, is directly related to the development and is fairly and reasonably 

related in scale and kind to the development.” List the schemes set out 

in the final three criteria of the policy (“Improvements to the local 

network of cycleways …” 

Place the second paragraph in the justification. 

Reframe the third paragraph and following criteria as a Community 

Project along the lines of “The Parish Council will work with XXX to 

deliver the following projects through the use of S106, CIL, LIT etc.” 

Place the policy in a separate section of the Plan headed Community 

Projects and explain that it is not a land use planning policy. Move 

relevant paragraphs of the justification to the Community Project 

justification.  

 

Implementation and Monitoring 

3.103 LCC has proposed a revision to paragraph 5.5 of this section of the Plan to 

read “….to deliver sustainable growth in new housing over the plan period to 

meet identified local needs.” I agree that this would better reflect the revisions 

recommended elsewhere in my report. 

3.104 Paragraph 5.9 c) states that the Parish Council will undertake a strategic 

review of the Neighbourhood Plan every three years. It would be clearer to 

say that the PC will monitor the progress of implementing the NP and that any 

changes required to the policies will be undertaken through a review of the 

NP.  

Recommendation 18: revise paragraph 5.5 to read: “….to deliver sustainable 

growth in new housing over the plan period to meet identified local 

needs.” 

Revise paragraph 5.9 c) to read: “c) The Parish Council will monitor the 

progress of implementing the Neighbourhood Plan every 3 years. The 

focus of the monitoring will be to ensure that the policies made are 

Page 99



Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Plan Independent Examiner’s Report Final 
Rosemary Kidd MRTPI Planning Consultant Page 37 

effectively contributing to the realisation of the vision and objectives set 

out in the Neighbourhood Plan. Any resulting proposals to correct and 

improve policies to meet the vision and objectives will require to be 

undertaken through a review of the Neighbourhood Plan in full 

collaboration with Lancaster City Council. Evidence will also be 

reviewed and updated as required.”  

Page 100



Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Plan Independent Examiner’s Report Final 
Rosemary Kidd MRTPI Planning Consultant Page 38 

4.0 Referendum  

4.1 The Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Plan reflects the views held by the 

community as demonstrated through the consultations and, subject to the 

modifications proposed, sets out a realistic and achievable vision to support 

the future improvement of the community.  

4.2 I am satisfied that the Neighbourhood Plan meets all the statutory 

requirements, in particular those set out in paragraph 8(1) of schedule 4B of 

the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and, subject to the modifications I 

have identified, meets the Basic Conditions namely:  

• has regard to national policies and advice contained in guidance issued 

by the Secretary of State;  

• contributes to the achievement of sustainable development;  

• is in general conformity with the strategic policies contained in the 

Development Plan for the area;  

• does not breach, and is otherwise compatible with, EU obligations and 

human rights requirements  

4.3 I am pleased to recommend to Lancaster City Council that the Wray with 

Botton Neighbourhood Plan should, subject to the modifications I have 

put forward, proceed to referendum.  

4.4 I am required to consider whether the referendum area should be extended 

beyond the Neighbourhood Plan area. In all the matters I have considered I 

have not seen anything that suggests the referendum area should be 

extended beyond the boundaries of the plan area as they are currently 

defined. I recommend that the Neighbourhood Plan should proceed to a 

referendum based on the neighbourhood area designated by the Lancaster 

City Council on 20 February 2015. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 101



Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Plan Independent Examiner’s Report Final 
Rosemary Kidd MRTPI Planning Consultant Page 39 

5.0 Background Documents 

5.1 In undertaking this examination, I have considered the following documents  

• Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Plan Submission Draft Version 2011 – 

2031 and Appendices dated April 2018; 

• Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Plan Basic Conditions Statement;  

• Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Plan SEA Screening May 2017; 

• Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Plan HRA Screening Report May 2017; 

• Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Plan Consultation Statement May 2018;  

• Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Plan Landscape Appraisal April 2017 

• Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Plan Historic Impact Assessments 

November 2018 

• National Planning Policy Framework March 2012 and July 2018; 

• Planning Practice Guidance March 2014 (as amended); 

• The Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended);  

• The Localism Act 2011;  

• The Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012;  

• Lancaster City Local Development Framework Core Strategy (2003-2021) 

2008;  

• Lancaster City Local Plan Development Management DPD (2011 – 2031) 

2014 

  

Page 102



Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Plan Independent Examiner’s Report Final 
Rosemary Kidd MRTPI Planning Consultant Page 40 

6.0 Summary of Recommendations 

 

Recommendation 1: Revise the date of the Plan period to 2018 – 2031.  

Recommendation 2: For the Plan to proceed, the LPA as the responsible body 

should correct the factual errors and omissions in the SEA Screening 

Report concerning the number of allocations and the significance of the 

heritage assets. Reference to the HIA and a summary of its conclusions 

should also be included. The HIA should be published as a separate 

background evidence report.  

For the Plan to proceed, the LPA as the responsible body should correct 

the HRA Screening Table 3 and the screening conclusion to make it 

explicit that the revisions are to improve the clarity of the policies and 

are not mitigation measures. 

The LPA should prepare an explanatory note summarising the 

corrections that have been made to the SEA and HRA Screening 

Reports that should be published alongside the corrected reports. 

Recommendation 3: Include the Proposals Maps in the Plan rather than an 

Appendix. 

Recommendation 4: Revise section 1.3 to highlight the relevant key themes 

without quoting from the documents.  

Revise section 1.7 to set out the final position on the SEA / HRA 

screening reports. 

Recommendation 5: Delete the Vision statements from other Plans from page 

24 of the WNP. Delete the following “Based on engagement with the 

community and the key issues identified” from the Vision box and add 

the text to paragraph 3.1.3.  

Revise Objective (I) to read: Development conserves and enhances the 

existing…. “. 

Revise Objective (II) to read: “…..village of Wray to sustain and enhance 

the Conservation Area at its core.” 

Revise Objective (III) to read: “The local housing needs are met ….”. 

Revise Objective (VI) to read: “Development safeguards and 

enhances….” 

Recommendation 6: Revise Policy OS1 as follows: 

Revise the title of the policy to “Delivering Sustainable Development” 

Page 103



Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Plan Independent Examiner’s Report Final 
Rosemary Kidd MRTPI Planning Consultant Page 41 

Delete “Development that harms this purpose or which would have an 

adverse impact on an international, national or locally designated site 

will not be permitted”. 

Delete “within the Parish” from the third paragraph. 

Add the following at the end of the third paragraph: “historic 

environment, heritage assets and their setting”.  

Revise criterion (I) by deleting “settlement” and replacing it with 

“historic environment, heritage assets and their setting”. 

Delete the section headed Major Development and the subsequent 

criteria. Delete the following from paragraph 4.3.10: “The policy sets 

out…..AONBs.” 

Delete the section headed Brownfield Land and paragraph 4.3.11. Add 

the following to the end of paragraph 4.3.12 “or historic environment, 

heritage assets and their setting”.  

Recommendation 7: Revise Policy OS2 as follows: 

Revise the second sentence to read “Proposals should not have an 

adverse impact on……” 

Revise criterion (III) to read: “respect visual amenity, views within, into 

or out of the Neighbourhood Plan area (including but not limited to 

those shown on the Proposals Map),….. 

Add the following to the justification to aid the interpretation of criterion 

(IV): “When considering the cumulative and incremental impacts of 

development, developers and decision makers should ask themselves: 

‘Can the impacts of this development proposal (in the context set out in 

the policy) on the landscape character and visual amenity be 

mitigated?’  If yes, proceed with drawing up proposal/considering 

proposal in principle (i.e. subject to all other considerations).  If no, 

modify or refuse permission.” 

Recommendation 8: revise Policy BE1 as follows: 

“For development proposals in the Neighbourhood Plan area the 

highest standards of design and construction will be required to 

conserve and enhance the landscape, built environment, distinctive 

settlement character and historic, cultural and architectural features. 

“In addition to design requirements set out in the Local Plan, the design 

of developments in the Neighbourhood Plan area should be informed by 

the Wray with Botton Landscape Appraisal (2017) and, where 

appropriate, the Wray Conservation Area Appraisal (2009) and should: 

I. Respond to the character of the landscape and local built 
environment including buildings, boundary treatments, open 
spaces, trees, roofscapes, village layout and have particular to 

Page 104



Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Plan Independent Examiner’s Report Final 
Rosemary Kidd MRTPI Planning Consultant Page 42 

regard to the local vernacular, building to plot / green space 
ratios and to the quality, integrity, character and settings of 
natural, built and historic features;  

II. Reinforce what is special and locally distinctive about design in 
the Plan area through the careful consideration of visual amenity, 
layout, views, scale, height, solid form and massing, proportions, 
alignment, detailing, lighting, materials used, colours, finishes 
and the nature of development;  

III. Provide well designed landscape schemes that retain distinctive 
trees and include new structural planting that contributes to the 
character and amenity value of the area;  

IV. Ensure that boundary treatments, screening and entranceways 
reflect local character and context including retention (or 
appropriate replacement where necessary) of existing features of 
value such hedgerows, trees, verges and traditional stone walls 
through careful consideration of materials and heights for gates, 
gateposts and fencing and the use of appropriate species for 
planting; and 

V. Avoid using development that is harmful to landscape and 
settlement character to inform the design of new development or 
proximity to it as justification for further poor quality or harmful 
development. 

 

Recommendation 9: Delete Policy BE2. Include it in a new section of the Plan 

on Community Actions noting that this is an aspiration of the Parish 

Council and not a land use planning policy. 

Recommendation 10: revise Policy H1 as follows: 

Add the following at the beginning of the second paragraph: “Subject to 

the assessment of viability, new housing development …..” 

Delete the second sentence of paragraph 3 of the policy “The delivery of 

affordable housing shall be phased…at any one time.”  

Delete the final paragraph of the policy “Development which …..will not 

be permitted.” 

Include a new paragraph in Policy H1: “Housing developments shall 

take account of the Key Considerations set out in Appendix 3 on Site 

Selection and Assessment and the recommendations in Appendix X on 

Heritage Impact Assessment.” Include the Key Considerations within 

Policy H1 for the site allocations WR5, WR9 and WR11. 

On the Proposals Map, show site WR9, differentiate between housing 

commitments and allocations and delete the phasing periods. 

Delete paragraph 4.5.6 and the subsequent table. Revise paragraph 4.5.7 

to read “…would therefore be about 28…representing an increase of 

13% ….” 

Page 105



Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Plan Independent Examiner’s Report Final 
Rosemary Kidd MRTPI Planning Consultant Page 43 

Recommendation 11: revise Policy H2 as follows: 

 Revise the first sentence of Policy H2 to read: “…proposals for new 

housing development should deliver affordable housing in accordance 

with the adopted Local Plan policy on affordable housing, taking into 

account the assessment of viability of the development.” 

Delete paragraph 2, the second sentence of paragraph 3 and criterion (I). 

Place the fourth paragraph in the justification and delete “phased”. 

Delete “or restrict occupancy to sole/main residence” from criterion (II) 

and delete the last sentence form paragraph 4.5.9. 

Recommendation 12: Revise Policy RE1 as follows: 

Revise the title of the Policy to “Policy RE1: Sustainable Economic 

Development”. 

Delete “allocated mineral extraction or waste management” from 

criterion (I). 

Delete criterion (III). 

Revise criterion (IV) to read: “House extensions or extensions to 

outbuildings for economic (non-residential) purposes that are ancillary 

to the existing dwelling and are sympathetic to the character of the 

original building and its setting;” 

Revise criterion (V) to read: “Subject to satisfying the requirements of 

Local Plan Policy DM9 or its successor policy in the emerging Local 

Plan, sensitive conversions…..” 

Revise the second paragraph to read “Subject to satisfying the 

requirements of Local Plan Policies DM8 or DM9 or its successor policy 

in the emerging Local Plan, the re-use of rural buildings or agricultural 

buildings to support tourism and the visitor economy will be 

supported.”  

Delete the third paragraph: “Development which would.….will not be 

permitted.” 

Delete the final paragraph of the policy and paragraph 4.6.6. 

Delete paragraphs 4.6.3 and 4.6.4. 

Delete the last two sentences from paragraph 4.6.8 “However, one site 

(C1)….commercial development) and site C1 from the Inset Map for 

Wray Village. 

Add an explanation in the justification of the term micro-growth points: 

“These are very small scale developments that support the growth or 

Page 106



Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Plan Independent Examiner’s Report Final 
Rosemary Kidd MRTPI Planning Consultant Page 44 

diversification of new or existing businesses which may include but is 

not restricted to live-work units.” 

Recommendation 13: Delete the first three paragraphs of Policy NE1. 

Revise the title of Policy NE1 to “Protection and enhancement of Trees, 

Woodland and Hedgerows.” 

Add the following at the beginning of the fourth paragraph of Policy NE1 

to read: “New development should protect and enhance existing trees, 

woodland and hedgerows unless there are clear and demonstrable 

reasons why their removal would aid delivery of a better development 

overall, and should positively incorporate new trees, woodland and 

hedgerows where possible.”  

Revise the last sentence of the fourth paragraph of the policy to read: 

“The conservation of those hedgerows…..habitat connectivity as well as 

for their contribution to …….Wray Conservation Area.” 

Revise paragraph 4.7.1 to read: “Development proposals that affect the 

natural environmental assets and sites of biodiversity importance will 

also be considered against Development Management DPD Policies 

DM27, DM28 and DM 29 or their successor policies.” 

Delete the third sentence from paragraph 4.7.2: “The Parish Council felt 

that….would be useful. Therefore”. 

Revise paragraph 4.7.3 to reflect the revisions to the policy wording to 

emphasise the protection and enhancement of trees, woodland and 

hedgerows. 

Add a new paragraph to describe the biodiversity assets shown on the 

environmental constraints map in Appendix 4 as follows:  

“The Neighbourhood Plan Area includes a number of areas which have 

been designated for their environmental importance at an International, 

National and Local level. The area includes the Bowland Fells Special 

Protection Area (SPA) which is an extensive upland area providing 

important habitats for protected plant and bird species. The area also 

includes Roeburndale Woods and Clear Beck Meadows Sites of Special 

Scientific Importance (SSSI) and a number of more locally designated 

Biological Heritages sites. Such local designations include Middle 

Wood, Neddy Park Wood, Quarry Wood (including Hoskins Wood, Mill 

Wood and Spout Brow Wood), Bank Wood and Hunt’s Gill Wood, 

Powley Wood (including Beck Gill Wood, Scroggy Wood, Audland Close 

Wood, Stubb Wood and Tenter Hill Wood), the Stables Bank Wray 

Bridge, Alcocks Farm Grasslands, Over Close Wood and Proctor Wood, 

Well Beck Wood (including Helks Home Wood and Middlefield Wood) 

and Fall Wood Coppice.” 

 

Page 107



Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Plan Independent Examiner’s Report Final 
Rosemary Kidd MRTPI Planning Consultant Page 45 

Recommendation 14: Revise Policy NE2 as follows: 

Revise the first sentence of the first paragraph to read: “The areas listed 

below are designated as Local Green Space.”  

Delete the second sentence of the first paragraph: “These LGS have 

been put forward……importance.” 

Delete the penultimate and final paragraphs of the policy.  

Recommendation 15: revise Policy NE3 as follows: 

“To supplement the relevant policies in the Local Plan which relate to 

the historic environment, all development in the Neighbourhood Plan 

area should seek to protect and enhance the unique heritage features 

and the wider historic character of its location. This should include built, 

natural and cultural heritage features and historic landscape character. 

“Where proposals lead to the loss of a designated or non-designated 

heritage asset, in accordance with national planning policy, surveys 

should be undertaken to record their historical interest and build the 

heritage evidence of the Forest of Bowland AONB. 

“Development proposals affecting designated or non-designated 

heritage assets, the latter of which may either be identified on the 

Council’s Local List, the Historic Environment Record or that are 

discovered during the application proposals, will be supported provided 

that: 

“(I) They conserve and enhance the significance of the asset. This 

may include schemes that specifically aim to (or include 

measures to) protect, restore or enhance historic assets or 

features; 

“(II) They conserve and enhance the character and local 

distinctiveness of the area through design, scale and materials 

used; and 

“(III) They promote the enjoyment, understanding and interpretation of 

the assets as a means of maximising wider public benefits which 

reinforce the character of the village of Wray and sense of place 

within the Forest of Bowland AONB. 

“Proposals which affect historic field patterns in the locality should 

seek to reinforce and reflect those patterns. The loss and fragmentation 

of these assets will be discouraged.” 

Add the following to paragraph 4.7.13: “The green corridor and riverside 

walk along the western bank of the River Roeburn contribute to the 

character of the conservation area and the setting of the village.”  

Page 108



Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Plan Independent Examiner’s Report Final 
Rosemary Kidd MRTPI Planning Consultant Page 46 

Delete the Non Designated Heritage Assets from the Proposal Map. 

Include them on a map of Conservation Area Assets as “Proposed Non-

Designated Heritage Assets”. Indicate the Green Corridor along the 

western bank of the River Roeburn on this map.   

Recommendation 16: Revise Policy COM1 as follows: 

Delete Community Asset sites 10 from the Proposals Map.  

Delete site 11 from the list of Community Assets on the Proposals Map. 

Include reference to the area in paragraph 4.7.13. 

List and number the assets in Policy COM1 and the key to the Proposals 

Map in the same order and shown the boundaries of the sites/buildings.  

Recommendation 17: Revise Policy TRA1 as follows: 

Replace the first and fourth paragraphs with “Where development 

proposals are shown through evidence to be required to contribute 

towards any of the following schemes, so as to make the development 

acceptable, appropriate financial contributions will be sought through a 

planning obligation. Developer contributions towards improved 

community infrastructure will be sought where it is shown that the 

obligation is necessary to make the scheme acceptable in planning 

terms, is directly related to the development and is fairly and reasonably 

related in scale and kind to the development.” List the schemes set out 

in the final three criteria of the policy (“Improvements to the local 

network of cycleways …” 

Place the second paragraph in the justification. 

Reframe the third paragraph and following criteria as a Community 

Project along the lines of “The Parish Council will work with XXX to 

deliver the following projects through the use of S106, CIL, LIT etc.” 

Place the policy in a separate section of the Plan headed Community 

Projects and explain that it is not a land use planning policy. Move 

relevant paragraphs of the justification to the Community Project 

justification.  

Recommendation 18: revise paragraph 5.5 to read: “….to deliver sustainable 

growth in new housing over the plan period to meet identified local 

needs.” 

Revise paragraph 5.9 c) to read: “c) The Parish Council will monitor the 

progress of implementing the Neighbourhood Plan every 3 years. The 

focus of the monitoring will be to ensure that the policies made are 

effectively contributing to the realisation of the vision and objectives set 

out in the Neighbourhood Plan. Any resulting proposals to correct and 

improve policies to meet the vision and objectives will require to be 

undertaken through a review of the Neighbourhood Plan in full 

Page 109



Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Plan Independent Examiner’s Report Final 
Rosemary Kidd MRTPI Planning Consultant Page 47 

collaboration with Lancaster City Council. Evidence will also be 

reviewed and updated as required.” 

Page 110



Lancaster City Council
WRAY-WITH-BOTTON NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN

Decision Statement: Wray-with-Botton Neighbourhood Plan Proceeding 
to Referendum

1.0 Summary
 

1.1 In line with Regulation 18 of the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 
(NPR) Lancaster City Council have produced this ‘Decision Statement’ in relation to the 
Wray-with-Botton Neighbourhood Development Plan (the ‘Plan’) submitted to them by 
Wray-with-Botton Parish Council.

1.2 The Plan sets out a vision for the Parish and establishes the type of development 
needed to help sustain the community. If made, it will become part of the development 
plan for land use and development proposals within the Parish until 2031. 

1.3 Following an independent examination of written representations, Lancaster City Council 
now confirms that the Plan will proceed to a neighbourhood planning referendum subject 
to the modifications set out in the table below. 

1.4 In accordance with the examiner’s recommendation, the Wray-with-Botton 
Neighbourhood Plan will proceed to a public referendum scheduled for Thursday 30th 
May 2019. 

1.5 This Decision Statement, along with the independent examiners report and the plan 
documents can be inspected at: https://www.lancaster.gov.uk/planning/planning-
policy/community-rights/neighbourhood-planning 

2.0 Background 

2.1 On 11th November 2014 Wray-with-Botton Parish Council submitted an application to 
Lancaster City Council for the designation of the Parish as a Neighbourhood Area. The 
approval of the Neighbourhood Area Designation, for the Wennington Neighbourhood 
Plan, was made on the 6th March 2015. 

2.2 The Parish Council subsequently prepared the Wennington Draft Neighbourhood 
Development Plan. The 6 week pre-submission consultation period ended on 15th 
October 2017. 

Page 111

https://www.lancaster.gov.uk/planning/planning-policy/community-rights/neighbourhood-planning
https://www.lancaster.gov.uk/planning/planning-policy/community-rights/neighbourhood-planning


2.3 The Submission version of the Neighbourhood Plan for Wennington was completed and 
submitted to Lancaster City Council on 3rd May 2018. Lancaster City Council held a 6 
week consultation period on the submitted Plan from 11th June 2018 until 23rd July 2018, 
in accordance with regulation 16 of the NPR. 

2.4 An Independent Examiner (Mrs Rosemary Kidd) was appointed in September 2018 to 
undertake the examination of the Submission version of the Wray-with-Botton 
Neighbourhood Plan and this was completed with the final examination report sent to 
both the Parish Council and District Council on 12th December 2018. 

3.0 Decisions and Reasons 

3.1 The Examiner has concluded that, with certain modifications, the Plan meets the Basic 
Conditions and other relevant legal requirements. The Council’s Cabinet concurs with 
this view and has determined that the modifications set out in the table attached to this 
Statement are in accordance with the examiner’s recommendations. 

3.2 The local authority must consider each of the recommendations made in the Examiner’s 
report and decide what action to take in response. The table attached to this statement 
sets out the examiner’s recommended modifications and the Council’s decisions in 
respect of each of them. 

3.3 Lancaster City Council is therefore satisfied that, subject to the modifications being 
made, the Draft Neighbourhood Plan meets the legal requirements and basic conditions 
as set out in legislation; thus the plan can proceed to referendum. 

3.4 Therefore, to meet the requirements of the Localism Act 2011, a referendum which 
poses the question “Do you want Lancaster City Council to use the Neighbourhood 
Plan for Wray-with-Botton to help it decide planning applications in the 
neighbourhood area?” will be held on Thursday 30th May 2019. 

Page 112



Examiner’s Recommended Changes

Proposed Change Council response

Recommendation 1 Revise the date of the Plan period to 2018 – 2031.  Accept the Change

Recommendation 2

For the Plan to proceed, the LPA as the responsible body should correct the factual errors and omissions in 
the SEA Screening Report concerning the number of allocations and the significance of the heritage assets. 
Reference to the HIA and a summary of its conclusions should also be included. The HIA should be published 
as a separate background evidence report. 

For the Plan to proceed, the LPA as the responsible body should correct the HRA Screening Table 3 and the 
screening conclusion to make it explicit that the revisions are to improve the clarity of the policies and are 
not mitigation measures. 

The LPA should prepare an explanatory note summarising the corrections that have been made to the SEA 
and HRA Screening Reports that should be published alongside the corrected reports

Accept the Change

Recommendation 3 Include the Proposals Maps in the Plan rather than an Appendix. Accept the Change

Recommendation 4
Revise section 1.3 to highlight the relevant key themes without quoting from the documents.  

Revise section 1.7 to set out the final position on the SEA / HRA screening reports. 
Accept the Change

Recommendation 5

Delete the Vision statements from other Plans from page 24 of the WNP. Delete the following “Based on 
engagement with the community and the key issues identified” from the Vision box and add the text to 
paragraph 3.1.3.  

Revise Objective (I) to read: Development conserves and enhances the existing…. “. 

Revise Objective (II) to read: “…..village of Wray to sustain and enhance the Conservation Area at its core.” 

Revise Objective (III) to read: “The local housing needs are met ….”. 

Accept the Change

P
age 113



Revise Objective (VI) to read: “Development safeguards and enhances….” 

Recommendation 6

Revise Policy OS1 as follows: 

Revise the title of the policy to “Delivering Sustainable Development” 

Delete “Development that harms this purpose or which would have an adverse impact on an international, 
national or locally designated site will not be permitted”. 

Delete “within the Parish” from the third paragraph.
 
Add the following at the end of the third paragraph: “historic environment, heritage assets and their 
setting”.  

Revise criterion (I) by deleting “settlement” and replacing it with “historic environment, heritage assets and 
their setting”. 

Delete the section headed Major Development and the subsequent criteria. Delete the following from 
paragraph 4.3.10: “The policy sets out…..AONBs.” 

Delete the section headed Brownfield Land and paragraph 4.3.11. Add the following to the end of paragraph 
4.3.12 “or historic environment, heritage assets and their setting”.  

Accept the Change

Recommendation 7

Revise Policy OS2 as follows: 

Revise the second sentence to read “Proposals should not have an adverse impact on……” 

Revise criterion (III) to read: “respect visual amenity, views within, into or out of the Neighbourhood Plan 
area (including but not limited to those shown on the Proposals Map),…

Add the following to the justification to aid the interpretation of criterion (IV): “When considering the 
cumulative and incremental impacts of development, developers and decision makers should ask 

Accept the Change

P
age 114



themselves: ‘Can the impacts of this development proposal (in the context set out in the policy) on the 
landscape character and visual amenity be mitigated?’  If yes, proceed with drawing up 
proposal/considering proposal in principle (i.e. subject to all other considerations).  If no, modify or refuse 
permission.” 

Recommendation 8

Revise Policy BE1 as follows: 

“For development proposals in the Neighbourhood Plan area the highest standards of design and 
construction will be required to conserve and enhance the landscape, built environment, distinctive 
settlement character and historic, cultural and architectural features. “In addition to design requirements 
set out in the Local Plan, the design of developments in the Neighbourhood Plan area should be informed by 
the Wray with Botton Landscape Appraisal (2017) and, where appropriate, the Wray Conservation Area 
Appraisal (2009) and should: I. Respond to the character of the landscape and local built environment 
including buildings, boundary treatments, open spaces, trees, roofscapes, village layout and have particular 
to 

regard to the local vernacular, building to plot / green space ratios and to the quality, integrity, character 
and settings of natural, built and historic features;  II. Reinforce what is special and locally distinctive about 
design in the Plan area through the careful consideration of visual amenity, layout, views, scale, height, solid 
form and massing, proportions, alignment, detailing, lighting, materials used, colours, finishes and the 
nature of development;  III. Provide well designed landscape schemes that retain distinctive trees and 
include new structural planting that contributes to the character and amenity value of the area; IV. Ensure 
that boundary treatments, screening and entranceways reflect local character and context including 
retention (or appropriate replacement where necessary) of existing features of value such hedgerows, trees, 
verges and traditional stone walls through careful consideration of materials and heights for gates, 
gateposts and fencing and the use of appropriate species for planting; and V. Avoid using development that 
is harmful to landscape and settlement character to inform the design of new development or proximity to 
it as justification for further poor quality or harmful development.  

Accept the Change

Recommendation 9 Delete Policy BE2. Include it in a new section of the Plan on Community Actions noting that this is an 
aspiration of the Parish Council and not a land use planning policy.

P
age 115



Recommendation 10

Revise Policy H1 as follows: 
Add the following at the beginning of the second paragraph: “Subject to the assessment of viability, new 
housing development …..” 

Delete the second sentence of paragraph 3 of the policy “The delivery of affordable housing shall be 
phased…at any one time.”  

Delete the final paragraph of the policy “Development which …..will not be permitted.” 

Include a new paragraph in Policy H1: “Housing developments shall take account of the Key Considerations 
set out in Appendix 3 on Site Selection and Assessment and the recommendations in Appendix X on 
Heritage Impact Assessment.” Include the Key Considerations within Policy H1 for the site allocations WR5, 
WR9 and WR11. 

On the Proposals Map, show site WR9, differentiate between housing commitments and allocations and 
delete the phasing periods. 

Delete paragraph 4.5.6 and the subsequent table. Revise paragraph 4.5.7 to read “…would therefore be 
about 28…representing an increase of 13% ….” 

Accept the Change

Recommendation 11

Revise Policy H2 as follows: 
Revise the first sentence of Policy H2 to read: “…proposals for new housing development should deliver 
affordable housing in accordance with the adopted Local Plan policy on affordable housing, taking into 
account the assessment of viability of the development.” 

Delete paragraph 2, the second sentence of paragraph 3 and criterion (I). 

Place the fourth paragraph in the justification and delete “phased”. 
Delete “or restrict occupancy to sole/main residence” from criterion (II) and delete the last sentence form 
paragraph 4.5.9. 

Accept the Change

P
age 116



Recommendation 12

Revise Policy RE1 as follows: 

Revise the title of the Policy to “Policy RE1: Sustainable Economic Development”. 

Delete “allocated mineral extraction or waste management” from criterion (I). 

Delete criterion (III). 

Revise criterion (IV) to read: “House extensions or extensions to outbuildings for economic (non-residential) 
purposes that are ancillary to the existing dwelling and are sympathetic to the character of the original 
building and its setting;” 

Revise criterion (V) to read: “Subject to satisfying the requirements of Local Plan Policy DM9 or its successor 
policy in the emerging Local Plan, sensitive conversions...” 

Revise the second paragraph to read “Subject to satisfying the requirements of Local Plan Policies DM8 or 
DM9 or its successor policy in the emerging Local Plan, the re-use of rural buildings or agricultural buildings 
to support tourism and the visitor economy will be supported.”  

Delete the third paragraph: “Development which would...will not be permitted.” 

Delete the final paragraph of the policy and paragraph 4.6.6. 

Delete paragraphs 4.6.3 and 4.6.4. 

Delete the last two sentences from paragraph 4.6.8 “However, one site (C1)….commercial development) 
and site C1 from the Inset Map for Wray Village. 

Add an explanation in the justification of the term micro-growth points: “These are very small scale 
developments that support the growth or diversification of new or existing businesses which may include 
but is not restricted to live-work units.” 

Accept the Change

P
age 117



Recommendation 13

Delete the first three paragraphs of Policy NE1. 

Revise the title of Policy NE1 to “Protection and enhancement of Trees, Woodland and Hedgerows.” 
Add the following at the beginning of the fourth paragraph of Policy NE1 to read: “New development should 
protect and enhance existing trees, woodland and hedgerows unless there are clear and demonstrable 
reasons why their removal would aid delivery of a better development overall, and should positively 
incorporate new trees, woodland and hedgerows where possible.”  

Revise the last sentence of the fourth paragraph of the policy to read: “The conservation of those 
hedgerows…..habitat connectivity as well as for their contribution to …….Wray Conservation Area.” 

Revise paragraph 4.7.1 to read: “Development proposals that affect the natural environmental assets and 
sites of biodiversity importance will also be considered against Development Management DPD Policies 
DM27, DM28 and DM 29 or their successor policies.” 

Delete the third sentence from paragraph 4.7.2: “The Parish Council felt that….would be useful. Therefore”. 
Revise paragraph 4.7.3 to reflect the revisions to the policy wording to emphasise the protection and 
enhancement of trees, woodland and hedgerows. 

Add a new paragraph to describe the biodiversity assets shown on the environmental constraints map in 
Appendix 4 as follows:  

“The Neighbourhood Plan Area includes a number of areas which have been designated for their 
environmental importance at an International, National and Local level. The area includes the Bowland Fells 
Special Protection Area (SPA) which is an extensive upland area providing important habitats for protected 
plant and bird species. The area also includes Roeburndale Woods and Clear Beck Meadows Sites of Special 
Scientific Importance (SSSI) and a number of more locally designated Biological Heritages sites. Such local 
designations include Middle Wood, Neddy Park Wood, Quarry Wood (including Hoskins Wood, Mill Wood 
and Spout Brow Wood), Bank Wood and Hunt’s Gill Wood, Powley Wood (including Beck Gill Wood, Scroggy 
Wood, Audland Close Wood, Stubb Wood and Tenter Hill Wood), the Stables Bank Wray Bridge, Alcocks 
Farm Grasslands, Over Close Wood and Proctor Wood, Well Beck Wood (including Helks Home Wood and 
Middlefield Wood) and Fall Wood Coppice.”  

Accept the Change

P
age 118



Recommendation 14

Revise Policy NE2 as follows: 

Revise the first sentence of the first paragraph to read: “The areas listed below are designated as Local 
Green Space.”  

Delete the second sentence of the first paragraph: “These LGS have been put forward……importance.” 
Delete the penultimate and final paragraphs of the policy.  

Recommendation 15

Revise Policy NE3 as follows: 

“To supplement the relevant policies in the Local Plan which relate to the historic environment, all 
development in the Neighbourhood Plan area should seek to protect and enhance the unique heritage 
features and the wider historic character of its location. This should include built, natural and cultural 
heritage features and historic landscape character.”

“Where proposals lead to the loss of a designated or non-designated heritage asset, in accordance with 
national planning policy, surveys should be undertaken to record their historical interest and build the 
heritage evidence of the Forest of Bowland AONB.”

“Development proposals affecting designated or non-designated heritage assets, the latter of which may 
either be identified on the Council’s Local List, the Historic Environment Record or that are discovered 
during the application proposals, will be supported provided that: 

“(I) They conserve and enhance the significance of the asset. This may include schemes that specifically aim 
to (or include measures to) protect, restore or enhance historic assets or features; 
“(II) They conserve and enhance the character and local distinctiveness of the area through design, scale and 
materials used; and 
“(III) They promote the enjoyment, understanding and interpretation of the assets as a means of maximising 
wider public benefits which reinforce the character of the village of Wray and sense of place within the 
Forest of Bowland AONB. 
“Proposals which affect historic field patterns in the locality should seek to reinforce and reflect those 
patterns. The loss and fragmentation of these assets will be discouraged.” 

Accept the Change

P
age 119



Add the following to paragraph 4.7.13: “The green corridor and riverside walk along the western bank of the 
River Roeburn contribute to the character of the conservation area and the setting of the village.”  

Delete the Non Designated Heritage Assets from the Proposal Map. Include them on a map of Conservation 
Area Assets as “Proposed Non- Designated Heritage Assets”. Indicate the Green Corridor along the western 
bank of the River Roeburn on this map.   

Recommendation 16

Revise Policy COM1 as follows: 

Delete Community Asset sites 10 from the Proposals Map.  

Delete site 11 from the list of Community Assets on the Proposals Map. Include reference to the area in 
paragraph 4.7.13. 

List and number the assets in Policy COM1 and the key to the Proposals Map in the same order and shown 
the boundaries of the sites/buildings.  

Accept the Change

Recommendation 17

Revise Policy TRA1 as follows: 

Replace the first and fourth paragraphs with “Where development proposals are shown through evidence to 
be required to contribute towards any of the following schemes, so as to make the development acceptable, 
appropriate financial contributions will be sought through a planning obligation. Developer contributions 
towards improved community infrastructure will be sought where it is shown that the obligation is 
necessary to make the scheme acceptable in planning terms, is directly related to the development and is 
fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.” List the schemes set out in the final 
three criteria of the policy (“Improvements to the local network of cycleways …” 

Place the second paragraph in the justification. 

Reframe the third paragraph and following criteria as a Community Project along the lines of “The Parish 
Council will work with XXX to deliver the following projects through the use of S106, CIL, LIT etc.” Place the 
policy in a separate section of the Plan headed Community Projects and explain that it is not a land use 
planning policy. Move relevant paragraphs of the justification to the Community Project justification.  

Accept the Change

P
age 120



Recommendation 18

Revise paragraph 5.5 to read: “….to deliver sustainable growth in new housing over the plan period to meet 
identified local needs.” 
Revise paragraph 5.9 c) to read: “c) The Parish Council will monitor the progress of implementing the 
Neighbourhood Plan every 3 years. The focus of the monitoring will be to ensure that the policies made are 
effectively contributing to the realisation of the vision and objectives set out in the Neighbourhood Plan. 
Any resulting proposals to correct and improve policies to meet the vision and objectives will require to be 
undertaken through a review of the Neighbourhood Plan in full collaboration with Lancaster City Council. 
Evidence will also be reviewed and updated as required.”

Accept the Change

P
age 121



 

  

Page 122



 

 

Referendum Version - January 2019 
2 

 
 

 
 

Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Development Plan 
 
 

2018 - 2031 
 
 

Wray with Botton Parish Council 
 
 

Referendum Version  
 

 
January 2019 

  

Page 123



 

 

Referendum Version - January 2019 
3 

CONTENTS 
 
Foreword 
 
Section 1  INTRODUCTION 

  1.1 What is a Neighbourhood Plan 

  1.2 Why a Neighbourhood Plan for Wray with Botton 

  1.3 Other Documents that guide development in the NP area 

  1.4 Plan Preparation 

  1.5 Community Engagement 

  1.6 Local Authority & Infrastructure Providers Engagement 

1.7 Strategic Environmental Assessment/Habitat Directives 

  1.8 Area Designation 

  1.9 Structure of the NP 
 
Section 2 WRAY WITH BOTTON 

  2.1 Plan Area Overview 

2.2 Historical Context 

2.3 Present Character 
 
Section 3 VISION AND OBJECTIVES 

  3.1 Vision 

  3.2 Objectives 
 
Section 4 POLICIES AND GUIDANCE 

  4.1 Policy Development 

4.2 List of Policies and Proposals Maps 

4.3 Overall Strategy 

4.4 Built Environment 

4.5 Housing 

4.6 Rural Economy 

4.7 Natural Environment 

4.8 Community  

4.9 Transport and Infrastructure 
 

Section 5 IMPLEMENTATION & MONITORING 

 
APPENDICES 

  

Page 124



 

 

Referendum Version - January 2019 
4 

LIST OF APPENDICES (Separate Documents) 
 
Appendix 1  Other documents guiding development in the Neighbourhood Plan Area 
 
Appendix 2  Schedule of Evidence 
   
Appendix 3   Site Selection and Assessment 
 
Appendix 4 Constraints Overview and Environmental Constraints Maps 
 
Appendix 5 Local Green Space 

   
Appendix 6 Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) and Habitat Regulation 

Assessment (HRA) 
  
Appendix 7 Bibliography/References 
   
Appendix 8  Glossary of Terms 
 
Appendix 9 Table of Successor Policies in Emerging Local Plan 
 
Appendix 10 Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Plan Landscape Appraisal 
 
Appendix 11 Heritage Impact Assessment 
  

Page 125



 

 

Referendum Version - January 2019 
5 

 
 
 
 
 
Foreword 
 
Neighbourhood Plans introduced through the Localism Act of 2011 help local communities 
to influence the planning of the area in which they live and work.  
 
Wray with Botton Parish Council chose to prepare a Neighbourhood Plan in 2014 and 
since then, a committee of residents, the Neighbourhood Planning Group (NPG) has met 
regularly to develop the Plan. The creation of a Neighbourhood Plan is a rigorous process 
that has demanded incredible commitment from the members of the NPG, and their efforts 
are to be thoroughly commended.  
 
At the heart of the Plan is the evidence gathered from consultations, surveys and 
professional advice. This evidence has helped shape the Vision and Objectives that in turn 
are set out as Policies which, together with Lancaster City Council’s Local Plan, will shape 
future development in the village and against which planning applications will be judged. 
 
Wray with Botton is a special place with a rich cultural heritage and a strong sense of 
community, set in the protected landscape of the Forest of Bowland Area of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty. The policies drawn up by the NPG are therefore the result of many months 
of careful consideration of all the feedback received from Wray with Botton residents, local 
business, statutory authorities and other stakeholders. Every effort has been made by the 
NPG to ensure that the Plan truly reflects the majority of views of local residents. 
 
Wray with Botton Parish Council is very proud of all the work undertaken by the NPG on its 
behalf.  The Plan has been approved by an independent examiner and will now be 
considered by the City Council before it arranges a referendum of Parish residents to seek 
their support for its adoption. This is the final step towards giving the Parish the security of 
having the Neighbourhood Plan as the legal framework against which all future planning 
applications can be assessed. 
 
George Halstead 

Chairperson, 

Wray with Botton Parish Council  

Page 126



 

 

Referendum Version - January 2019 
6 

Section 1 INTRODUCTION 
 
 
1.1 What is a Neighbourhood Plan? 
 
1.1.1 Neighbourhood Development Plans were introduced in the 2011 Localism Act. 
 
1.1.2 The National Planning Policy Framework (March 2012) states: 
“Neighbourhood planning gives communities direct power to develop a shared vision for 
their neighbourhood and deliver the sustainable development they need. Parishes ….can 
use neighbourhood planning to set planning policies through neighbourhood plans to 
determine decisions on planning applications; and grant planning permission through 
Neighbourhood Development Orders and Community Right to Build Orders for specific 
development which complies with the order (para.183). 
 
1.1.3 Neighbourhood planning provides a powerful set of tools for local people to ensure 
that they get the right types of development for their community. The ambition of the 
neighbourhood should be aligned with the strategic needs and priorities of the wider local 
area. Neighbourhood plans must be in general conformity with the strategic policies of the 
Local Plan. To facilitate this, local planning authorities should set out clearly their strategic 
policies for the area and ensure that an up-to-date Local Plan is in place as quickly as 
possible. Neighbourhood plans should reflect these policies and neighbourhoods should 
plan positively to support them. Neighbourhood plans and orders should not promote less 
development than set out in the Local Plan or undermine its strategic policies (para.184). 
 
1.1.4 Outside these strategic elements, neighbourhood plans will be able to shape and 
direct sustainable development in their area. Once a neighbourhood plan has 
demonstrated its general conformity with the strategic policies of the Local Plan and is 
brought into force, the policies it contains take precedence over existing non-strategic 
policies in the Local Plan for that neighbourhood, where they are in conflict. Local planning 
authorities should avoid duplicating planning processes for non-strategic policies where a 
neighbourhood plan is in preparation (para.185)”. 
 
1.2  Why a Neighbourhood Plan for Wray with Botton? 
 
1.2.1 Wray with Botton Parish lies wholly within the Forest of Bowland Area of 
Outstanding Beauty (AONB). The AONB designation has the statutory purpose of 
conserving and enhancing the natural beauty of the area. This means that the area’s 
landscape has been identified by the Government as being of national importance. 
Designation as an AONB and the resulting legal powers and statutory obligations arise out 
of the National Parks and Access to the Countryside Act 1949 and the Countryside and 
Rights of Way Act 2000. 
 
1.2.2 The AONB is a special place, characterised by the grandeur of the upland core; the 
steep escarpment of the Moorland Hills; the undulating lowlands; the visual contrasts 
between each element of the overall landscape; the serenity and tranquility of the area; the 
distinctive pattern of settlements; the wildlife and the landscape’s historic and cultural 
associations.  Wray with Botton Parish includes many of these characteristics which 
contribute to make it a special place to live, work and play.  

Page 127



 

 

Referendum Version - January 2019 
7 

 
1.2.3 Lancaster City Council along with other public bodies have a statutory duty under 
Section 85 of the Countryside and Rights of Way (CRoW) Act 2000 to have regard to the 
statutory purpose of AONBs in carrying out their functions. Within the AONB, Government 
policy requires that councils give great weight to conserving landscape and scenic beauty.   
Management of the AONB which encompasses 18 parishes within 2 counties with 6 
district councils is coordinated by the AONB partnership with its policy framework over the 
period April 2014 to March 2019 set out in the Forest of Bowland Management Plan1. The 
vision for all partners to work towards is that the Forest of Bowland AONB should retain its 
sense of local distinctiveness, notably the large scale open moorland character of the 
Bowland Fells, traditional buildings and settlement patterns of villages, hamlets and 
farmsteads. Natural and cultural heritage should be sympathetically managed and 
contribute to a sustainable and vibrant local economy. 
 
1.2.4 The two AONBs which lie within the Lancaster District are relatively small and 
sparsely populated compared with the whole and the City Council recognised that the 
District-wide Local Plan would not have the AONBs as their main focus. Whilst the 
administrative burden of dealing with the 6 separate councils in the Forest of Bowland 
AONB was considered too onerous to deal with, nevertheless it has chosen to work with 
South Lakeland District Council to produce a Development Plan Document for the Arnside 
and Silverdale AONB2. The AONB DPD can focus on the AONB and have its conservation 
and enhancement at its heart. It is an important means of implementing the AONB 
Management Plan and will give statutory development plan policy force to some of the 
principles of the management plan when planning applications are considered. The 
Neighbourhood Plan for Wray draws on the work the City Council has done in preparing 
the AONB DPD and seeks a similar approach within the Forest of Bowland. The emerging 
Local Plan now recognises the importance of both AONBs within the District with policies 
which are now acknowledged within the Neighbourhood Plan. 
 
1.2.5 Wray with Botton Parish Council, mindful of its location within the AONB decided in 
Autumn 2014 to draw up a Neighbourhood Development Plan for Wray with Botton 
because it was concerned about a number of issues affecting the Parish: 
 
Issue 1 Meeting the housing needs of the people of Wray 
 
Issue 2 Preserving the historic landscape and townscape of Wray and ensuring that any 

new development in Wray respects these 
 
Issue 3 Finding appropriate uses for sites and buildings in Wray that fall into disuse 
 
1.2.6 By working with Lancaster City Council, the Forest of Bowland AONB, and local 
village groups, Wray with Botton Parish Council established that a Neighbourhood 
Development Plan with appropriate planning policies, allocations and guidance would be a 
good way to address these issues. 
 

                                            
1 Forest of Bowland Management Plan 2014-19  http://forestofbowland.com/Management-Plan 
2 Submission Version Arnside and Silverdale AONB DPD Feb 2018 

Page 128



 

 

Referendum Version - January 2019 
8 

1.2.7 The Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Plan sets out a vision and objectives for the 
future of Wray with Botton and establishes how that vision and objectives will be realised 
by identifying planning policies, allocations and guidance that can control land use and 
development in the parish. 
 
1.3 Other documents guiding development in the Neighbourhood Plan Area 
 
1.3.1 The Neighbourhood Plan (NP) is only one of a number of plans and strategies 
affecting the parish. It will complement existing plans and strategies including the AONB 
Management Plan and other existing and emerging national and local planning policies. 
The NP must be read alongside these other documents in order to understand the full 
range of requirements to which new development will be subject. These other documents 
can be found on national Government, Lancaster City Council and Forest of Bowland 
websites - the most important are briefly described below, with more detail contained in 
Appendix 1: 
 
National Planning Policies 

1.3.2 Local and Neighbourhood Plans must be in general conformity with national 
planning policies set out in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2012)3. The 
NPPF sets out how social, economic and environmental objectives should be achieved 
together. The central theme of the NPPF is a ‘presumption in favour of sustainable 
development’, which provides that areas should meet their own objectively assessed 
development needs, unless the adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits.  
 
1.3.3 However, this provision does not apply in certain places where development is 
restricted because the area is considered to be particularly sensitive to development. This 
restriction includes Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONBs) such as the Forest of 
Bowland. The NPPF emphasises that great weight should be given to conserving 
landscape and scenic beauty in AONBs, and that they have the highest status of 
protection in relation to landscape and scenic beauty. The Neighbourhood Plan has 
therefore positively sought opportunities to meet the development needs of the local area 
in the context of the very high priority given to the protection of landscape character in the 
AONB. 
 
The Lancaster District Local Plan 

1.3.4 The relevant parts of the Lancaster Local Plan are: 

I. The Lancaster District Core Strategy (2008), which sets out the overall development 
strategy and vision for the District. It identifies the AONB as a key element of the District’s 
environmental capital. The overall policy of urban concentration also identified the village of 
Wray as a sustainable location for development to meet local needs. 

II. The Lancaster District Development Management Policies (2014), which sets out 
policies used to help determine planning applications in Lancaster District. It identifies the 

                                            
3 A revised NPPF was published in July 2018 (https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/revised-national-
planning-policy-framework), but local and neighbourhood plans that were submitted for examination in or 
before January 2019 were tested against the 2012 NPPF 
(https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2).  

Page 129

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/revised-national-planning-policy-framework
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/revised-national-planning-policy-framework
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2


 

 

Referendum Version - January 2019 
9 

village of Wray as a sustainable settlement in which it is appropriate for some development 
to take place.  

III. The Arnside and Silverdale Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) Development 
Plan Document (DPD) Submission Version (February 2018). This document sets out the 
overall strategy for development within the AONB, including the identification of sites for 
housing. The DPD is now at an advanced stage and deals with similar issues that arise in 
the area of the Forest of Bowland AONB that lies within Lancaster District. Therefore, for 
the sake of consistency in the District’s two AONBs, the Neighbourhood Plan draws 
strongly on its approach. 

IV. Saved policies of the Lancaster District Local Plan (2004). 
Lancaster City Council has submitted two documents for examination which will form the 
basis of the new Local Plan for the district. These are the Strategic Policies and Land 
Allocations DPD4 for the whole District (excepting the Arnside & Silverdale AONB), and an 
update to the Development Management DPD5. The City Council recognises that 
Neighbourhood Plans are being developed in a number of areas within the District and has 
not allocated specific sites within these areas. The Council expects, via the Neighbourhood 
Plan process, the respective Parish Councils to proactively and positively plan for housing 
growth within their communities. In drafting this NP, full weight has been given to the 
adopted documents noted at (l), (ll) and (lII) above whilst significant consideration has been 
given to the emerging documents as the best representation of the Council’s current 
thinking. 

The Forest of Bowland AONB Management Plan 

1.3.5 The AONB Management Plan is a statutory document. It was prepared by the 
AONB Partnership led by the Joint Advisory Committee comprising county councils, district 
councils, government agencies, representatives of landowners and other interests. The 
Management Plan itself is not part of the statutory Local Plan for the area but it is a 
material consideration in making planning decisions. 
 
1.3.6 The current Management Plan runs from April 2014 to March 2019. It outlines an 
integrated vision for future development of the AONB based on the highest level of shared 
aspirations for the area, taking into account relevant international, national, regional and 
local policies. The NP aims to complement the Management Plan to help deliver its vision 
of an outstanding landscape, resilient and sustainable communities, and a strong 
connection between people and the landscape. 
 
1.4  Plan Preparation 
 
1.4.1 The Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Plan has been prepared in accordance with 
the Localism Act 2011, the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 (“the 
Regulations”), the Town & Country Planning Act 1990, the Planning & Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2003 and EU Directive 2001/42 on Strategic Environmental Assessment. 
 
1.4.2 In order to prepare the Plan, the Parish Council first had to establish the Area and 
make arrangements for decision making and undertaking the work. This included setting 
up a working group and sub-groups for specific areas and themes. Wray with Botton has 
been fortunate enough to be able to draw on local expertise in a variety of specialist areas 

                                            
4 Submission Version May 2018 
5 Submission Version May 2018 

Page 130



 

 

Referendum Version - January 2019 
10 

in the form of volunteers. It also decided that it would need independent specialist help at 
certain points in the Plan-making process. To this end it established a budget including 
grant made available by the Government specifically for the purpose of producing 
Neighbourhood Plans. It was also able to access other support from Lancaster City 
Council including planning advice, preparation of plans and diagrams, screening exercises 
for Sustainability Appraisal under the Strategic Environmental Assessment Directive and 
Habitats Assessment, legality checking etc. and has engaged with the AONB Unit and 
many other bodies through a wide ranging consultation process. 
 
1.5 Community Engagement 
 
1.5.1 Community engagement and consultation lies at the heart of the neighbourhood 
planning process. A questionnaire distributed to all households in October 2014 sought 
comments on the proposed plan boundary and to identify residents’ current concerns. The 
responses were used to develop the vision and objectives for the plan and as a basis for 
discussions with a number of community groups in February and March 2015. The groups 
engaged included Wray Endowed Primary School Governors and Senior Leadership 
Team, Wray School Council (elected body of pupils), Wray Pre-school, Wray Youth Group, 
Holy Trinity Church, Wray Methodist Chapel, the Women's Institute and Wray Scarecrow 
Festival & Fair Committee. At the same time, a large number of other statutory bodies and 
agencies were consulted to identify issues which needed to be taken into account in 
drafting the plan. 
 
1.5.2 As housing was a clear concern for many respondents, a Housing Needs Survey 
was carried out in March 2015. This achieved a response rate of 58.6% which is an 
excellent result for this type of survey. This was followed up in April 2015 with a 
questionnaire distributed to all households which sought residents’ opinions on a number 
of issues including aspects on quality of life, housing and development, jobs and the local 
economy and protection of the environment. During the 2015 Scarecrow Festival and 
Wray Fair, visitors to the village were also invited to give their views on what they thought 
about the area. All this work was brought together at a public open day in July 2015 when 
the results were shown and further comment invited. In addition, the local community 
monthly news sheet, the Wrayly Mail, has been used throughout the development of the 
plan to keep the community informed of progress. A further public open day was held in 
March 2017 to show the progress made with drafting the Neighbourhood Plan, including 
the Housing Needs Survey Report, the draft Landscape Appraisal Report and the 
emerging results of the site selection and assessment process. All landowners of sites 
selected for assessment have been consulted and appraised of the outcome of those 
assessments. General support for the approach and outcomes identified has been noted. 
 
1.5.3 Between 30 September and 10 November 2017 Wray with Botton Parish Council 
undertook a statutory 6-week consultation on Pre-submission Version 3 of the Plan. 
Feedback, suggestions and comments have been carefully considered and where 
appropriate amendments have been made to the Plan accordingly. The comments 
received and the changes made are recorded in the Consultation Statement, available 
on the City Council’s planning website under Wray Neighbourhood Plan. The Consultation 
Statement contains details of all engagement with the community and others in preparing 
this Plan. 
 

Page 131



 

 

Referendum Version - January 2019 
11 

1.5.4 Following submission to the City Council in June 2018, a formal 6 week consultation 
was carried out by the City Council who submitted all comments together with the Plan for 
examination. 
 
1.5.5 The plan was subject to independent examination in late 2018. The Examiner 
submitted her report in December, concluding that the plan satisfied the Basic Conditions 
and should proceed to referendum, subject to a set of 18 recommendations. The report 
and recommendations can be found at https://bit.ly/2WE6wim. 
 
1.6 Local Authority & Infrastructure Providers Engagement 
 
1.6.1 It has been critical to engage with the Local Authority, Lancaster City Council, 
throughout the process as once the Plan has passed the Referendum it will form part of 
Lancaster City Council's Local Plan and any planning applications made for development 
in Wray with Botton from that point on will then be judged against the Neighbourhood Plan 
and other relevant Development Plan Documents. 
 
1.6.2 Preparation of the Plan was happening at the same time as Lancaster City 
Council's Local Plan was evolving. As the Neighbourhood Plan has to be in general 
conformity with the Strategic Policies of the Local Plan, this made it even more important 
to maintain a good dialogue with Lancaster City Council throughout the process. In 
addition, Lancaster City Council has been able to help in a variety of ways in accordance 
with the Duty to Support in the Localism Act. 
 
1.6.3 Infrastructure providers were consulted at an early stage of plan preparation. None 
of those who responded identified particular concerns or restraints other than the 
Environment Agency who drew attention to the Flood Zones within the plan area. 
Lancashire County Council as Highway Authority was unable to provide resources to 
comment on matters of access as part of the site assessment process. At the request of 
Lancaster City Council, the Highway Authority provided brief comments6 in January 2018. 
These comments together with the lengthy experience and professional expertise 
available within the Neighbourhood Planning Group have been used to validate the site 
assessment. Infrastructure providers were consulted again on the Pre-Submission Version 
3 and no comments were received that required any significant changes to be made.   
 
1.7 Strategic Environmental Assessment/Habitats Directives 
 
1.7.1 The Neighbourhood Plan has to be assessed under Sustainability Appraisal (SA) to 
ensure it contributes to sustainable development. This is required by the Strategic 
Environmental Assessment (SEA) Directive7. An assessment is also required under the 
Habitats Regulations8. 
 

                                            
6 Email from David Bloomer (Lancashire CC) to Paul Hatch (Lancaster CC) 24 January 2018 
7 Directive 2001/42/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council on the assessment of the effects of 

certain plans and programmes on the environment 
8 Directive 92/43/EEC of 21 May 1992 on the conservation of natural habitats and of wild fauna and flora. 

The Directive is primarily transposed in England under the Conservation of Habitats and Species 
Regulations 2010 (the Habitats Regulations). 

Page 132

https://bit.ly/2WE6wim


 

 

Referendum Version - January 2019 
12 

1.7.2 Once Wray with Botton decided on their Vision and Objectives they submitted these 
to Lancaster City Council for Strategic Environmental Assessment and Habitats 
Regulations Directives Assessment screenings. The initial screenings concluded that there 
was insufficient information available to determine whether assessments would be 
required. When the Neighbourhood Plan reached pre-submission stage Version 2, it was 
submitted to Lancaster City Council for further screening. The results are provided in 
Appendix 6. The Strategic Environmental Assessment screening concluded that it is 
unlikely that the Neighbourhood Plan would result in a significant environmental effect. The 
Habitats Regulation Assessment Screening Report identified four policies requiring 
amendments to their wording to clarify that there would be no likely significant effects on 
designated sites as a result of their implementation - these amendments were purely to 
improve clarity and did not relate to mitigation measures. These policies were 
subsequently amended to satisfy this recommendation and acknowledged at pre-
submission stage Version 3. No significant changes have been made after this stage 
which would require further screening to be necessary. 
 
1.7.3 As a result of concerns raised by the plan’s independent Examiner, the City Council 
undertook additional Heritage Impact Assessments for a number of proposed allocations 
within the Plan in late 2018 (Appendix 11). Whilst noting potential for impacts the 
assessments provide guidance on how these can be minimised and how through 
development heritage assets could be protected for future generations. This work has 
informed the conclusions of the SEA screening assessment and confirms the City 
Council’s original conclusions that the Plan would be unlikely to result in significant 
environmental effects. 
 
1.8 Area Designation 
 
1.8.1 One of the first actions in the production of the Neighbourhood Plan was to define 
the Plan Area and have it officially designated by Lancaster City Council. 
 
1.8.2 Wray with Botton Parish Council was interested in issues that could affect large 
parts of the Parish area and as such it decided to have the whole of its area designated as 
the Neighbourhood Plan Area. 
 
1.8.3 The Area was submitted to Lancaster City Council for Designation on 11 November 
2014 and, after a 6 week statutory consultation period run by Lancaster City Council, the 
area was designated on 20 February 2015. 
 
  

Page 133



 

 

Referendum Version - January 2019 
13 

 

Page 134



 

 

Referendum Version - January 2019 
14 

1.9 Structure of the Neighbourhood Plan 
 
The document is split into six sections: 
 
Section 1 is this introduction. It tells you what the Neighbourhood Plan is, how it was 
prepared and how it fits into National and Local planning policy. 
 
Section 2 provides a description of the NP area and background information on the history 
and character of the village of Wray   
 
Section 3 sets out the Vision and Objectives for the NP. 
 
Section 4 sets out the policies through which the vision and objectives will be delivered 
and includes proposed allocation of sites for development. 
 
Section 5 considers the monitoring and implementation of the NP  
 
The Appendices are contained in separate documents 

Page 135



 

 

Referendum Version - January 2019 
15 

SECTION 2  Wray with Botton 

2.1 Overview of the Plan Area 

 

2.1.1 The rural parish of Wray with Botton in the City of Lancaster lies in the Forest of 
Bowland Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB). It is about 14.5 km (9 miles) long 
and up to 2.3 km (1.5 miles) wide, comprising the small village of Wray surrounded by 
agricultural land used for grazing cattle and sheep and a sparsely populated, largely 
upland area of open countryside to the south bounded to the east by the River Hindburn. 

 

2.1.2 The village, most of which is within a Conservation Area and where most of the 
population live9, is tucked away at the confluence of the Rivers Roeburn and Hindburn at 
the point where they flow out from their steep-sided wooded valleys into the floodplain of 
the Lune Valley. Steeped in history, characteristics of this pretty and much-visited 
community include a one-deep (linear) Medieval street pattern with little development 
beyond and distant views out to surrounding landscape. 

 

2.1.3 There is a strong tradition of community spirit and action involving people from the 
fells and the village working together. Local people have embraced change, most recently 
as part of the vanguard for community-owned Broadband for the Rural North (B4RN) Ltd, 
a professionally designed, high-speed and world-class fibre optic broadband network 
serving homes in the parish10. 
 

Key Statistics 

Dimensions About 14.5 km (9 miles) in length by up to 2.3 km (1.5 miles) wide 

Area  2171 ha11 all within the Forest of Bowland AONB 

Population 53212 

Households 22213 Note that all bar 20–25 dwellings are located in and around 
the village. More than 90 percent are permanent residences, rather than 
holiday/second homes14 

Listed Buildings 44 (28 within the Wray Conservation Area) (Ref) In addition 
to the Listed Buildings, significant numbers of buildings have been identified as 
Buildings of Special Character  

Businesses 4415 These range from farming to therapy. Many are sole 
proprietors or employ only small numbers of part-time staff or contractors 

                                            
9 Housing Needs Survey Report, 2015 
10 See https://b4rn.org.uk/ (accessed 16/1/17) 
11 Office for National Statistics 
12 Census, 2011  
13 Census, 2011 
14 Housing Needs Survey Report, 2015 
15 Wray Business Survey, 2015 

Page 136

https://b4rn.org.uk/


 

 

Referendum Version - January 2019 
16 

          
Map Wray Conservation Area16  

                                            
16 Wray Conservation Area Appraisal (Lancaster City Council December 2009) 

Page 137



 

 

Referendum Version - January 2019 
17 

2.2 Historical context 
 
2.2.1 The name Wray derives from the old Scandinavian word ‘wra’, a nook or corner 
denoting a remote valley or isolated place. The village was established in about 1200 by 
the Lord of Hornby Castle, and at that time it was an agricultural settlement: 
 

A double set of homesteads faced each other across what became the village 
street, which turned a sharp corner as it approached the Roeburn, and continued 
downhill to a convenient crossing place at the bottom17 

 
2.2.2 That basic layout on Main Street still forms the heart of the village. In the 17th 
century local Quakers refused to pay agricultural tithes to the established church, leading 
the population away from agriculture to industry. By the 19th century the village had 
become a centre of hat, nail and bobbin making. Many vernacular cottages survive from 
the 17th and 18th centuries, often identified by prominent date stones, and their close 
proximity to each other is distinct: 
 

Its [Wray’s] old appearance can be seen in a village such as Arkholme, a single 
street of well-spaced yeoman houses. At Wray the spaces were rapidly filled in, a 
map of the 1770s already showing almost no gaps18 

 
2.2.3 During this time the crossing place, originally a ford, was replaced by a stone bridge 
(late 18th century). Additional buildings ‘with great architectural pretension’19 date from the 
19th century, and architectural historian Nikolaus Pevsner describes Main Street as ‘a 
specially pretty village street with the houses as continuous terraces…’ 
 
2.3 Present character 
 
2.3.1 Place 
 
2.3.1.1 The parish is fully contained within the Forest of Bowland AONB and, as would be 
expected, is strongly characterised by any description of that landscape. As noted in the 
Housing Needs Survey Report20, all the factors used in the designation of the AONB can 
be seen in different parts of the parish. These include21 the 

● Grandeur and isolation of the upland core 

● Steep escarpments of the Moorland Hills 

● Undulating lowlands 

● Serenity and tranquility of the area 

● Distinctive pattern of settlements 

● Wildlife of the area 

● Landscape’s historic and cultural associations   

                                            
17 Garnett E. 2002. The Wray Flood of 1967: Memories of a Lune Valley Community. Volume 47, Centre for North-
West Regional Studies, Lancaster University 
18 Garnett E, 2002 
19 Wray Conservation Area Appraisal. 2009. Prepared by The Conservation Studio for Lancaster City Council 
20 Housing Needs Survey Report, 2015 
21 Forest of Bowland AONB Management Plan 2014-19 

Page 138



 

 

Referendum Version - January 2019 
18 

2.3.1.2 Within this, the Wray Conservation Area Appraisal22 contains considerable detail 
about what makes Wray a unique village within the AONB: much of it is a designated 
Conservation Area. Features include its location and setting, historical development, 
character and appearance, and buildings (e.g. see Box 2.3.1). Particularly relevant to the 
present document include the 

● Rural setting of the village between [the] Forest of Bowland and the Lune Valley 

● Distinctive linear village street pattern [i.e. one-deep] with little backland 
development 

● Distant views out of the conservation area to surrounding rural landscape, to 
Hornby Castle and along the River Roeburn 

 
2.3.1.3 The number of Listed Buildings in the Conservation Area (28) is noted to be high 
for such a small settlement, and these together with Buildings of Special Character 
comprise almost all the buildings on Main Street. 
 

Wray Conservation Area Appraisal summary of special interest 

● Origins as a planned and planted medieval village established as a farming 
community in the 12th century 

● Distinctive linear village street pattern with little backland development 

● Rural setting of the village between [the] Forest of Bowland and the Lune Valley 

● Located on land rising from the Roeburn valley just west of the confluence of the 
Rivers Hindburn and Roeburn 

● Significant number of dwellings that survive from the late-17th to late-19th 
centuries 

● Distant views out of the conservation area to surrounding rural landscape, to 
Hornby Castle and along the River Roeburn 

● Views of historic buildings within the conservation area, notably landmark 
buildings such as Wray House and Windsor House which hold prominent 
positions at the north end of Main Street 

● Architectural and historic interest of the area’s buildings, including 28 listed 
buildings 

● Varied townscape of vernacular historic buildings that follow the sinuous curves of 
Main Street, as it climbs from the valley of the River Roeburn 

● Prevalent use of locally quarried building stone for walling, roof slates and 
boundary walls 

● Features and details that contribute to local identity e.g. small areas of cobbled 
stone floorscape, decorative date stones and the Queen Victoria Jubilee lamp 

● The Flood Garden, site of houses demolished in the flood of 1967, wherein lies a 
commemorative cobblestone mosaic designed by Maggy Howarth 

● Trees, particularly in the southern part of the conservation area beside the 
Roeburn and Bank Wood, a steep backdrop to the conservation area 

● The River Roeburn and Wray Bridge (1780), listed grade II 

                                            
22 Wray Conservation Area Appraisal, 2009 

Page 139



 

 

Referendum Version - January 2019 
19 

2.3.1.4 To supplement the existing information on the special qualities of the area and to 
focus on the setting of the village of Wray, a Landscape Appraisal23 by Alison Farmer 
Associates was commissioned which reviews previous appraisals and defines eight Local 
Character Areas. This character assessment helps bridge the current gap between the 
wider AONB Landscape Character Assessment and the Conservation Area Appraisal. The 
Landscape Appraisal identifies the special qualities of the village to conserve and enhance 
and the changes to avoid. The plan showing the village character and analysis is shown 
on the following page. 
 
2.3.2 People 
 
2.3.2.1 Wray village and the surrounding area have a recent history of proactive 
community development activity, with local people able to look forward and act for the 
benefit of all. For example24: 
 

Community spirit is a difficult thing to pin down, but everyone agrees that Wray has 
it more than most villages, and that it has grown over the years in a spiral of cause 
and effect. Not many places with 500 inhabitants could have generated the 
Scarecrow Festival and Fair which in a warm May can bring somewhere in the 
region of 30,000 visitors; and not many could have supported the building, in the 
year 2001, of two extra classrooms on to a school with fewer than fifty children.’ 
 

2.3.2.2 More recently, Wray was a key centre in setting up and installing B4RN fibre optic 
broadband in the rural communities to the east of Lancaster poorly served by the national 
providers. Local volunteers played an active role in extending the core route from 
Roeburndale into and through the village. The high take up of connections helped put 
B4RN on a sound commercial footing, and the network now serves over 5,000 properties 
in the North West and other areas of England. This development is likely to have 
contributed to the relatively large proportion of new professional, scientific and technical 
businesses25. 

                                            
23 Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Plan: Landscape Appraisal, Alison Farmer Associates 2017 
24 Garnett E, 2002 
25 Wray Business Survey, 2015 

Page 140



 

 

Referendum Version - January 2019 
20  

Page 141



 

 

Referendum Version - January 2019 
21 

2.4  Planning Constraints 
 
2.4.1 Two plans included at Appendix 4 indicate the most significant constraints in terms 
of national, county council and district council designations. These include the Forest of 
Bowland Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty which covers the whole of the 
Neighbourhood Plan area; the Bowland Fells Special Protection Area which covers a 
significant area in the south of the Parish; Flood Zone 3 which is of particular importance in 
the vicinity of the Rivers Roeburn and Hindburn where they pass through the village of 
Wray, and the Wray Conservation Area. 
 
2.4.2 Immediately adjacent to the east of the village of Wray, a significant area of land is 
subject to an agreement under S106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 between 
J R and PD Holt (the land owners), Lancaster District Council, G & J Developments and 
National Westminster Bank plc. A copy of the agreement is included at Annex 3 to 
Appendix 3 Site Selection and Assessment. Under the agreement, the land owners 
undertake not to erect any further dwellings or replacement agricultural buildings on the 
agricultural land beyond the development of 8 dwellings on the east side of what is now 
Home Farm Close. The area concerned is shown on the Proposals Map Sheet 2 Inset 
Plan Wray Village. 
 
2.4.3  The Parish Council requested that the agreement was negotiated due to the 
importance it attached to this area of historic meadowland sloping down to the river flood 
plain and its landscape value in establishing the setting of the village of Wray. Together 
with historic meadowland and strip fields to the north of the village, the agreement 
illustrates the importance the Parish Council has accorded to the conservation of the 
landscape and will continue to accord when it comes to the determination of local planning 
applications.  

Page 142



 

 

Referendum Version - January 2019 
22 

Section 3 VISION AND OBJECTIVES 
 
3.1 Vision 
 
3.1.1 The vision for the Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Plan needs to reflect and 
supplement the AONB Management Plan vision, the Local Plan vision and national 
policy26, as well as the evidence gathered from consultation with the local community. 
Based on engagement with the Community and the key issues identified, Wray with Botton 
Neighbourhood Development Plan's Vision for 2031 is as follows: 
 

Development will be managed in the Neighbourhood Plan area in a way that meets the 
needs of the local community allowing them to continue to live, work and enjoy a high 
quality of life in an area that creates a strong sense of place. 
 
Wray with Botton will support high-quality sustainable development to meet local needs 
which enhances the local distinctiveness of its character and respects its setting within 
the landscape of the Forest of Bowland AONB.  
 
Sustainable development will be managed within the Parish for the benefit of its 
residents, businesses and wildlife, maintaining and enhancing its character and 
respecting its setting within the landscape. Agriculture and wild places will remain valued 
features of local life. 
 
Success will mean Wray with Botton continues to be a small, vibrant, rural community 
encouraging prosperity for residents and local businesses alike whilst conserving its 
natural assets. 

  
Reasoned Justification 
 
3.1.2 The vision has been subject to much discussion both within the neighbourhood 
planning group and the wider community through consultation. It encompasses the key 
strands of local distinctiveness and the established high quality of life created by a vibrant 
community living in harmony with its special surroundings. The community supports 
sustainable development provided it will enhance and not harm the strong sense of place. 
 
3.2 Objectives 
 
3.2.1 To achieve this Vision, the following Objectives should be met: 
 

(l) Development conserves and enhances the existing built environment and the 
landscape of the Forest of Bowland AONB in terms of its character, heritage and scale 
 
(ll) Development is designed to a high standard, and within the village of Wray to sustain 
and enhance the Conservation Area at its core 
 

                                            
26 See Appendix 1 for details 

Page 143



 

 

Referendum Version - January 2019 
23 

(lll) The local housing needs are met by providing homes of the right type, size and 
tenure in the most suitable places 
 
(lV) Priority is given to new development on previously developed land and the reuse of 
existing buildings 
 
(V) Local suitable business initiatives for live/work, agricultural diversification and small-
scale facilities for tourism and enterprise are encouraged and strengthened 
 
(Vl) Development safeguards and enhances the natural environment, preserving wildlife 
habitats and green spaces, and respecting the importance of the setting within the 
AONB 
 
(Vll) Development supports and enhances leisure, cultural and sporting activities within 
the Parish 
 
(Vlll) Parking and pedestrian, cycle and equestrian routes are improved to promote 
safety and community well-being for access to local services and leisure 

 
Reasoned Justification 
 
3.2.2 As is the case for the vision, the objectives for the Wray with Botton Neighbourhood 
Plan need to reflect and supplement national policy, the objectives of the Forest of 
Bowland AONB Management Plan, the Local Plan, national policy and the evidence 
gathered from consultation with the local community. The objectives expand on the vision, 
giving it substance and showing how it will be achieved. In turn, the objectives lead on to 
the specific policies which will deliver them. 
 
3.2.3 Objectives (l) and (ll) establish the overall strategy putting the emphasis on 
development which is compatible with the aims and objectives of the Forest of Bowland 
AONB and ensuring that the main settlement of Wray maintains its local distinctiveness. 
 
3.2.4 Objectives (lll) and (lV) seek to deliver the housing needs of the area in a 
sustainable way making best use of previously developed land and existing buildings in 
the same way that has helped the village grow in the past in a way which maintains the 
strong sense of place and community cohesion. 
 
3.2.5 Objective (V) seeks to support a strong rural economy seeking innovation and 
encouraging diversification to meet changing times. 
 
3.2.6 Objective (Vl) recognises the adverse impacts that can occur where development 
fails to take account of its surroundings and sets a high value on the natural assets which 
support the designation of the Forest of Bowland AONB. 
 
3.2.7 Objective (Vll) refers to the leisure, cultural and sporting activities of the area. These 
are many and varied from athletics to shooting, the scarecrow festival, community-led 
societies, active places of worship and places to relax and enjoy social company. They 

Page 144



 

 

Referendum Version - January 2019 
24 

take place in a wide variety of community assets and places. The objective aims to support 
their retention and enhancement wherever possible. 
 
3.2.8 Whilst recognising that significant improvement of public transport or highway 
infrastructure is unlikely, nevertheless there is the potential to encourage small scale 
improvements particularly to reduce the conflict between non-motorised users and 
vehicles within the village of Wray and to improve the footpath and cycleway network to 
promote safety and community well-being. Objective (Vlll) seeks to support this. 
 

Page 145



 

 

Referendum Version - January 2019 
25 

Section 4  POLICIES AND GUIDANCE 
 
4.1 Policy Development 
 
4.1 The Neighbourhood Plan Group developed policies by looking at each of the 
identified objectives in turn and considering the extent to which additional planning 
policies, allocations and guidance over and above those already in the existing Lancaster 
City Development Plan, the emerging Local Plan and the Forest of Bowland Management 
Plan, could help achieve them. It then drafted policies accordingly, consulting with 
Lancaster City Council's planning officers to ensure that the wording would be as effective 
as possible.  
 
4.2 List of Policies & Proposals Maps 
 

Policy N Policy Name 

Reference OVERALL STRATEGY 

OS1 DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY 

OS2 LANDSCAPE 

 BUILT ENVIRONMENT 

BE1   DESIGN 

 HOUSING 

H1 HOUSING DEVELOPMENT 

H2 HOUSING PROVISION 

 RURAL ECONOMY 

RE1 ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 

 NATURAL ENVIRONMENT 

NE1 CONSERVATION AND ENHANCEMENT OF THE NATURAL 
ENVIRONMENT 

NE2 LOCAL GREEN SPACE  

NE3 HISTORIC ENVIRONMENT 

 COMMUNITY 

COM1 COMMUNITY ASSETS AND LOCAL SERVICES 

 TRANSPORT AND INFRASTRUCTURE 

TRA1 INFRASTRUCTURE FOR NEW DEVELOPMENT 

 
The following Proposals Maps show which areas of land have been allocated for which 
uses and provide a visual representation of the plan policies. 
 

Page 146



 

 

Referendum Version - January 2019 
26 

 

Page 147



 

 

Referendum Version - January 2019 
27 

  

Page 148



 

 

Referendum Version - January 2019 
28 

  

Page 149



 

 

Referendum Version - January 2019 
29 

4.3 Overall Strategy 
 
4.3.1 A key reason for preparing the Neighbourhood Plan is to place development more 
clearly in the context of the primary purpose of the Forest of Bowland AONB - to conserve 
and enhance the natural beauty of the area - and to put this purpose at the heart of 
planning within the plan area. The first two policies aim to establish this purpose at the 
heart of the overall approach. 
 

Policy OS1: - Delivering Sustainable Development 

A landscape capacity-led approach to development will be taken in the Neighbourhood 
Plan area. Great weight will be given to the principle of conserving landscape and natural 
beauty, wildlife and cultural heritage in the AONB. 

All development should be sustainable, consistent with the primary purpose of AONB 
designation27 and support the Special Qualities of the AONB as set out in the AONB 
Management Plan.  

Development within the village of Wray28 

To promote a vibrant local community and support services, small scale growth and 
investment will be supported within the village of Wray where it closely reflects identified 
local needs and conserves and enhances the local landscape and settlement character, 
historic environment, heritage assets and their settings.  

Development on the edge of and outside the village of Wray 

Development proposals on the edge of and outside the village will be treated as 
exceptions and will be permitted only where they demonstrate that: 

(l) there would be no adverse impact on the historic environment, heritage assets and 
their settings, or landscape character, and that: 

(ll) there is an essential need for a rural location: or 

(lll) it will help to sustain an existing business, including farm diversification schemes; or 

(lV) it contributes to the meeting of a proven and essential housing need in that location; 

                                            
27 As set out in the National Parks and Access to the Countryside Act 1949; confirmed by Section 82 of the 

Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000: 
● The primary purpose of the designation is to conserve and enhance natural beauty 
● In pursuing the primary purpose of the designation, account should be taken of the needs of 

agriculture, forestry and other rural industries and of the economic and social needs of local 
communities. Particular regards should be paid to promoting sustainable forms of social and 
economic development that in themselves conserve and enhance the environment. 

● Recreation is not an objective of the designation but the demand for recreation should be met insofar 
as this is consistent with the conservation of natural beauty and the needs of agriculture, forestry and 
other uses. 

28 For the purposes of this Plan the village of Wray is defined by existing development accessed from Main 

Street, Wennington Road, Hornby Road and Millhouses Road to the village boundary signs (not Parish 
boundary), The Gars and Gars End, Lane Head and Kiln Lane to the edge of development, Duck Street, 
Home Farm Close, The Orchard, School Lane to the village boundary sign, Helks Brow from its junction with 
Main Street for a distance of about 50m and Harterbeck from its junction with Main Street as far as Hunts 
Gill. Agricultural land adjacent to these streets is excluded unless otherwise identified as an Allocated or 
Suitable Site for housing in this Neighbourhood Plan. 

Page 150



 

 

Referendum Version - January 2019 
30 

or 

(V) it represents a sensitive and appropriate reuse, redevelopment or extension of an 
existing building. 

 
A landscape-capacity led approach 

4.3.2 The primary purpose of the AONB designation is to conserve and enhance the 
landscape and natural beauty of the area. It is therefore entirely appropriate that the 
Development Strategy identifies a landscape-capacity led and criteria-based approach to 
development consistent with this primary purpose and the Forest of Bowland AONB’s 
Special Qualities. A strategy that did not put the conservation and enhancement of the 
landscape central to the approach to development would compromise the primary purpose 
and undermine the national designation and the value of the AONB in the national interest. 
Where a development proposal would create conflict between the primary purpose of the 
AONB and other uses of the AONB, greater weight will be attached to the purpose of 
conserving and enhancing the landscape and natural beauty of the AONB. 
 
4.3.3 Within the Neighbourhood Plan area, the landscape-capacity led approach will 
enable the village of Wray to meet its local development needs and those of the wider 
Parish while continuing to conserve the natural beauty, character and Special Qualities of 
the AONB. The Neighbourhood Plan recognises the need for new development, especially 
housing, to maintain a thriving local community. It allocates sufficient land for housing to 
meet its local needs and sets out policies to manage applications that may come forward 
on unallocated sites to ensure that development contributes to the social, economic and 
environmental sustainability of the Neighbourhood Plan Area. 
 
Objectively Assessed Needs  

4.3.4 An important part of Lancaster City Council’s District-wide plan preparation is the 
identification of objectively assessed housing needs (OAN). This includes needs for 
affordable housing, but also any needs for other housing types, including open market 
housing. When the Local Plan is submitted for examination, the Government Inspector will 
consider very closely whether and how it is meeting evidenced needs. Although Lancaster 
City Council District is refining its identified level of need, the figure represents the position 
across the whole of the District. It is difficult to apportion a figure specific to either the area 
of the AONB within Lancaster City or the Parish of Wray with Botton. OAN calculations are 
district-wide assessments and there are difficulties in calculating an OAN for smaller areas 
such as individual parishes. 
 
4.3.5 Given the difficulties in apportioning the OAN, and the emphasis on the capacity of 
the landscape to accommodate development within the AONB, Lancaster City and South 
Lakeland District Councils have concluded, taking advice from relevant Counsel and 
organisations such as the Planning Advisory Service, that it is not necessary to identify a 
specific housing requirement for the Arnside and Silverdale AONB. In the AONB, the 
priority should be to meet identified affordable and other local housing needs within the 
capacity of the landscape. Similarly this same reasoning can be applied to development 
within the Forest of Bowland AONB and has been adopted for the purpose of this 
Neighbourhood Plan. 

Page 151



 

 

Referendum Version - January 2019 
31 

4.3.6 A Housing Needs Survey29 was carried out as part of the preparation of this 
Neighbourhood Plan. All households were given the opportunity to take part and an 
excellent 58.6% return was achieved. The survey found that the main affordable need for 
the 5 year period to 2020 is for 1 or 2 bed houses to buy at discounted prices (4 units) 
followed by 3+ bed houses to buy at discounted prices (2 units) and Sheltered Housing (1 
unit for rent and 1 unit to buy at a discounted price) and 1 requirement for a 3+ bed house 
to rent. Other needs identified could be met on the open market. Whilst it will be necessary 
to review and revise this information periodically over the course of the 15 year plan 
period, it was concluded that there was no pressing demand within the parish for 
significant numbers of new dwellings. The implementation of existing planning permissions 
(10 dwellings) and the opportunities for further infill in the village of Wray over the plan 
period would be likely to provide sufficient dwellings to meet local need and make a 
contribution towards growth and needs identified in the Lancaster City District as a whole. 
 
4.3.7 In line with the landscape-capacity led approach, no target has been set for the 
amount of development to be achieved as this would require a particular quantum of 
development to be delivered regardless of its impacts upon the protected landscape. 
Instead, the Development Strategy ensures that only development that can be 
accommodated without harm to the AONB’s primary purpose will be permitted, whilst 
maintaining a positive approach, recognising that appropriately located and designed 
development can contribute to conserving and enhancing the landscape and settlement 
character, including where opportunities for regeneration and redevelopment can be 
delivered. 
 
Major Development 

4.3.8 National planning policy does not allow major new development in Areas of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty except in exceptional circumstances, because of the likely 
harm it would cause to the nation’s long-term interest of conserving these places. 
Proposals are subject to the most rigorous examination and have to demonstrate that they 
are genuinely in the nation’s interest if they are to proceed. 
 
4.3.9 Whether a proposed development constitutes major development will be a matter 
for the relevant decision taker. Major development in the Neighbourhood Plan Area is 
defined as development that has the potential to have a serious adverse impact on the 
landscape, wildlife, cultural heritage or Special Qualities of the AONB because of its scale, 
form, character or nature. Examples may include quarrying, medium and large scale 
housing development, commercial development that is out of keeping with the landscape, 
caravan sites, new roads, tall vertical structures and high voltage overhead power lines. 
The intimate nature of the AONB landscape means that even smaller-scale development 
proposals may be considered to be ‘major’ depending on the context. Development may 
have the potential to have a significant impact on the qualities of an AONB whether it is 
located inside or adjacent to its boundary. 
 
4.3.10 The majority of development proposals in the AONB are modest in scale. However, 
it is important that where proposals for larger developments are put forward, they are 
properly and fully considered in line with national policy and in the context of the AONB 

                                            
29 See Appendix 2: Housing Needs Survey Report 2015 

Page 152



 

 

Referendum Version - January 2019 
32 

designation.  

4.3.11 The redevelopment of a brownfield site may offer opportunities to enhance the 
AONB, and may often be preferable in other ways to the development of greenfield sites. 
However, brownfield status is one factor to be taken into account amongst many, including 
in the context of making judgements about whether a proposal constitutes major 
development, and does not provide justification to ignore or reduce the weight given to 
policy requirements or factors such as the landscape impacts of the specific proposals, the 
biodiversity value of the brownfield site, or the historic environment, heritage assets and 
their settings. 
 

Policy OS2 - Landscape 

Development proposals will be required to demonstrate how they conserve and enhance 
the landscape and natural beauty of the area. Proposals should not have an adverse effect 
upon the landscape character or visual amenity of the AONB or its setting. 

Development proposals will be supported where they: 

(I) take into account the AONB Landscape Character Assessment, and other relevant 
evidence including but not limited to the Wray Conservation Area Appraisal, and the 
Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Plan Landscape Appraisal; and  

(II) reflect the rural nature, historic character and local distinctiveness of the area 
including settlement character and separation, local vernacular traditions and building 
materials and native vegetation/planting; and  

(Ill) respect visual amenity, views within, into or out of the Neighbourhood Plan Area 
(including but not limited to those shown on the Proposals Map), tranquility, dark skies, 
and the sense of space and place, avoiding the introduction of intrusive elements, or 
compromise to the skyline or settlement separation; and  

(lV) take full account of the cumulative and incremental impacts of development having 
regard to the effects of existing developments (including unintended impacts and 
impacts of development that has taken place as a result of Permitted Development 
Rights, licensing or certification) and the likely further impacts of the proposal in hand; 
and  

(V) include a landscape assessment; the level of detail of which should be proportionate 
to the scale of the proposal and the level of impact of the proposed development on the 
landscape. For larger or otherwise more sensitive sites or schemes, this will require a 
Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA) undertaken by a qualified professional 
to Landscape Institute standards, showing how impacts may be minimised or mitigated. 

 
4.3.12 The Forest of Bowland AONB benefits from the highest status of protection in 
relation to landscape and scenic beauty and great weight will be given to conserving the 
landscape in considering development proposals. The southern area of the 
Neighbourhood Plan Area includes the Bowland Fells Special Protection Area (SPA), an 
internationally designated site. Any development proposals which could impact on this site 
will be subject to the requirements of Policy DM27: The Protection and Enhancement of 
Biodiversity in the Local Plan for Lancaster District 2011-2031 Development management 
DPD or its successor policy in the emerging Local Plan. 

Page 153



 

 

Referendum Version - January 2019 
33 

4.3.13 The Forest of Bowland was designated as an AONB in recognition of its landscape 
attributes characterised by the grandeur of the upland core; the steep escarpment of the 
Moorland Hills; the undulating lowlands; the visual contrasts between each element of the 
overall landscape; the serenity and tranquility of the area; the distinctive pattern of 
settlements; the wildlife; and the landscape’s historic and cultural associations. Although it 
forms only a portion of the overall AONB, Wray with Botton Parish includes many of these 
characteristics. The Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Plan Landscape Appraisal includes 
a detailed analysis of setting of the village and identifies eight local character areas around 
the village of Wray which help to create a picture of the distinctive places within the 
existing settlement and how they relate to the adjacent land. This appraisal forms the basis 
of individual site assessment to determine the sensitivity of each area and its capacity to 
accommodate housing growth in the context of the village and its setting.  
 
4.3.14 ‘Natural Beauty’ is not just an aesthetic concept and ‘landscape’ means more than 
just scenery. The landscape and natural beauty of AONBs is partly due to nature, and is 
partly the product of many centuries of human modification. Landscape encompasses 
everything - ‘natural’ and human - that makes an area distinctive: geology, climate, soils, 
plants, animals, communities, archaeology, buildings, the people who live in it (past and 
present) and the perceptions of those who visit it. 
 
4.3.15 The character of the landscape in the Neighbourhood Plan area is a highly valued 
asset. The wooded valleys and field patterns stretching out to open moorland are defining 
features. It is the unique combination of elements and features (characteristics) in this area 
that makes the landscape so distinctive and resulting in a strong sense of place. The 
AONB is part of the cultural and natural heritage of the nation and if these characteristics 
are damaged, for example by insensitive development, then that will compromise the 
primary purpose of the AONB and the enjoyment of the area by the public. 
 
4.3.16 In order to best serve the primary purpose of AONB designation, new development 
must relate to the established character of the area (as described in the Landscape 
Character Assessment and the Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Plan Landscape 
Appraisal) in which it is to be located. It must integrate with its setting and be in keeping 
with neighbouring buildings and the landscape by appropriate siting, nature, scale, 
proportion, massing, design, materials and landscaping. It must respect the prevailing 
proportion of buildings to gardens and green space. 
 
4.3.17 New development can make a positive contribution to the landscape but can also 
harm it in a number of ways. For example, new features that are uncharacteristic of the 
landscape may be introduced that detract from the local vernacular building style, intrude 
into skylines or obstruct or erode important views. Important landscape features such as 
hedges, drystone walls and mature trees may be damaged or removed. Over time, 
development can lead to the gradual erosion of local distinctiveness and in a protected 
landscape of such unique character; this sort of cumulative loss and harm must be 
avoided in order to serve the primary purpose of AONB designation. 
 
4.3.18 The land at the edge of settlements often forms part of the historic setting of the 
settlement and can include areas which have cultural importance. Public rights of way can 
often provide access to these areas and connections to the open landscape of the AONB 
beyond. They provide key opportunities for green infrastructure in addition to shaping and 

Page 154



 

 

Referendum Version - January 2019 
34 

maintaining settlement character. 
 
4.3.19 Development has the potential to introduce intrusive and jarring elements into the 
landscape resulting in adverse impacts on views and visual amenity. How a site, feature, 
building or view is seen, fitting in with its surroundings, and enjoyed in that context is very 
important within the AONB. This is a highly valued aspect of the AONB by local residents 
and is the reason why many visitors come to the AONB. Development proposals within the 
AONB or affecting its setting will have to demonstrate clearly that they are appropriate to 
the landscape character type and designation, taking into account the wealth of landscape 
character evidence and guidance available. Lancaster City Council may require the 
submission of a Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA) undertaken to 
recognised Landscape Institute standards, and will also expect proposals to have regard 
to the content of the AONB Management Plan.  
 
4.3.20 When considering the cumulative and incremental impacts of development, 
developers and decision makers should ask themselves: ‘Can the impacts of this 
development proposal (in the context set out in the policy) on the landscape character and 
visual amenity be mitigated?’ If yes, proceed with drawing up proposal/considering 
proposal in principle (i.e. subject to all other considerations). If no, modify or refuse 
permission. 
 
4.3.21 A sense of tranquillity is a special quality of the AONB but is gradually being eroded 
by increases in noise, activity, traffic and disturbance. The scale and type of new 
development and level of activity along with journeys to and from a site will affect 
tranquillity and will be a factor in determining whether or not a proposed development can 
proceed. 
 
4.3.22 All light pollution, however small, contributes to the general erosion of darkness in 
the AONB. The spilling of light beyond a site boundary and into the surrounding 
countryside can be disturbing to wildlife and have an intrusive visual impact. Light pollution 
contributes generally to the urbanisation of the rural landscape and the loss of darkness in 
our night skies and should be minimised in any new development. 
 
4.3.23 There are many opportunities to conserve and enhance the special and distinctive 
character of the AONB landscapes by managing development and supporting the 
conservation of distinctive landscape features such as in-field trees, hedgerows, dry stone 
walls and ponds. Proposals will be supported where they remove elements that adversely 
affect the landscape, such as overhead cables. 

Page 155



 

 

Referendum Version - January 2019 
35 

4.4 BUILT ENVIRONMENT 
 
4.4.1 The character of the village of Wray is strongly linked to the surrounding landscape. 
Settlement character is not only shaped by the landscape through use of local materials 
and topography but also contributes to the landscape through influences of style, 
construction methods, form, scale, layout and pattern. In order to serve the purpose of 
both the AONB designation and the Wray Conservation Area, it is crucial to continue this 
mutual relationship, ensuring that the design of new development contributes fully to 
conserving and enhancing the landscape and settlement character. 

Policy BE1 - Design 

For development proposals in the Neighbourhood Plan Area the highest standards of 
design and construction will be required to conserve and enhance the landscape, built 
environment, distinctive settlement character and historic, cultural and architectural 
features.  
 
In addition to design requirements set out in the Local Plan, the design of developments 
in the Neighbourhood Plan area should be informed by the Wray with Botton Landscape 
Appraisal (2017) and, where appropriate, the Wray Conservation Area Appraisal (2009) 
and should:  
 
(I) Respond to the character of the landscape and local built environment including 
buildings, boundary treatments, open spaces, trees, roofscapes, village layout and have 
particular regard to the local vernacular, building to plot / green space ratios and to the 
quality, integrity, character and settings of natural, built and historic features;  
 
(II) Reinforce what is special and locally distinctive about design in the Plan area through 
the careful consideration of visual amenity, layout, views, scale, height, solid form and 
massing, proportions, alignment, detailing, lighting, materials used, colours, finishes and 
the nature of development; 
 
(III) Provide well designed landscape schemes that retain distinctive trees and include 
new structural planting that contributes to the character and amenity value of the area;  
 
(IV) Ensure that boundary treatments, screening and entranceways reflect local 
character and context including retention (or appropriate replacement where necessary) 
of existing features of value such hedgerows, trees, verges and traditional stone walls 
through careful consideration of materials and heights for gates, gateposts and fencing 
and the use of appropriate species for planting; and  
 
(V) Avoid using development that is harmful to landscape and settlement character to 
inform the design of new development or proximity to it as justification for further poor 
quality or harmful development. 

 
4.4.2 The distinctive settlement character of the village of Wray lying within the AONB 
makes an important contribution to its overall character. The overall ambience is greatly 
dependent on the quality and distinctiveness of the built environment. The design, 
construction, materials and detailing of individual buildings, the form, layout and pattern of 

Page 156



 

 

Referendum Version - January 2019 
36 

the village and other hamlets and the settings of many of the buildings are key elements of 
settlement character. The use of local stone underpins the natural beauty of the 
Neighbourhood Plan area and unifies its character, in turn with other settlements in the 
Forest of Bowland AONB making a major contribution to its special character. 
 
4.4.3 Certain aspects of settlement character derive from their history, such as village 
layouts and the shapes of individual plots. Wray village is essentially a ‘one deep’ layout 
based on the ‘T’ shape formed by Hornby/Wennington Road running east/west and Main 
Street running north-south. This linear pattern is typically high density but affords many 
properties views towards the surrounding landscape. Nevertheless due to the topography, 
the village is barely seen from a distance, nestling in the steeply wooded valleys of the 
rivers Roeburn and Hindburn. New development should respect and be in keeping with 
historic settlement character. 
 
4.4.4 Open green spaces within settlements are an important aspect of settlement 
character. They can contribute to the setting and appreciation of important buildings and 
have historical significance in themselves, either as part of historic settlement pattern and 
form or as an archaeological resource. They can also allow public views in to or out from 
within the settlement and can provide a recreational resource for the local community. 
Open spaces add distinctiveness to the character and interest of settlements and the 
quality of life of their inhabitants and are a key part of the rural character of Wray village. 
 
4.4.5 Local distinctiveness and visual harmony between buildings and the local 
topography is important within the Neighbourhood Plan Area as it is in the Forest of 
Bowland AONB as a whole. This is very important in the visual appeal of the landscape 
and built environment and is valued by the public - both residents and visitors to the 
AONB. 
 
4.4.6 Gradual erosion of local distinctiveness and visual harmony can occur unless there 
is careful control of design and materials. Use of local and appropriate materials to ensure 
new development is in keeping with the local surroundings is essential. There are strong 
vernacular traditions in the area including the design, materials, construction and detailing 
of individual buildings and these should be retained and reflected in new development. 
The risk of a gradual erosion of settlement character needs to be carefully considered in 
any assessment of development proposals. 
 
4.4.7 The grouping of buildings, use of local building materials, road and footway 
surfaces, signs and lighting apparatus, all affect the character and quality of the street 
scene. 
 
4.4.8 To sustain character and quality, development should reflect traditional materials, 
styles and proportions. For proposals affecting the street scene, the following factors are 
important: 
 
(I) retaining traditional surfaces and layouts, or reintroducing them; 
 
(II) ensuring that the scale, texture, colour and patterns of new materials are sympathetic 
to the area’s character and appearance; 
 

Page 157



 

 

Referendum Version - January 2019 
37 

(III) retaining or reinstating street furniture of historical or architectural interest or of local 
distinctiveness; 
 
(IV) ensuring that road signs and markings are of appropriate appearance and quality, with 
no unnecessary duplication, and fixed, where possible and appropriate, to buildings or 
existing street furniture; 
 
(V) using lighting equipment that reflects established local styles, and which is not 
excessive or unsympathetic in intensity and colour. 
 
In order to ensure that settlement character is conserved and enhanced, it is important to 
understand the specific character of the village of Wray. This is set out very clearly in the 
Wray Conservation Area Appraisal and the Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Plan 
Landscape Appraisal Final Report to which reference should be made in considering all 
planning applications. 
 

COMMUNITY ACTION 1: Local Design Panels30 

Where Local Design Panels are made use of at the pre-application stage as required 
under certain circumstances by Local Plan31 Policy DM 35: Key Design Principles or its 
successor policy in the emerging Local Plan, these Panels should include Members of 
Wray Parish Council and/or their representatives as well as representatives appointed by 
the Forest of Bowland AONB Joint Advisory Committee. 

 
4.4.9 The Parish Council is, under the Localism Act, a statutory planning body and has 
taken the opportunity offered to it under the Act to produce this Neighbourhood 
Development Plan. It has also been a consultee on planning applications for many years. 
As such the Parish and members of the Neighbourhood Planning Group along with other 
volunteers have not only shown considerable concern about the area but have become 
familiar with planning policy and procedures which they have combined with their intimate 
knowledge of the Parish to gain a clear appreciation of how the Parish in general and the 
village of Wray in particular has been or could be affected by planning policy and 
decisions. Furthermore, while many visitors and thereby the economy of the AONB would 
be affected by adverse development in the Parish, it is the people of Wray who would be 
most affected by such decisions.  
 
4.4.10 The Parish of Wray with Botton have identified in this plan the role of Wray as being 
one that contributes to the AONB and the wider economy through its heritage and the 
quality of its unique townscape and landscape and have identified themselves as having a 
role (along with others such as landowners, AONB, Council and others) as custodians of 
the Parish’s townscape and landscape. As such, if, in those circumstances outlined in 
Policy DM35, a Local Design Panel is to be used, then that Panel should have 
representation from the Parish and, where they feel technical help might be appropriate, 
their representatives.  

                                            
30 Community Actions are not land use policies but are rather aspirations of the Parish Council on behalf of 
the community 
31 A Local Plan for Lancaster District 2011-2031: Development Management DPD Adopted December 2014 

Page 158



 

 

Referendum Version - January 2019 
38 

4.5 HOUSING 
 

Policy H1: - Housing Development 
 
Proposals for meeting housing needs through the conversion or sub-division of existing 
buildings, or on previously developed land and on allocated sites within the village of 
Wray listed below that have been identified through the Site Assessment process will be 
supported where they are of a scale, siting and design that is compatible with the area 
as outlined in Policy BE1 of this Plan. 
 
Subject to the assessment of viability, new housing development will be supported 
where the maximum possible affordable homes are delivered and where the number, 
size, types and tenures of all homes provided demonstrably reflects and meets identified 
local needs in accordance with current housing needs evidence at the time of 
application.  
 
Proposals will be expected to demonstrate that densities make best and efficient use of 
land and reflect the settlement character.  
 
Housing developments shall take account of the Key Development Considerations set 
out in Appendix 3 on Site Selection and Assessment and the recommendations in 
Appendix 11 on Heritage Impact Assessment. The Key Development Considerations for 
allocated sites without planning permission32 are as follows: 
 
Key Development Considerations 
 
Site WR5 

1. Retain agricultural character of buildings and entrance into the site off Main Street and 
avoid elements and detailing which create a sense of 'domestication'; 

2. Ensure appropriate landscaping and boundary treatment at the edges of the site; 

3. Take care in the design and choice of materials for the roof-scape; 

4. Ensure that any new building layout in western half of the site reflects the character of 
the village and small courtyard developments behind the Main Street. 
 
Site WR9 

1. Ensure that the height of new buildings is kept low and in proportion with those 
buildings adjacent and do not block views to the wider village from Sprout Brow Lane;  

2. Ensure that new development reflects the local vernacular and is high quality ensuring 
that views from Main Street are considered when determining building design, height, 
orientation and layout;  

3. Retain as many trees on the boundaries of the site as possible and ensure that the 
south eastern boundary is well treed, forming an appropriate interface with the River 
Roeburn.  

 

                                            
32 Sites WR3, WR6 and WR10 already have planning permission. 

Page 159



 

 

Referendum Version - January 2019 
39 

Site WR11 

1. Care should be taken to ensure new development relates well to Lane Head 
strengthening the character and definition of space along this lane;  

2. New built form should reflect traditional building styles and use of materials and form a 
transition from the oldest buildings along Hornby Road to the more modern development 
along Lane Head;  

3. Consideration should be given to site layout ensuring that it contributes to the street 
scene when viewed from Hornby Road 

 

Allocated Sites  
 

Site 
Reference 

Name Area Estimated 
Dwellings 

WR3 Appletree Barn & Paddock  0.34 ha 533 

WR5 Hoskins Farm 0.54 ha 15 

WR6 Adj 45 Wennington Road 0.03 ha 134 

WR9 Old Chapel Field 0.08 ha 2 

WR10 New Inn n/a 435 

WR11 New Inn Car Park 0.03 ha 1 

 

 
4.5.1 The background to our approach is based on what has worked best in practice in 
the past - incremental growth with no large scale development other than Hoskins Farm. 
The local housing needs survey indicated a current maximum requirement for up to 9 
affordable homes to buy or rent. It is recognised that the level and mix of local housing 
need will need to be regularly reviewed and updated, and also that some of the current 
need may change and/or resolve itself (for example if new households are formed or if 
people leave the Parish to take up work opportunities elsewhere).This policy is also driven 
by the need to avoid encroachment on the surrounding countryside; to conserve the 
setting of the village in the landscape; to minimise harmful visual impact of development 
on the Forest of Bowland AONB and the Wray Conservation Area; and, to conserve 
important views into and out of the Wray Conservation Area.  Wray Parish Council is 
mindful of overall housing need identified at District level but this must be balanced against 
the potential harm to the Forest of Bowland AONB and notes that a similar landscape-
capacity led approach has been proposed in the Publication versions of the emerging 
Strategic Policies and Land Allocations DPD and the Arnside & Silverdale AONB DPD. 

                                            
33 Planning permission already granted Refs 14/01134/FUL & 15/00087/OUT 
34 Planning permission already granted Ref 15/01443/FUL 
35 Planning permission already granted Ref 14/01088/CU (number includes an existing disused cottage) 

Page 160



 

 

Referendum Version - January 2019 
40 

The latest District housing needs study is not broken down to parish level, and with three 
times the response rate due not least to our ability to deliver and collect surveys in person, 
the Parish Council is confident that its local surveys do and will continue to supply the fine-
grained level on need that is required to inform development decisions in a sensitive 
AONB area. 
 
4.5.2 The historic rate has averaged about 1 to 2 properties each year since the 1940s. A 
similar approach would result in 15 to 30 new homes over the plan period of which 4 at the 
New Inn, 5 at Appletree Barn and 1 adjacent to 45 Wennington Road have planning 
consent. A new house has been completed recently behind The Gars which continues this 
historic trend.  
 
4.5.3 The most significant site identified to come forward in the plan period will be 
Hoskins Farm where the owner has indicated36 that the site could come forward for 
development within 5 to 10 years time. Being in the heart of the village, a well-designed 
scheme would be expected to conserve and enhance the Wray Conservation Area and the 
listed buildings both on the site and nearby. Development of the site also has the potential 
to release land to provide a limited amount of off-street parking for community use.  
 
4.5.4 It may be necessary to offset the loss of the agricultural buildings in the settlement 
area to some extent with agricultural related development outside the settlement area in 
order to maintain the agricultural function of the surrounding fields in which case such 
development should be of an acceptable design and scale. Such proposals would need to 
meet the definition of purpose (l)37 of Local Plan Policy DM7: Economic Development in 
Rural Areas or its successor policy in the emerging Local Plan and that the development 
has regard to Policy BE1 of this Plan and to the provisions in paragraph 11538 of the 
NPPF. 
 
4.5.5 The City Council commissioned a report39 to examine the potential for introducing 
the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) which concluded that CIL could be levied on 
small and medium sized developments on both brown and greenfield sites in high value 
areas of the district. Wray, in common with most areas of the Lune Valley falls within the 
higher value area and it is therefore a reasonable assumption to make that new housing 
would in principle be economically viable on all the Allocated Sites including Hoskins Farm 
and that opportunities to pursue issues such as affordable housing can be achieved. This 
view was confirmed by a Lancaster City Council Planning Officer40 during the preparation 
of this plan. 
 

                                            
36 Letter to Lancaster City Council from John & Pat Staveley 3 September 2016 and email 26 November 

2018 in response to Pre-submission consultation 
37 Essential operations for agriculture, horticulture, equine related activities, allocated mineral extraction or 

waste management facilities and essential infrastructure where there is a proven and justified need. 
38 Great weight should be given to conserving landscape and scenic beauty in National Parks, the Broads 

and Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty, which have the highest status of protection in relation to 
landscape and scenic beauty. The conservation of wildlife and cultural heritage are important considerations 
in all these areas and should be given great weight in National Parks and the Broads. 
39 Community Infrastructure Levy-Economic Viability Assessment GVA Sept 2012 
40 Email dated 16 May 2017 from Paul Hatch (LCC) to Robert Partington (NPG) 

Page 161



 

 

Referendum Version - January 2019 
41 

4.5.6 The overall increase in the number of homes in and around the village of Wray 
would therefore be about 28 over the plan period, representing an increase of about 13% 
of the 222 households identified in the 2011 census. This does not include windfall sites or 
potential proposals centred on the farmsteads and agricultural buildings spread over the 
remainder of the Parish. These will be considered on a case by case basis, and expected 
to meet the policies and achieve the objectives set out in this Neighbourhood Plan. Subject 
to detailed design considerations and all other relevant planning policies, the Parish 
considers that this potential increase can be satisfactorily accommodated within a 
landscape capacity approach to development within the Forest of Bowland AONB.  
 

POLICY H2: - Housing Provision 

Within the Neighbourhood Plan area, subject to satisfying other relevant policy 
requirements and in order to ensure that new development in the AONB meets local 
needs, proposals for new housing development should deliver affordable housing in 
accordance with the adopted Local Plan policy on affordable housing, taking into 
account the assessment of viability of the development. Only where this is demonstrably 
unachievable through available mechanisms will a lower percentage be acceptable. 
 
Priority will be given to the delivery of affordable housing and maximising the potential 
for meeting identified local needs and local affordable needs from appropriate individual 
development opportunities.  
 

Subject to meeting other policy requirements, proposals will be supported that meet the 
needs of specific societal groups or to those with a local connection. 

 
4.5.7  Affordable housing needs are forecast to apply over a period of time and not all the 
identified need is required straight away. The delivery of affordable housing should be in 
line with demand to ensure that the market is not over-supplied at any time. This can be 
done by close working with and between housing developers, landowners and appropriate 
Registered Providers of affordable housing. 
 
4.5.8 A requirement for 50% of new homes to be affordable is justified because the 
Neighbourhood Plan Designated area lies wholly within the AONB, a sensitive landscape 
protected at a national level. It is inappropriate to use those sites that are suitable for 
development to deliver development that does not meet local affordable or other local 
needs. Doing so would mean that those needs would remain unmet and more sensitive 
sites would have to be developed in order to meet the needs, causing harm and 
compromising the primary purpose of the AONB designation. 
 
4.5.9 Existing policies and legal conditions mean that all affordable housing is already 
restricted to those with a local connection in perpetuity. There is no evidence to suggest 
that there is a high proportion of second homes and holiday lets that would justify 
additional occupancy restrictions where this type of approach may also increase viability 
concerns. Therefore this plan does not set out any proposal to restrict the occupancy of 
new properties other than the existing restrictions placed on affordable housing. 
 
4.5.10 This policy is supported by the City Council’s Publication version of the emerging 

Page 162



 

 

Referendum Version - January 2019 
42 

Local Plan: Review of the Development Management DPD (February 2018), Policy DM6 
Housing Provision in the Forest of Bowland AONB. 
 
4.5.11 The policy will be used to address potential future applications on non-allocated 
sites.

Page 163



 

 

Referendum Version - January 2019 
43 

4.6 RURAL ECONOMY 
 

Policy RE1: - Sustainable Economic Development 

Development proposals of an appropriate scale and nature will be supported where they 
bring economic and community benefits to the Neighbourhood Plan area within the 
Forest of Bowland AONB, including economic diversification, for the following purposes: 
 
(I) essential operations for agriculture, horticulture, and essential infrastructure where 
there is a proven and justified need; 
 
(II) appropriate small-scale new or expanded outdoor sport, leisure and tourism facilities;  
 
(III) house extensions or extensions to outbuildings for economic (non-residential) 
purposes that are ancillary to the existing dwelling and are sympathetic to the character 
of the original building and its setting; 
 
(IV) subject to satisfying the requirements of Local Plan Policy DM9 or its successor 
policy in the emerging Local Plan, sensitive conversions and alternative uses for farm 
buildings that can be shown to be no longer required for agriculture but that enable farm 
diversification where they: 

 - sustain, complement and are ancillary to the core farm business; 

 - do not compromise the working of the farm, or create additional requirements for new 
   agricultural buildings; 

 - provide satisfactory access, servicing and parking arrangements.  
 
(V) micro-growth points for business development; 
 
(VI) shared (co-location) and flexible service facility uses of buildings in the village of 
Wray where this will help to ensure the continued operation of key services or 
community assets. 
 
Subject to satisfying the requirements of Local Plan Policies DM8 or DM9 or its 
successor policy in the emerging Local Plan, the re-use of rural buildings or agricultural 
buildings to support tourism and the visitor economy will be supported. 

 
4.6.1 Local Plan Policy DM9: Diversification of the Rural Economy supports “proposals in 
rural areas which seek to diversify the rural economy” where there are no “adverse 
impacts on the environment” and will “encourage the re-use, adaptation or conversion of 
existing rural buildings which assist in the diversification and economic stability of an 
agricultural holding where”,  amongst other criteria,  “it can be demonstrated by the 
applicant that the buildings which are part of the proposal can no longer be used for 
ongoing agricultural uses.” 
 
4.6.2 Neighbourhood Plan Policy RE1 aims to supplement Policy DM9 by specifically 
including tourism to support the visitor economy in the area. The summary of findings in 
the Wray with Botton Landscape Appraisal Final Report in respect of the special qualities 

Page 164



 

 

Referendum Version - January 2019 
44 

to conserve and enhance and the changes to avoid provides important advice on 
preserving and enhancing the character of the surroundings. 
 
4.6.3 To the south and west of Wray, where the land rises and becomes more undulating, 
the enclosure pattern is one of post-medieval enclosures, defined by an irregular field 
layout reflecting piecemeal enclosure from moorland by individuals on the Bowland 
fringes. The pattern of this enclosure adjacent to Wray has remained unaltered since the 
1st Edition OS mapping. The HLC guidance states the need to conserve this type of 
distinctive pattern of post-medieval enclosure of upland moor.  
 
4.6.4 Policy RE1 allows for new construction as well as re-use, adaptation and 
conversion of existing buildings and seeks to complement Local Plan Policy DM7: 
Economic Development in Rural Areas or its successor policy in the emerging Local Plan: 
 

“Development proposals for economic development within rural areas which maintain and 
enhance rural vitality and character will be supported where it is demonstrated that they 
improve the sustainability of rural communities by bringing local economic, environmental 
benefits. This includes economic development which is an appropriate scale and nature 
and assists in the diversification of the rural economy including the diversification of 
agricultural buildings.” 

 
Local Plan Policy DM7 is necessarily broad in scope and requires a lot of local 
interpretation. In Wray with Botton, small-scale business enterprises and facilities for 
tourism should be regarded as acceptable under Local Plan Policy DM7 in that these 
specific uses have been identified as being ones that would (subject to design, siting etc) 
be likely to maintain and enhance rural vitality and character, consistent with supporting 
the Forest of Bowland AONB’s primary purpose and Special Qualities. Such developments 
would be likely to improve the sustainability of the Wray with Botton rural community as 
they would bring economic, environmental and community benefits, which is what both the 
Neighbourhood Plan and Local Plan are trying to achieve. 
 
4.6.5 The village of Wray is predominantly residential in character with commercial 
premises generally providing services to the community rather than significant employment 
opportunities. The Business Survey41 identified that many businesses are sole proprietors 
or employ only small numbers of part-time staff or contractors. Digital, office, service, rural 
craft and trade skills businesses were favoured by those who sought to encourage new 
business and a need was identified for business workshop space, storage facilities and 
office facilities. Given the relatively high density of existing housing and the priority to 
identify further sites for housing there are few areas within the village which could be 
developed for commercial use without imposing a significant adverse impact on 
surrounding residents. Micro-growth points are very small scale developments that support 
the growth or diversification of new or existing businesses, which may include but are not 
restricted to live-work units, which may be more easily accommodated.  
  

                                            
41 Wray with Botton Parish Council Business Survey June 2015 

Page 165



 

 

Referendum Version - January 2019 
45 

4.7 NATURAL ENVIRONMENT  
 

Policy NE1: - Protection and enhancement of Trees, Woodland and Hedgerows   
 
New development should protect and enhance existing trees, woodland and hedgerows 
unless there are clear and demonstrable reasons why their removal would aid delivery of 
a better development overall, and should positively incorporate new trees, woodland and 
hedgerows where possible. Development that results in the removal of or damage to 
single trees, tree groups, woodland or species rich hedgerows will be required to provide 
replacement trees at an appropriate ratio and of appropriate species to conserve and 
enhance the special character of the area. The conservation of those hedgerows which 
mark historic field patterns, particularly to the north and east of the village of Wray, are of 
particular importance to maintain wildlife habitats and habitat connectivity as well as for 
their contribution to the wider landscape in the Forest of Bowland AONB and the setting 
of the Wray Conservation Area. 

 
4.7.1 Development proposals that affect the natural environmental assets and sites of 
biodiversity importance will also be considered against Development Management DPD 
Policies DM27, DM28 and DM 29 or their successor policies. The Neighbourhood Plan 
Area includes a number of areas which have been designated for their environmental 
importance at an International, National and Local level. The area includes the Bowland 
Fells Special Protection Area (SPA) which is an extensive upland area providing important 
habitats for protected plant and bird species. The area also includes Roeburndale Woods 
and Clear Beck Meadows Sites of Special Scientific Importance (SSSI) and a number of 
more locally designated Biological Heritages sites. Such local designations include Middle 
Wood, Neddy Park Wood, Quarry Wood (including Hoskins Wood, Mill Wood and Spout 
Brow Wood), Bank Wood and Hunt’s Gill Wood, Powley Wood (including Beck Gill Wood, 
Scroggy Wood, Audland Close Wood, Stubb Wood and Tenter Hill Wood), the Stables 
Bank Wray Bridge, Alcocks Farm Grasslands, Over Close Wood and Proctor Wood, Well 
Beck Wood (including Helks Home Wood and Middlefield Wood) and Fall Wood Coppice.  
 
4.7.2 Wray Village is small in scale and has a very low impact on the landscape to the 
extent that someone approaching Wray would not see the Village until practically entering 
it. This landscape has an important role contributing to the wider landscape character of 
the Forest of Bowland AONB. Therefore the Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Plan 
Landscape Appraisal Final Report was commissioned from Alison Farmer Associates to 
supplement that which already exists in the form of the Lancashire Character Assessment, 
the Forest of Bowland Character Assessment and parts of the Wray Conservation Area 
Appraisal. 
 
4.7.3 Policy NE1 seeks to protect and enhance trees, woodland and hedgerows within 
the plan area. It places a particular emphasis on the role of the ancient and species-rich 
hedgerows to the north and east of Wray which mark the historic field pattern in 
maintaining and enhancing wildlife habitats. It is also important to emphasise the role of 
individual trees and the steep wooded valley sides along the banks of the Rivers Roeburn 
and Hindburn as a haven for wildlife and as a setting for the village together with the 
conservation and enhancement of water quality within the catchment areas of rivers and 

Page 166



 

 

Referendum Version - January 2019 
46 

streams within the plan area to support wildlife diversity, angling and other aquatic 
pursuits.  
 
4.7.4 Local Plan Policy DM29 protects Trees, Hedgerows and Woodland where they 
contribute to the visual amenity and/or environmental value of the location. After 
undertaking additional research it became clear that nearly all the trees, hedgerows and 
woodland in the Parish contribute to the visual amenity and/or environmental value of 
Wray. In particular, the hedgerows were shown to contain protected species thereby 
contributing to the biodiversity of the area and in some cases delineate the distinctive, 
ancient field patterns that are still visible today around Wray. The importance of the 
woodlands has already been recognised by their being designated in the Local Plan and 
their being mentioned specifically in the Forest of Bowland AONB Landscape Character 
Assessment. 
 

Policy NE 2: - Local Green Space 
  
The areas listed below are designated as Local Green Space.  
 
Wray LG1  School Playing Field 

Wray LG2 Wray Flood Gardens 
 
These areas have been identified on the Proposals Map. 

Inappropriate development will not be permitted within a Local Green Space except for 
very special circumstances. Development which will enhance, support and facilitate the 
sustainability of the community needs, services and purposes provided by the Local 
Green Space will be considered appropriate. The design, scale and size of development 
will be required to be proportionate and reflective of/in keeping with each Local Green 
Space, the purposes of the designation and the community it serves. 

 
4.7.5 Lancaster City Council prepared a robust methodology which has been subject to 
public consultation in late 2015. Following the completion of the methodology the Council 
conducted a ‘Call for Sites’ exercise, inviting members of the community to submit 
potential Green Spaces in their areas for assessment. This assessment work was 
undertaken by a panel of stakeholders during the course of the summer with a number of 
sites identified to go forward as green space designations. Four sites within the Wray 
Neighbourhood Plan area were submitted for consideration of which the two listed above 
satisfied the four tests necessary to justify designation. 

 
4.7.6 These spaces hold particular local significance for the community. They are 
demonstrably special and are in close proximity to the people they serve. For this reason 
the spaces should be given the special status offered by the National Planning Policy 
Framework: 
 

“76. Local communities through local and neighbourhood plans should be able to 
identify for special protection green areas of particular importance to them. By 
designating land as Local Green Space local communities will be able to rule out new 
development other than in very special circumstances. Identifying land as Local Green 

Page 167



 

 

Referendum Version - January 2019 
47 

Space should therefore be consistent with the local planning of sustainable 
development and complement investment in sufficient homes, jobs and other essential 
services. Local Green Spaces should only be designated when a plan is prepared or 
reviewed, and be capable of enduring beyond the end of the plan period. 
  
77. The Local Green Space designation will not be appropriate for most green areas or open 
space.  
The designation should only be used:  
● where the green space is in reasonably close proximity to the community it serves;   
● where the green area is demonstrably special to a local community and holds a particular 
local significance, for example because of its beauty, historic significance, recreational value 
(including as a playing field), tranquility or richness of its wildlife; and  
● where the green area concerned is local in character and is not an extensive tract of land.” 

 
4.7.7 The School Playing Field is a multi-functional space enclosed on three sides by 
existing development. It contains a well equipped play area for children and is of a 
sufficient size to meet a variety of needs both sporting and recreational throughout the 
year. It is also the site of the annual Wray Fair in conjunction with the Scarecrow Festival.  
 
4.7.8 The Wray Flood Gardens are an attractive area formed following the devastating 
Wray Flood in 1967 where a number of homes were washed away. It provides a space to 
relax and enjoy the tranquil surroundings. The land is owned by the Parish Council. 
 
4.7.9 Policy NE2 takes the same approach as the City Council’s draft Policy SC2: Local 
Green Spaces in the Strategic Policies and Land Allocations DPD (February 2018) in the 
emerging Local Plan and is consistent with the aims of Policy DM25: Green Spaces & 
Green Corridors in the Development Management DPD, adopted December 2014. 
 
4.7.10 Lancaster City Council’s Planning officers are satisfied that the 2 sites identified in 
Policy NE2 are demonstrably special to the local community to warrant their designation 
as Local Green Space. Full details of the methodology used and the details of all the sites 
submitted may be found in Appendix 5. 
 

Policy NE3 - Historic Environment 

To supplement the relevant policies in the Local Plan which relate to the historic 
environment, all development in the Neighbourhood Plan area should seek to protect 
and enhance the unique heritage features and the wider historic character of its location. 
This should include built, natural and cultural heritage features and historic landscape 
character.  
 
Where proposals lead to the loss of a designated or non-designated heritage asset, in 
accordance with national planning policy, surveys should be undertaken to record their 
historical interest and build the heritage evidence of the Forest of Bowland AONB.  
 
Development proposals affecting designated or non-designated heritage assets, the 
latter of which may either be identified on the Council’s Local List, the Historic 
Environment Record or that are discovered during the application proposals, will be 
supported provided that:  

Page 168



 

 

Referendum Version - January 2019 
48 

(I) They conserve and enhance the significance of the asset. This may include schemes 
that specifically aim to (or include measures to) protect, restore or enhance historic 
assets or features;  

(II) They conserve and enhance the character and local distinctiveness of the area 
through design, scale and materials used; and  

(III) They promote the enjoyment, understanding and interpretation of the assets as a 
means of maximising wider public benefits which reinforce the character of the village of 
Wray and sense of place within the Forest of Bowland AONB.  

Proposals which affect historic field patterns in the locality should seek to reinforce and 
reflect those patterns. The loss and fragmentation of these assets will be discouraged.  

 
4.7.11 The policy sits alongside existing policies and legislation and provides a 
comprehensive, Neighbourhood Plan specific approach within the Forest of Bowland 
AONB that seeks to recognise and conserve heritage assets and the wider historic 
environment and historic character of the plan area in a way that reflects the AONB 
Management Plan and the AONB’s Special Qualities. 
 
4.7.12 Evidence such as the Wray Conservation Area Appraisal, the Historic Landscape 
Characterisation undertaken for the whole of Lancashire in 2002,and amplified in the Wray 
with Botton Neighbourhood Plan Landscape Appraisal together with other sources such as 
the Traditional Orchards Survey, Heritage at Risk Register, Register of Parks and 
Gardens, Historic Environment Record, National Heritage List for England and National 
Archaeological Identification Survey should be used to inform planning applications and 
decisions. In addition to the policy requirements above, further measures relating to 
archaeology are set out in the Local Plan policies. 
 
4.7.13 Within the village of Wray, features of particular note include the extent of the Wray 
Conservation Area and the potential noted in the appraisal to extend the designated area 
to include the historic buildings nearby in the vicinity of the Old Bobbin Mill; the large 
number of Listed Buildings within the Conservation Area some of which are identified as 
Landmark Buildings together with a significant number of Buildings of Special Character; 
significant trees and tree groups which contribute to the overall character of the area; the 
historic strip fields to the north and east of the village and the post-medieval pattern of 
enclosures to the south and west; the Queen Victoria Golden Jubilee Lantern in Main 
Street and the more recent walled mosaic to commemorate the Wray Flood of 1967 on the 
banks of the River Roeburn. The green corridor and riverside walk along the western / 
northern bank of the River Roeburn contribute to the character of the conservation area 
and the setting of the village.  
 
4.7.14 The full range of heritage features, designated and non-designated, should be 
recognised and taken into account when planning new development, including, but not 
exclusively: hidden features and archaeology; field patterns; ancient enclosures; historic 
routes; lime kilns; milk churn stands; bee boles; mile-markers; traditional road signs; 
marker posts and directional signage; traditional stone walls and buildings; parkland; 
historic designed landscapes; ponds; wells; hedgerows; orchards and veteran trees. 
Features should not be considered in isolation but in their context as part of a historic 
environment at the landscape scale.  

Page 169



 

 

Referendum Version - January 2019 
49 

4.8 COMMUNITY 
 

Policy COM1 - Community Assets and Local Services 
 
New development should conserve or enhance assets and services valued by the 
community, including those listed below:  

1. Wray-with-Botton Endowed Primary School 

2. Wray Institute 

3. Wray Holy Trinity Church and its grounds 

4. Wray Methodist Chapel and its grounds 

5. Former Friends Meeting House (now Chapel property) and its grounds 

6. Post Office and Village Shop 

7. The George & Dragon Public House 

8. Wray Pre-school Forest School 

9. Allotments 

10. Bridge House Tea Rooms and Garden Centre 

Proposals that would result in the loss of buildings/uses which currently (or have 
previously) provided the community with a local service must provide compelling and 
detailed evidence in accordance with the criteria set out in Policy DM49: Local Services 
or its successor policy in the emerging Local Plan to demonstrate that the asset or 
service no longer has an economic or social value to the community. 

 
4.8.1 The Parish identified through their consultation process that the people of Wray 
valued their community especially its traditions and activities but also certain assets (in 
addition to the landscape and townscape) that they believe contribute to community 
cohesion. Many of these coincide with those elements identified in the Local Plan as 
important criteria for sustainable communities and as such, important for the continued 
vitality and viability of the village. These assets support Wray’s contribution to the Forest of 
Bowland AONB both directly by providing services for visitors and indirectly by supporting 
the people of Wray who act as custodians of the Parish, its landscape and townscape.  
 
4.8.2 The number of visitors that a village like Wray can regularly host at any one time is 
limited by its size, a point emphasised by the need for substantial planning and resources 
including use of nearby fields to accommodate parking during the annual Scarecrow 
Festival and Wray Fair. As such while visitors are welcome to the Village and tourism is 
something that can be developed to the benefit of Wray and the wider AONB Area, it must 
be proportionate and appropriate both for the sake of the people who live there but also to 
the visitors themselves whose evidence42 has shown are attracted to the area’s relatively 
unspoilt character. 
 
4.8.3 It is recognised that the need for and demand for local services is likely to change 
over time. The policy therefore signposts to criteria in the Local Plan which may be used to 
determine how the value of the community assets and services listed should be assessed 
in the future and will be kept under regular review by the Parish Council. 

                                            
42 Visitor Questionnaire Results and Tea Room Questionnaire Results 2015 

Page 170



 

 

Referendum Version - January 2019 
50 

4.9 TRANSPORT AND INFRASTRUCTURE 
 
4.9.1 During the preparation of this plan, Lancashire County Council has published its 
District of Lancaster Highways and Transport Master Plan. This necessarily focuses on the 
priority needs in the urban centres of Lancaster, Morecambe, Heysham and Carnforth. 
The document identifies the following issues to be addressed in Rural Lancaster in which 
this Neighbourhood Plan lies: 
 

By their nature, the rural areas of Lancaster tend to be very dependent on the car, which 
can not only lead to local problems on the highways network, but makes life very difficult 
for those who, for whatever reason, do not have their own transport: 

• Rural isolation and an ageing population both present health and wellbeing issues for 
the health sector, so there is a real opportunity to work together to maximise the benefits 
of reducing social isolation for organisations as well as individuals. 

• Young people who don't have access to a car can find it very challenging to reach 
education and employment, to the point that they may be forced to leave their own 
community to find suitable work and housing. 

• Car dependence is unlikely to be sustainable in the longer term, both on cost grounds 
and through the need for carbon reduction. Car ownership in rural areas is likely to 
become increasingly unsustainable, so alternatives need to be in place sooner rather 
than later. 

• More than in any other area of the county, visitors need to be able to travel without a 
car and there is a definite need to support a sustainable visitor economy to ensure that 
the natural environment is protected while its economic benefit is maximised. 

These problems could be compounded in the future if consideration is not given to 
sustainable access when considering the scale and location of future housing and 
employment needs within existing rural communities. 

We therefore need to do what we can to make more sustainable modes available where 
possible, both for those who don't have the choice of a car and for those who would want 
other options, whether through age or cost. However, the car will remain a vital part of 
rural transport and we therefore need to do what we can to make car ownership itself as 
sustainable as possible. 

Source: District of Lancaster Highways and Transport Master Plan P45 

 
4.9.2 The Master Plan identifies many of the challenges that lie ahead and indicates a 
potential ‘Greenway’ route from Lancaster that would pass through the north end of the 
Parish to serve the needs of cyclists and pedestrians though its delivery is neither funded 
nor timetabled. It also recognises the difficulties of funding conventional bus services for 
sparsely populated rural areas and indicates that an innovative approach will be needed to 
provide sustainable access to these areas in the future. The Parish Council accepts that 
the reality for the future, particularly given recent cuts to local bus services, is likely to 
focus on the continuing primacy of the car for local travel planning.  
 
4.9.3 Compliance with Development Management DPD Policies DM20: Enhancing 
Accessibility and Transport Linkages, DM21: Walking and Cycling, DM22: Vehicle parking 
Provision, and DM35: Key Design Principles and their successor policies in the emerging 

Page 171



 

 

Referendum Version - January 2019 
51 

Local Plan is essential to ensure that the issues raised for Rural Lancaster in the District of 
Lancaster Highways and Transport Master Plan have been fully addressed and any 
necessary mitigation measures identified. The following policy is intended to focus 
decision makers on the wider implications of new development and the opportunities that 
exist to make improvements which would contribute to safer and more sustainable 
neighbourhood transport outcomes. 
 

Policy TRA1 - Infrastructure for New Development 
 
Where development proposals are shown through evidence to be required to contribute 
towards any of the following schemes, so as to make the development acceptable, 
appropriate financial contributions will be sought through a planning obligation. 
Developer contributions towards improved community infrastructure will be sought where 
it is shown that the obligation is necessary to make the scheme acceptable in planning 
terms, is directly related to the development and is fairly and reasonably related in scale 
and kind to the development.  
 
(l) Improvements to the existing local network of cycleways, bridleways and footways 
which encourage their use. 

(ll) Measures which improve accessibility within the Parish by public transport, walking 
and cycling and the provision of additional car parking within the village of Wray. 

(lll) Improvements to links between the Parish and local service centres including the 
development of new cycleways to reduce reliance on the B6480 and enhance safety for 
all.  

 
4.9.4 The only classified road within the Neighbourhood Plan area is the B6480 running 
broadly east - west through the village of Wray. Both the B6480 and all other routes in the 
plan area are essentially minor roads with limited carriageway widths, winding alignments 
and generally poor forward visibility. All routes have virtually no continuous verge which 
makes them particularly hazardous for non-motorised users. In addition, parts of the 
B6480 and the minor road network are designated cycle routes, including the Way of the 
Roses, which means that many cyclists are unfamiliar with the conditions they encounter.  
 
4.9.5 Public transport is also very limited, particularly following the severe cuts to bus 
services in 2016 which make it almost impossible for use by employees travelling to and 
from work and by students and others to reach the main service centres in Lancaster and 
Morecambe. Similarly although there is a train station in Wennington, this provides only 4 
trains in each direction between Morecambe and Leeds. The lack of weekend and bank 
holiday public transport services also has a harmful impact on the visitor economy and the 
leisure opportunities of residents. As a result, residents are either totally car dependent for 
travel or are excluded from many leisure opportunities in the surrounding area. 
 
4.9.6 Within the village of Wray there are only limited lengths of footway which together 
with the conflict caused by parked vehicles make access to community facilities for 
residents and visitors particularly hazardous. The infrastructure policy is therefore intended 
to ensure that the full implications of development for accessibility and connectivity are 

Page 172



 

 

Referendum Version - January 2019 
52 

taken into account, while the associated community action is intended to help focus future 
infrastructure spending in accordance with the expressed wishes of the community.   
 

COMMUNITY ACTION 2: PRIORITIES FOR INFRASTRUCTURE43 
 
The Parish Council will work with Lancaster City Council, Lancashire County Council, 
and other bodies as appropriate to deliver the following projects through the use of 
Planning Agreements (Section 106) and Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) or 
successor mechanisms such as Local Infrastructure Tariff (LIT) gained through the 
permitting of development within the Neighbourhood Plan Area: 
 
(l) Off-street parking provision, where appropriate on Main Street, Wray to improve road 
safety and the character and appearance of the village by reducing the dominance of the 
motor vehicle within the streetscape.  

(ll) All-ability access to the footpath network including improvements to footways within 
the village of Wray to reduce the need to walk in the road and to improve the health and 
wellbeing of residents and visitors. 

(lll) Measures to conserve and enhance the local environment, including designated 
local green space. 
 

 
4.9.7 The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) is a national scheme which allows local 
planning authorities to set local charges for new development to fund the provision of 
infrastructure. Money raised by CIL can be used to support development by funding 
infrastructure that the council, local community and neighbourhoods want. The proceeds 
would be paid directly to the Parish and can be used to back the community’s priorities. 
Within Neighbourhood Plan areas which secure the consent of local people in the 
referendum, 25 per cent of the revenues from the Community Infrastructure Levy arising 
from the development that they choose to accept would be made available. This policy 
sets out the priorities for spending CIL or any successor policy such as Local Infrastructure 
Tariff (LIT) within the Parish. 
 
4.9.8 Planning agreements under section 106 of the Planning Act are intended to mitigate 
the impact of development on local communities. For all development schemes with a 
local impact, Lancaster City Council would normally negotiate with the developer a 
package of measures to limit the impacts on the local environment and residents. This 
policy provides Lancaster City with guidance as to the priorities for funding within the 
Parish of such monies as may arise. 
 
4.9.9 The National Planning Policy Framework seeks to ensure our transport 
infrastructure is more balanced towards sustainable modes of transport including public 
transport. Benefits include reduced carbon emissions and health benefits. The current 
situation for cyclists in particular having to use the B6480 as part of the cycle network is 
unsatisfactory. With necessary funding either the long term proposal to convert the 
disused railway line from Bull Beck through to Kiln Lane in Wray could be progressed or a 
lower cost alternative of upgrading the existing bridleway (1-38-BW 37) along Back Lane 

                                            
43 Community Actions are not land use policies but are rather aspirations of the Parish Council on behalf of 
the community  

Page 173



 

 

Referendum Version - January 2019 
53 

to Kiln Lane would at least eliminate a particularly hazardous section of the B6480. A 
modest upgrade of the remaining length from Meal Bank Bridge in the east to Kiln Lane 
would also add significantly to the quality of the non-motorised user network in the Parish 
and provide significant health benefits to residents and visitors alike. 
 
4.9.10 The B6480 is subject to the national speed limit outside the village of Wray and to a 
30mph within the village. Main Street from its junction the B6480 to Wray Bridge is subject 
to a 20mph speed limit. Both restrictions are widely disregarded and there is little likelihood 
that any enforcement action would have a lasting effect. Whilst the imposition of a 20mph 
speed limit throughout village would have a positive impact on both the safety and security 
of non-motorised users particularly where there are no continuous footways, further low 
cost physical measures such as road narrowing with priority gateways could contribute 
significantly to traffic calming. It is acknowledged that more specific evidence may be 
required to justify and then implement measures to mitigate the speed and flow of through 
traffic. Whilst Lancaster City Council considers such matters to be beyond the remit of a 
Neighbourhood Plan focussed on land-use, nevertheless providing a safe and accessible 
transport network is key to unlocking the potential of Rural Lancaster. 
 
  

Page 174



 

 

Referendum Version - January 2019 
54 

SECTION 5  IMPLEMENTATION AND MONITORING 
 
5.1 The Neighbourhood Plan will be delivered and implemented over the period to 
2030. Different stakeholders and partners will be involved. It is not a rigid ‘blue-print’ and 
provides instead a ‘direction for change’ through its vision, objectives and policies. 
Flexibility will also be needed as new challenges and opportunities arise over the plan 
period. In this respect, implementation, monitoring and review will be crucial. 
 
5.2 Wray with Botton Parish Council will be the responsible body to manage and 
oversee the implementation of the Neighbourhood Plan. 
 
Key Activities 
5.3 There will be three key strands of activity which will direct delivery and each is 
important in shaping the plan area in the months and years ahead. These comprise: 

l) The statutory planning process will direct and control private developer and investor 
interest in the Parish in the context of the Neighbourhood Plan, Lancaster City Council 
Local Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework. The Parish Council (in its role as 
statutory consultee to planning applications) and Lancaster City Council as the Local 
Planning Authority will use the Neighbourhood Plan to assess the appropriateness and 
suitability of applications. This assessment will help inform the Parish Council’s response 
to the application (e.g. written representations in support of, or in objection to the 
proposals) and will inform the Local Planning Authority’s final decision. In summary, 
planning applications that are broadly in accordance with both the Lancaster City Local 
Plan, and with the Neighbourhood Plan should be supported while those that are not 
should be refused. 

ll) Investment in, and management of, public services, assets and other measures to 
improve local services and vitality and viability for the Parish. In the context of the 
prevailing economic climate and public funding there is a recognition that public 
investment in the Parish will be challenging to secure. The Community Infrastructure Levy 
(CIL), if introduced by Lancaster City Council, could contribute a small amount through 
new development. In the meantime, Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 allows for agreements between developers and Lancaster City Council, with financial 
contributions towards necessary services and infrastructure improvements. Such 
contributions resulting from developments within the Neighbourhood Plan designated area 
should be allocated towards improvement or addition of local services and /or the securing 
of environmental benefits for Wray with Botton Parish residents and community. 

lll) The voluntary and community sector will have a strong role to play particularly in terms 
of local community infrastructure, events and Parish life. This sector is likely to play an 
important role in the future, and includes, but is not limited to, Wray Institute and the 
Scarecrow Festival Committees, Holy Trinity Church, Wray Methodist Church and Friends 
of the Chapel, Wray Over Sixties, Wray with Botton Heritage Group, Wennington and 
District WI and Wray Scouts & Guides. 
 
Key Areas of Action 
5.4 The key areas of action summarises the Parish Council’s approach to delivery and 
implementation of the Neighbourhood Plan: 
 
  

Page 175



 

 

Referendum Version - January 2019 
55 

Housing Development 

5.5 The Parish Council will work with local landowners, developers and Lancaster City 
Council to deliver sustainable growth in new housing over the plan period to meet 
identified local needs. 
 
Rural Economy 

5.6 The Parish Council will encourage businesses to improve local employment 
opportunities for local people and work with landowners and stakeholders to bring 
brownfield sites such as underused or disused agricultural buildings forward for 
redevelopment or conversion into economic use. 
 
Natural Environment 

5.7 The Parish Council will work with Lancaster City Council, The Forest of Bowland 
AONB Unit, Lancashire County Council and other statutory bodies and agencies together 
with landowners and stakeholders to ensure the natural environment is protected from 
inappropriate development. 
 
Transport and Infrastructure 

5.8 The Parish Council will work with Lancaster City Council and Lancashire County 
Council to find ways to improve road safety, address speed and parking issues and 
provide suitable pedestrian, cycle and equestrian facilities throughout the Parish. 
 
Monitoring and Review 

5.9 The Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Plan is a ‘living’ document and as such will 
become an integral component of the stewardship of the Parish Council. 

a) The Parish Council meeting will include a regular agenda item to monitor and action 
activities to progress the implementation of the Neighbourhood Plan. 

b) The Parish Annual Meeting will report on annual progress achieved, and set out the 
programme aims and key activities for the subsequent year ahead integrating this within its 
own forward planning processes. 

c) The Parish Council will monitor the progress of implementing the Neighbourhood Plan 
every 3 years. The focus of the monitoring will be to ensure that the policies made are 
effectively contributing to the realisation of the vision and objectives set out in the 
Neighbourhood Plan. Any resulting proposals to correct and improve policies to meet the 
vision and objectives will require to be undertaken through a review of the Neighbourhood 
Plan in full collaboration with Lancaster City Council. Evidence will also be reviewed and 
updated as required. 
 
Next Steps 

5.10 The following sets out the remaining planned key milestones of the neighbourhood 
planning process: 

May 2019 Wray with Botton Parish Referendum of residents to support the Plan 

July 2019 Lancaster City Council confirms our Neighbourhood Plan is ‘made’ 

August 2019 Implementation of ‘made’ Neighbourhood Plan starts 

Page 176



 

 

Referendum Version - January 2019 
56 

APPENDICES 
 
The appendices are available as separate documents on Lancaster City Council’s 
Planning website under Wray Neighbourhood Plan: 
 
Appendix 1  Other documents guiding development in the Neighbourhood Plan Area 
 
Appendix 2  Schedule of Evidence  
 
Appendix 3   Site Selection and Assessment  
 
Appendix 4 Constraints Overview and Environmental Constraints Maps  
 
Appendix 5 Local Green Space  

   
Appendix 6 Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) and Habitat Regulation 

Assessment (HRA) 
 
Appendix 7 Bibliography/References 
 
Appendix 8  Glossary of Terms 
 
Appendix 9 Table of Successor Policies in Emerging Local Plan 
 
Appendix 10 Wray with Botton Neighbourhood Plan Landscape Appraisal 
 
Appendix 11 Heritage Impact Assessment 

Page 177



Equality Impact Assessment

1
Top Tip:  Have a read of the “An easy guide for staff who need to complete an Equality Impact Assessment”

This online equality impact assessment should:

An equality impact assessment should take place when considering doing something in a new 
way.  Please submit your completed EIA as an appendix to your committee report.  Please 
remember that this will be a public document – do not use jargon or abbreviations.

                                             `

Service  

Title of policy, service, function, project or strategy

Type of policy, service, function, project or strategy: Existing ☐ New/Proposed ☒    

Lead Officer     

People involved with completing the EIA

Step 1.1: Make sure you have clear aims and objectives
Q1. What is the aim of your policy, service, function, project or strategy?

Q2. 
Who 
is 
inten
ded 

to benefit or have a detrimental effect on and how?

Step 
1.2: 
Coll
ectin
g 
your 
infor
mati
on
Q3. 
Usin
g 
existi

ng data (if available) and thinking about each group below, does, or could the policy, service, 
function, project or strategy have a negative impact on the groups below?

 Regeneration & Planning 

Wray-with-Botton Neighbourhood Plan Referendum 

 Paul Hatch

 Henry Cumbers

Wray-with-Botton Neighbourhood Plan has been developed by the local community and 
has given them a greater ownership of the plans and policies that affect their community. 
The Vision Statement of the NDP is for a strong, cohesive and forward looking 
community. A community that will in response to the needs of residents, organically grow 
and develop in a sensitive and sustainable manner. Objective 3 of the NPD is to support 
local housing needs being met by providing homes of the right type, size and tenure in the 
most suitable places. The aim of the referendum is to give the Wray-with-Botton 
community a vote on whether they support the Neighbourhood Plan. If the referendum 
results in a majority Yes vote (over 50% plus 1), the Council must ‘make’ the 
neighbourhood plan as soon as reasonably practical. The plan will then become part of 
the Lancaster District Local Plan.    

The Wray-with-Botton Neighbourhood Plan should lead to a balanced approach to 
development in the next 12 years that meets current needs whilst protecting the interests 
of future generations.  The policies and proposals of the Plan have been developed in 
consultation with the community and wider stakeholders to produce as inclusive a 
document as possible.  The policies set out in the Plan would be unlikely to have any 
detrimental impact on most of the ‘protected characteristics’ set out in the Equality Act 
2010 and generally the plan would bring positive benefits. It is recognised that whilst the 
plan does not directly address needs of specific groups neither do its policies expressly 
exclude any groups’ needs. The purpose of the referendum is to give everyone who is 
eligible to vote in the Parish of Wray-with-Botton the opportunity to determine whether the 
NP should be used in determining planning applications in the future. It is a requirement of 
the Local ism Act 2011 that a standard question is posed in the referendum which asks ‘ 
Do you want Lancaster City Council to use the Neighbourhood Plan for Wray-with-Botton 
to help it decide planning applications in the neighbourhood area?’

Page 178



Equality Impact Assessment

2
Top Tip:  Have a read of the “An easy guide for staff who need to complete an Equality Impact Assessment”

Group Negative Positive/No 
Impact

Unclear

Age ☐ ☒ ☐
Disability ☐ ☒ ☐
Faith, religion or belief ☐ ☒ ☐
Gender including marriage, pregnancy and maternity ☐ ☒ ☐
Gender reassignment ☐ ☒ ☐
Race ☐ ☒ ☐
Sexual orientation including civic partnerships ☐ ☒ ☐
Other socially excluded groups such as carers, areas of 
deprivation

☐ ☒ ☐

Rural communities ☐ ☒ ☐

Step 1.3 – Now you need to consult!

Q4. Who have you consulted with? If you haven’t consulted yet please list who you are going to 
consult with?  Please give examples of how you have or are going to consult with specific groups 
of communities

Step 
1.4 – 
Asse
ssin
g the 
impa
ct
Q5. 
Usin
g the 
existi
ng 
data 
and 
the 
asse
ssme
nt in 
ques
tions 
3 
what 
does 

it tell you, is there an impact on some groups in the community? 

Wray-with-Botton Parish Council have consulted with their community throughout the 
Neighbourhood Plan process, this has been detailed in their Consultation Statement 
which has been submitted as part of their Neighbourhood Plan.  Prior to the preparation of 
the Issues and Options consultation, a housing needs survey was prepared which 
involved a survey being given to all 222 households within the Parish. 

Informal consultations were undertaken at through an Issues and Options Consultation in 
2016. A first draft plan was then published for further consultation for a six-week period 
from 30th September until 10th November 2017. Under Regulation 14 of the 
Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 an six-week consultation was held 
from 11th June until 25th May 2018. This included a covering letter being sent to all 
parishioners. 

The Neighbourhood Plan was then submitted by the Parish Council. A statutory 
consultation was then held by the Council prior to the Examination, for a period of six 
weeks, from 20th July 2018 to 23rd July 2018.  Targeted consultation has not taken place 
with the specific groups, however this was distributed via the Council’s Planning Policy 
Consultation List and widely publicised by Wray-with-Botton Parish Council.

In respect of the referendum as per Regulation 18 of the Neighbourhood Planning 
(General) Regulations, a Decision Statement will be issued which will explain the Decision 
of the Council upon the outcomes of the Examination including reasons, details of where 
and when the decision statement may be inspected and bring the decision statement and, 
as the case may be, the report to the attention of people who live, work or carry on 
business in Wray-with-Botton. An Information Statement will also be issued (the same 
Statement as the Decision Statement), which will publicise that a referendum will be held, 
the date of 14th February upon which it will be held, the question to be asked in the 
referendum,  a map of the referendum area, and where documents may be inspected. 

Age:   The housing needs survey was issued to all households in the Parish. However, the 

Page 179



Equality Impact Assessment

3
Top Tip:  Have a read of the “An easy guide for staff who need to complete an Equality Impact Assessment”

Step 
1.5 
– 
Wha
t are 
the 
diffe
renc
es?
Q6. 
If 
you 
are 
eith
er 
dire
ctly 
or 
indir
ectly 
disc
rimi
nati
ng, 
how 
are 
you 
goin
g to 
cha
nge 
this 
or 

mitigate the negative impact?

Q7.  Do you need any more information/evidence eg statistic, consultation.  If so how do you plan 
to address this?

Step 1.6 – Make a recommendation based on steps 1.1 to 1.5

Q8.  If you are in a position to make a recommendation to change or introduce the policy, service, 
function, project or strategy, clearly show how it was decided on.

Q9. If you are not in a position to go ahead, what actions are you going to take?

age distribution of returnees peaked between 60 and 69. This corresponds with the Upper 
Lune Valley ward which has an older age structure than is the national or district average. 
Whilst the NP does not specifically promote the needs of older people, where a local 
housing need is identified policies H1 and H2 seeks to promote small scale opportunities 
this may in the future include opportunities for older people.  
Disability:   The NP has a neutral impact as neither does it provide specific positive or 
negative policies in relation to faith, religion or belief.  All households were distributed with 
a housing needs survey as part of the preparation of the NP. However, no specific need 
was identified. The proposed referendum would take place on 30th May 2019 and anyone 
eligible to vote within Wray-with-Botton will have the opportunity to register a vote. There 
are regulations within the Neighbourhood Planning (Referendum) Regulations that require 
the referendum to be accessible to those with disabilities.  
Faith, Religion or Belief:    The NP has a neutral impact as neither does it provide specific 
positive or negative policies in relation to faith, religion or belief.  All households were 
distributed with a housing needs survey as part of the preparation of the NP. However, no 
specific need was identified. 
Gender including Marriage, Pregnancy and Maternity:   The Neighbourhood Plan has a 
very limited role  in the context of gender, marriage, pregnancy and maternity. 
Gender Reassignment:  The Neighbourhood Plan and referendum has a very limited role 
in the context of gender reassignment
Race:  The Parish of Wray-with-Botton was 98.7% white at the time of 2011 Census. 
However, in general the Neighbourhood Plan has a very limited role in the context of race, 
policies have a neutral impact. As part of the referendum there are requirements of 
legislation which require inclusivity for those without English as a main language.   
Sexual Orientation including Civic Partnership:   The 2011 Census did not have a specific 
question regarding sexual orientation.  Estimates of the prevalence and incidence of 
transgender people are difficult to quantify due to the lack of robust national data. 
Rural Communities:   Wray-with-Botton is a rural community which has been fully involved 
in developing a Neighbourhood Plan for the area. The Plan provides policies which seek to 
promote the qualities of rural communities including jobs, housing and access to public 
transport.  The Consultation Statement details this involvement. The referendum will take 
place on 30th May 2019. There are also opportunities for people to undertake a postal 
vote.  

There are no policies which will directly or indirectly lead to discrimination within the NDP. 
The referendum will take place in a way that does not discriminate people. 

None required. 

 None required

Page 180



Equality Impact Assessment

4
Top Tip:  Have a read of the “An easy guide for staff who need to complete an Equality Impact Assessment”

Q10. How do you plan to monitor the impact and effectiveness of this change or decision?

Step 1.7 – Publish your results

This EIA has been approved by: 

Contact Number:  

Date

None required

The NP will be monitored including policies on housing and the rural economy. A 
framework has been proposed as part of proposed modifications.

Maurice Brophy 

01524 582383
15/02/2019

Page 181



CABINET

Arts and Culture Policy Framework
5 March 2019

Report of Director of Economic Growth and Regeneration

PURPOSE OF REPORT

The report is to request Cabinet’s approval of the Arts and Culture policy for consultation.  The 
policy framework is designed to provide a means by which the Council’s support for arts and 
culture can be evaluated against corporate priorities and key quality criteria.   

Key Decision x Non-Key Decision Referral from Cabinet 
Member

Date of notice of forthcoming 
key decision

5 February 2019

This report is public. 

RECOMMENDATIONS OF Councillor Darren Clifford, Portfolio Holder for Leisure, 
Culture, Tourism and Climate Change 

It is recommended that
 

(1) The draft Arts and Cultural policy is approved for further consultation.

1.0 Introduction

1.1 Arts and culture have been a feature of Lancaster district for many years. The Council 
has played an important role supporting arts and culture in a range of ways, including taking 
a leadership role at times, providing investments to support delivery of cultural activities and 
as a cultural deliverer itself. 

1.2 Currently no agreed policy is in place to guide the Council’s investment or use of 
Council resources to support arts and culture. Appendix A provides a draft policy for further 
consultation.

2.0 Proposal Details

2.1 Transparency in the use of public funds is of paramount importance when the City 
Council is supporting non statutory endeavours. To ensure public funds are appropriately 
accounted and applied it will assist to have a clear policy statement to guide the application of 
funding. Lancaster City enjoys a significant and lively offering across a whole range of cultural 
endeavours, many of which it is assumed add value through increased visitor numbers, 
support or activities for disadvantage groups. 

2.2 It is proposed to use the opportunity provided by the creation of this policy to consult 
with and collate evidence to establish the primary economic and social policy needs which 
must be met for arts and cultural funding. The draft was created upon the assumption that 

Page 182Agenda Item 7



policy drivers are likely to be linked to economic impact, including increased visitor numbers 
and spend, increased social impact such as health and wellbeing and improved quality of life 
for residents plus contribution to Place. However this will need testing through evidence and 
information from the public. It will also need to reflect a sustainable model of delivery into the 
next decade.

2.3 When the social objectives have been clearly articulated, it is proposed that a series 
of consultations with members will occur. It is envisaged the political policy will ultimately be 
set by full Council on the recommendation of Cabinet, but the development of the policy will 
be driven, influenced and enhanced by a broad participation across all parties with the 
assistance of Overview and Scrutiny.

2.4 On confirmation of the Council’s social and political priorities officers will be in a 
position to create a detailed administrative policy to deliver the objectives set by council. This 
will allow the City Council to provide a consistent framework for the Council’s investment and 
use of resources to support Arts and Culture.

2.5 A draft Arts and Cultural Policy is at Appendix 1 for Cabinet’s consideration and is 
suggested as a basis to allow for meaningful consultation with providers, participants and 
recipients of our cultural offering.  

3.0 Details of Consultation

3.1 The draft policy provides parameters that take account of the Council Plan which has 
been widely consulted upon. Evidence of economic and social policy requirements will be 
collated primarily from existing sources. 

3.2 The political policy will be developed through member engagement, which will require 
an understanding of the view of all stakeholders including providers, participants and 
audiences and wider beneficiaries. It is proposed that the majority of the responses will be 
provided through our current engagement with cultural providers. Cultural providers will be 
invited to comment in their organisational capacity and to assist in facilitating the collection of 
views from audiences and other users of the services such as performing art or other support 
groups. 

4.0 Options and Options Analysis [including risk assessment]

4.1 Continuing without a policy in place offers no identified benefits. The lack of policy risks 
public funds being used to promote activities that either do not provide value for money or 
offer no material benefit. Introducing a policy based on evidence will ensure fairness and 
consistency in terms of allocation of funds and resources and will align the delivery of services 
with the Council’s priorities. 

5.0 Officer Preferred Option (and comments)

5.1 The officer preferred option is to agree the draft Arts and Cultural Policy for 
consultation. 

6.0 Conclusion

6.1 The City Council invests and uses its resources to support arts and culture in the 
district. It is important that the Council establishes the arrangements necessary to ensure the 
best possible results from its contribution in a way that is fair and transparent.  

Page 183



RELATIONSHIP TO POLICY FRAMEWORK

The proposed policy framework refers directly to the Council Plan

CONCLUSION OF IMPACT ASSESSMENT
(including Health & Safety, Equality & Diversity, Human Rights, Community Safety, 
Human Resources, Sustainability and Rural Proofing)

A range of criteria are proposed within the policy framework that address the above as 
relevant.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

There are no direct legal implications from this report. However, the policy is designed to 
inform decision making.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

There are no direct financial implications arising from this report other than a potential positive 
impact on value for money. 

OTHER RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS, such as Human Resources, Information Services, 
Property, Open Spaces:

Officer capacity will be required to implement the policy.

SECTION 151 OFFICER’S COMMENTS

The S151 Officer has been consulted in the drafting of this report and has no further 
comments.

MONITORING OFFICER’S COMMENTS

The Monitoring Officer has been consulted in the drafting of the report and has no further 
comments.

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Not applicable

Contact Officer:  Anne Marie Harrison
Telephone: 01524 58 2308
E-mail:  amharrison@lancaster.gov.uk
 

Page 184

mailto:amharrison@lancaster.gov.uk


Lancaster City Council
Arts and Cultural Policy

March 2019

Page 185



Introduction
This Cultural Policy is designed to create a framework for the Council’s overall support for arts 
and culture in the district and as part of the North West cultural agenda. It is intended that this 
will ensure that the Council’s engagement in arts and culture (including heritage) is purposeful, 
has a clear rationale, delivers value for money and outcomes that are positive for the district 
and reflect relevant priorities.

This policy framework does not seek to directly steer the development of arts and culture in 
the district, as this is creative, innovative and, at times, has strong local ownership.  However, 
it will provide clear guiding principles and criteria that reflect the Council’s priorities and 
underpin its investment and use of resources. 

It is recognised that this policy framework sits alongside, but is distinct from, other strategies 
including the Lancaster District Arts Framework, the Cultural Heritage Strategy and the 
strategic plans of a range of cultural organisations in the district, the North West and nationally, 
all of which the Council may consider separately.  

The Council has a strong role supporting, developing, investing, promoting and delivering arts 
and culture in the district. A clear policy framework will provide the means by which the Council 
can prioritise how it can deliver successfully against its priorities and achieve the best possible 
outcomes.

Background
The cultural landscape of the Lancaster district is rich and varied and has shaped a unique 
identity and reputation in the North West. Arts and Culture in Lancaster district are recognised 
as important in terms of the economy, health and wellbeing and quality of life.  “Connecting 
and Celebrating Culture and Heritage” has emerged as a key theme in the Lancaster Story, 
setting the district apart for its unique cultural offer. 

Lancaster Arts Partners Economic Impact Assessment in 2011 showed that the Arts and 
Creative Industries sector is established as an economic sector in its own right in Lancaster 
district, supporting over 600 businesses and up to 2430 jobs at that time. Recently this sector 
has become more visible, developing alongside the digital sector in an area where 87% of 
businesses are small and micro enterprises.    

The sector is also a major contributor to Lancaster district’s growing visitor economy worth 
£476m, recording 7.5m tourism visits in 2017 (STEAM Data).   

The importance of Arts and Culture can be linked with key priorities in the Council Plan, the 
Local Development Framework Core Strategy and the (currently draft) Economic Growth Plan 
2019 - 2029.  In more detail, the importance of supporting and developing the district’s arts 
and cultural offer is articulated in the Council’s adopted Cultural Heritage Strategy and the 
Lancaster District Arts Framework, developed by the Lancaster Arts Partnership.

Lancaster district’s cultural offer is distinctive. It comprises outstanding producing and 
community theatre, a thriving music scene, innovative dance provision, award winning 
festivals, acclaimed literature, creative arts, galleries, museums and the spoken word.   There 
is a strong partnership of imaginative cultural leaders and providers with ambitions to develop 
the current offer and to do new and different things.  A range of outstanding venues, spaces 
and places set the scene for culture in the community but also as an important part of the 
district’s visitor offer.   

Page 186



The district’s cultural development is very much enhanced by a strong strategic and delivery 
role played by Lancaster University as part of the Lancaster Institute of Contemporary Arts 
and the Faculty of Arts and Social Science.  A number of other partners play an important role 
in delivering a distinctive and ambitious programme across the district.  

The Arts and Cultural sector is currently affected by a wide range of external factors that are 
creating both positive and negative challenges.  Overall, there is a growing recognition of the 
importance of the arts and culture as a driver for economic and social value but, following a 
number of years of economic pressure, this is taking place in the context of reduced public 
funding and an increased need for business resilience and adaptability.  There is clearer 
recognition that some cultural activities can pay their way whilst other activities that may have 
a high value in terms of the economy and communities, will always need support and funding 
if they are to continue. These factors create both threats and opportunities, of course, but it is 
certainly true that the Arts sector in the district is facing considerable change.  
Arts Council England research (The Value of Arts and Culture to People and Society) identifies 
the difference culture makes in the following ways: 

Economy – jobs, skills and developing talent, attracting and retaining visitors, revitalising 
places, 

Health and Wellbeing – increase in levels of good health and subjective wellbeing, cognitive 
abilities of children and young people, positive impact on specific health conditions including 
dementia and depression

Society – community cohesion, safer and stronger communities, social inclusion, 
employability, levels of volunteering

Education – literacy, early language acquisition, maths, cognitive abilities, educational 
attainment

Outcomes for the district
Within the district, the Council Plan for 2018 – 2022 broadly reflects a similar position to the 
Arts Council although this is articulated in a different way.  The Council Plan refers to arts and 
culture in respect of economic and social outcomes but also has a focus on Place to which 
arts and culture make an important contribution. The following outcomes provide a clear focus 
on what the Council will seek to achieve as a result of a strong and distinctive arts and cultural 
offer: 

Economic outcomes

Jobs created and safeguarded, skills and educational attainment, number of visitors and visitor 
spend, local spend and businesses benefitting, contribution to Place and to the attractiveness 
of the district and wider region to businesses and those who live and work here.

Social outcomes

Quality of life, skills and prospects for local people, health and well-being, inclusive and 
engaged communities, satisfaction with the area as a place to live, reduced reliance on public 
support services. 

Page 187



Place outcomes
Quality and distinctiveness of the Lancaster district cultural offer, excellent profile and 
reputation of arts and culture in the economic region, protected and enhanced heritage, local, 
national and international audiences. 

Council support for arts and culture
The Council states in its Council Plan that it will “Develop and promote an exceptional arts and 
cultural offer at the national and international level, as a distinctive part of our offer to residents 
and visitors”.

Reflecting its priorities relating to the economy, for communities and stewardship of place, the 
Council plays a key role supporting arts and culture in a number of different ways. Partnership 
underpins most arrangements and often the Council adopts a leadership and enabling role. 
As the Local Authority, the council can bring a democratic mandate to the table when this is 
required, formalising support for an approach to culture. The Council owns and has access to 
land and buildings that provide the basis of the infrastructure required for some 
organisations, activities and events. Arts investments by the Council have supported a 
number of key organisations for some years and allowed for longer term planning for core 
delivery. The Council plays a strong role in promotion and marketing of the district’s cultural 
activities to wide audiences within and beyond the district. As a delivery partner the Council 
plays an important role in relation to museums, heritage developments, major festivals 
and events, live entertainment and arts programming. 

Policy principles
The Council’s current approach to arts and culture in the district has developed over a number 
of years. In various ways, there has been considerable reference to the kind of outcomes the 
Council wants to support and this is generally consistent. In terms of its strategic support, 
delivery and investment, the Council has clearly contributed, along with the considerable work 
of partners, to some significant achievements and a growing reputation for arts and culture. 

Currently, recognition has increased of the importance of arts and culture as a particular 
strength of this area and its economic and social impact. The Council is firmly embedded in 
the cultural agenda in many ways and, given the existing strategic policy framework, it seems 
likely that this will continue to be the case. Recognising this, it is an appropriate time to 
establish a clear policy framework for the Council’s support for arts and culture that reflects its 
priorities and aspirations but ensures a strategic, transparent and robust approach that 
maximises outcomes and provides value for money.  

This policy details the Impact the Council will seek to achieve and the Criteria it will use to 
appraise and evaluate the projects, programmes and delivery by cultural organisations that 
the Council may wish to support.

Impact
In determining its use of financial or other resources, the Council will consider overall impact 
and the outcomes to be achieved.  These will include:

Economic impact and contribution to local wealth in a range of ways such as jobs created 
and safeguarded, number of visitors and visitor spend, local spend and businesses benefitting, 
contribution to Place and to the attractiveness of the district and the wider region to businesses 
and to those who live, work, study and visit the area.

Page 188



Impact on local communities and social value, including quality of life, skills and prospects 
for local people, health and well-being, inclusive and engaged communities, satisfaction with 
the area as a place to live, reduced reliance on public support services, impact on priority 
groups or areas. 

Contribution to Place outcomes, including improving the reputation and profile of the area 
for a quality and distinctive cultural offer, protecting and enhancing heritage, increased local, 
national and international audiences. 

Appraisal and evaluation criteria
The Council will also consider a range of specific criteria to appraise and evaluate individual 
and ongoing opportunities or requirements for financial or other support. These will include: 

Contribution to Council’s agreed corporate priorities and outcomes

The Council will expect that use of resources would reflect priorities at any given point in time. 
The Council Plan is the key reference document but other policy documents including the 
Economic Growth Plan are also relevant.     

Contribution to the agreed outcomes of cultural funding partners

The Council works in partnership with strategic, funding and delivery partners and will 
endeavour to support delivery of shared priorities where possible and where the Council’s own 
objectives are not compromised.

Established need or opportunity for the service

Evidence of need or opportunity for the service is expected and can be provided in a number 
of ways including using published data but should also include, where possible and feasible, 
other qualitative information such as audience analysis, consultation and engagement 
feedback and service delivery information.   

Added value and additionality

The Council aims to use its resources to deliver that which is over and above what would 
otherwise be delivered. The intention is to complement and add to existing services rather 
than to displace or compete.  A broad awareness of other relevant cultural services is 
necessary to ensure that new and developing proposals add value in the right way.  

Value for Money 

The Council provides services from public funding and therefore must ensure that all 
expenditure achieves value for money requirements, which may include consideration of 
opportunities for income or efficiencies for the Council, availability of match funding, voluntary 
contributions as well as other financial and resource information.

Sustainable and deliverable business model / plan

The Council will consider sustainability, deliverability and risks associated with any investment 
or resource requirements and proposals with the objective of ensuring strong outcomes and 
safeguarding its investment.  

Page 189



Quality, innovation and distinctiveness 

The Council wishes to support delivery of quality services but also set the scene for innovation, 
taking a positive approach to new ideas and developments and new ways of working.  
Entrepreneurialism and creativity are valued as well as developing adaptable and flexible 
services with the potential for new solutions. Distinctiveness in arts and culture is also valued 
and helps to set the district apart as well as increase the potential to draw in major funding. 
The Council will encourage digital developments and skills to support digital creativity, arts 
and engagement.

Governance, leadership, management and skills

Appropriate governance, leadership, management and skills are important in term of 
successful delivery for cultural activities, particularly when delivery is at scale. The Council will 
seek to ensure that good arrangements are in place for cultural delivery supported by its 
investments and resources as a means of protecting its investment but also to achieve the 
best possible results. 

Impact on environment and sustainability

The Council will endeavour to reduce or minimise negative impact on the environment and in 
terms of climate change, as a result of any cultural activities it supports, whether delivered by 
the Council itself or by cultural partners the Council supports. Achieving a positive 
environmental impact will be encouraged.

Accessibility, equality and diversity

Accessibility should be at the heart of arts and culture and a guiding principle for cultural 
organisations. The Council will seek to ensure that the arts and culture it supports will be 
accessible to all and that equality of opportunity and diversity are reflected in line with the 
Council’s policies. 

Statutory requirements, including health and safety 

To protect the public and cultural deliverers, the Council will expect that all health and safety 
and any other statutory requirements will be met in full.

 

Page 190



CABINET

Disposal of Land at the Former Shell ICI Site  
5 March 2019

Report of Director of Economic Growth and Regeneration

PURPOSE OF REPORT
To report back to cabinet on the terms agreed in relation to disposal of land as outlined above 
and as required under the cabinet agreement to the disposal dated 12th February 2013

Key Decision X Non-Key Decision Referral from Cabinet 
Member

Date of notice of forthcoming 
key decision

4 February 2019

This report is public. 
Appendices B & C are exempt from publication by virtue of paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of 
the Local Government Act 1972.

RECOMMENDATIONS OF Director of Regeneration and Planning)

(1) Agree the terms of sale, following exercise of the Option to purchase a lease by  
Clifton Marsh Power (now trading as Lancaster Power) and Lancaster City 
Council arising from an agreement dated 30th July 2014.

(2) Director for Economic Growth and Regeneration be granted delegated authority 
to complete the transaction.

1.0 Introduction

1.1 Cabinet at its meeting on 12th February 2013  approved the principle that Lancaster 
City Council enter into an option agreement with Clifton Marsh Power for the disposal 
of land forming part of the former Shell ICI site at Middleton (shown edged black on 
the attached plan) appendix A.

1.2 The parties entered in to an option on the 30th July 2014, for Clifton Marsh Power to 
acquire up to 17.25 acres of land for energy generation and auxiliary related uses. 
Then option period was to expire on 29th July 2017.

1.3 Lancaster Power is now a wholly owned subsidiary of Clifton Marsh Power, who 
acquired the shares in Lancaster Power on the 6th March 2018. The sale agreement 
will be in the name of Lancaster Power. In October 2016 Lancaster City Council 
entered into a deed of novation with CMP transferring the benefit of the option to 
Lancaster Power. At the Cabinet meeting on 26 June 2017 it was agreed that a deed 
of variation be entered into to extend the original term to 2 April 2018.

1.4 Lancaster Power exercised the option on the 28th March 2018 by serving the 
prescribed notice on Lancaster City Council at appendix B.

Page 191 Agenda Item 9



1.5 On the 7th January 2019 the council’s planning committee resolved to approve 
Lancaster Powers planning application, ref 18/01203/FUL for a 49.8 MW battery 
Storage facility. This facility will provide immediate electric power to the grid at times 
of peak requirements, during the capacity lag whilst other forms of generation come 
online and thus the original energy related use intention for the site remains true. 

2.0 Proposal Details

2.1 The purpose of this report is to comply with the original cabinet requirement that the 
proposed terms of sale be presented back to cabinet prior to completion.

2.2 Lancaster Power originally served notice to acquire the full 17.25 acres subject to 
agreement on price as per the terms of the option agreement, through subsequent 
negotiations, terms have been agreed to dispose of the smaller area (2 acres) required 
for their proposed development.

2.3 The Council will retain an element of control as to the future use of the site via 
appropriate user clauses within the ground lease, and whilst the lease will not prevent 
a change of use, it would require the Councils consent and possible payment of a 
premium to release/revise this restriction dependant of the intended revised use and 
thus the council will be secured in terms of its obligation to obtain best consideration 
under section 123 of the Local Government Act. The terms of the lease will also provide 
for the Council to be informed/consent to any future assignments of the lease as is 
usual under landlord and tenant legislation.

2.4 The agreed terms are set out in exempt appendix C Heads of Terms.

3.0 Details of Consultation

3.1 This matter follows on from earlier cabinet decisions and as such no further 
external consultation has been undertaken. 

3.2 Recommendation 4 of the exempt paper 12 February 2013 required any 
extension of the options to be approved by cabinet. The variation set out in 
paragraph 1.3 were agreed by cabinet on 26 June 2017.  

3.3 The terms agreed accord with comparable transactions entered into by the City 
Council in the same location off Imperial road.

4.0 Options and Options Analysis [including risk assessment]

Option 1:  proceed with 
the legal completion of 
the transaction with 
Lancaster Power

Option 2:  do not 
proceed with the 
transaction to 
Lancaster Power

Advantages Opportunity for the 
council to receive a 
capital receipt.

Accords with the 
councils’ corporate 
objectives and stated 
aims for the 
regeneration and 
growth of the Heysham 
gateway area

The potential to 
pursue other 
opportunities in 
relation to the site

Page 192



Disadvantages The loss of opportunity 
to pursue other 
opportunities in relation 
to the site.

Lost opportunity for 
capital receipt

Ongoing liability for 
this parcel of land

Possibility of legal 
challenge by not 
adhering to the terms 
of the legally binding 
option agreement 
between the parties

Risks None specifically 
identified

Strong probability of 
legal action against 
council and a possible 
direction to pay 
compensation

 
5.0 Officer Preferred Option (and comments)

5.1 The preferred option is Option 1 as it accords with the legal obligations 
contained  within the option agreement between the parties.

5.2 It retains ‘surplus’ land for future alternative uses.

5.3 It secures the councils future position as to compliance with S123 of the Local 
Government act and provides the ability to ‘control’ the nature of uses across 
the Heysham Gateway area.

5.4 The proposed use accords with the Councils stated development aspirations 
for the area as outlined in the emerging local plan and Heysham Gateway 
Vision Document.

6.0 Conclusion

6.1 This transaction will provide a certain capital receipt to the council, allow the 
redevelopment of this brownfield site for energy related uses, attract valuable inward 
investment into the district, create immediate jobs during the construction phase and 
a lesser number of long terms jobs during the plants operational phase. It concludes 
the council’s original decision to dispose of the land dating back to 2012.

RELATIONSHIP TO POLICY FRAMEWORK

This proposal supports the Councils Corporate plan, local Plan and Vison document for the 
area, in its priority of economic growth and key themes of environmental sustainability and 
effective management of the Councils resources.

CONCLUSION OF IMPACT ASSESSMENT
(including Health & Safety, Equality & Diversity, Human Rights, Community Safety, 
Human Resources, Sustainability and Rural Proofing)

This report is linked to the medium term Corporate Property Strategy by disposing of 
properties surplus to the requirements of the council.

Page 193



All environmental and sustainability issues have been dealt with via the planning process, and 
these will be imposed via the legal agreements associated with the grant of planning consent 
and lease.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

The proposed transaction gives effect to a previous cabinet decision which was translated into 
an agreement with Lancaster Power. The remaining transactional legal implications will be 
dealt with via the lease and planning agreements.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

If the recommendation is adopted, the City Council will benefit from a capital receipt as set out 
in exempt appendix C. The asset is currently held at Nil value and the proposed terms are 
deemed to be at best consideration taking into account market conditions, the latent 
contamination in the land, terms of the original option agreement and intended use.

The purchaser has advised they are in funds to complete the transaction.

OTHER RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS, such as Human Resources, Information Services, 
Property, Open Spaces:

Regeneration and Planning – officer time to support the finalisation of transaction    
documentation

Human Resources – none

Information Services - None

Property – none as the matter will be progressed by Regeneration and Planning.

SECTION 151 OFFICER’S COMMENTS

The Section 151 Officer has been consulted and has no further comments.

MONITORING OFFICER’S COMMENTS

The Monitoring Officer has been consulted and has no further comments.
BACKGROUND PAPERS
Cabinet decision 12th February 2013
Copy of original option agreement
Copy of option notice
[

Contact Officer:  Richard Crompton
Telephone: 01524 582331
E-mail:  rcrompton@lanacster.gov.uk
Ref: 

Page 194



Page 195



Document is Restricted

Page 196
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 197
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



CABINET

APPLICATION FOR GRANT FUNDING FROM THE 
COMMUNITY HOUSING FUND

5 March 2019

Report of Director of Economic Growth and 
Regeneration 

PURPOSE OF REPORT

To approve a grant application to fund the pre-development costs to support a community 
led development being brought forward by Halton Senior Co-Housing Group Ltd.  

Key Decision X Non-Key Decision Referral from Cabinet 
Member

Date of notice of forthcoming 
key decision

5th November 2018 & 18 February 2019

This report is public but contains appendices exempt from publication by virtue of 
paragraph 3, of Schedule 12a of the Local Government Act 1972

RECOMMENDATIONS OF COUNCILLOR ANDREW WARRINER

(1) To set aside up to £160,000 grant towards the pre-development 
costs of a new community led development (as detailed in 
Appendix 1) from the Community Housing Fund.   

(2) That, subject to requirements from Lancashire County Council 
Highways Authority, that Cabinet authorise officers to bid for 
Homes England – Community Housing Fund Phase 1 
Infrastructure costs (as detailed in Appendix 1) should this be 
required.

(3) That the Section 151 Officer be authorised to update the General 
Fund Revenue Budget to reflect any decision taken under 
recommendation 1 to be funded from the Revenue Grants 
Unapplied, and subject to there being a nil impact on the 
Council’s resources.

Page 200Agenda Item 10



1.0 Introduction
1.1 Lancaster City Council received an allocation of Community Housing 

Fund totalling £707,630 in 2016/17 to support community led housing 
developments.  The commitment from government at the time was to 
provide £60M to support community led developments, with allocations 
made directly to Local Authorities who are affected by second homes 
ownership and a formula to allocate the grant was used to calculate the 
allocations.  Community led housing projects are driven by local 
communities who have identified a local housing need in their area 
which is not being met.  Community led schemes are often developed 
in rural areas where local housing is unaffordable.  Schemes can be 
owned and managed by groups or delivered in partnership with other 
social landlords.  Community led developments are not necessarily 
exclusively affordable housing (depending on what need has been 
identified by the community) but typically schemes often provide some 
element of affordable housing to meet a range of needs.  

2.0 Background 

2.1 A report was presented to Cabinet in August 2017 which approved the 
Grant Policy in respect of the Fund and sought authority to create a 
jointly funded officer post with Fylde Borough Council.  The post was 
filled and then the post holder submitted notice to terminate four 
months after appointment.  

2.2 A further report was approved on 6th November 2018 to commit the 
funding to develop a Community Housing Enabling Hub with partner 
Local Authorities and to create a new officer post to directly support 
community led housing projects in Lancaster district.

  
2.3. Since receiving the original allocation in 2016/17 officers have 

continued to support groups in exploring opportunities to bring forward 
community led developments.  To date, three potential community led 
projects have been identified in Lancaster district, and a fourth project 
which has not yet received or required any grant funding from 
Lancaster City Council.  

2.4 To date, just under £100K of the original allocation has either been 
spent/committed as follows:-

2017/18 spend £12,982.90
2018/19 spend to date £45,624.56
2018/19 committed but unspent £41,100.00
Total to date £99,707.46

Page 201



2.5 The budget spend so far has included payments for specialist advice, 
previous salary and equipment, 3 x grants to groups totalling £35K, 
£9K contribution towards the cost of the Regional Enabling Hub and 
£40K set aside to fund the new officer post.   

3.0 The Proposal

3.1 Halton Senior Co-Housing Group Ltd would like to develop a scheme of 
20 residential properties designed for people of aged 55 and above, 
with on-site communal facilities and shared areas.  This proposal will 
complement the existing Lancaster Co-Housing Scheme which was 
completed in 2013.   

4.0 Scheme Details

4.1 The details of the site identified for the proposed development are 
also contained in exempt Appendix 1 along with the breakdown of 
costs (separated into pre-development and total scheme costs).   

5.0 Grants from the Community Housing Fund

5.1 Cabinet are reminded that the Community Housing Fund is not 
intended to solely support schemes providing affordable housing.  This 
is a development which is seeking to provide mixed tenure, with 14 
market housing units which will cross subsidise the delivery of 6 x 
affordable units.  

5.2 The aim of this project is to achieve Passivhaus standards (equivalent 
to Code Level 6 of the Code for Sustainable Homes) for the proposed 
20 units.  The 6 affordable housing units are likely to be provided in the 
form of 3 units of intermediate housing which is expected to be 
shared ownership or a shared equity model (where the group 
retains a percentage equity stake in the property and will ensure the 
units will be affordable housing in perpetuity) and 3 rented units.  
The space and design standards will be further considered at planning 
stage, but indications are that all 20 units will achieve Lifetime Home 
standards, but the scheme may also include one unit designed to full 
wheelchair standards and dementia friendly design is also being 
explored.  It is not certain who will be managing the affordable units at 
this stage, but they may be transferred to Lune Valley Community Land 
Trust (a separate community group working in partnership with Halton 
Senior Co-Housing Group) or to a Register Provider.  As part of 
seeking planning permission for the site, there will be a process to 
determine and safeguard how the affordable housing element of the 
site will be owned and managed.  

Page 202



6.0 Funding to deliver the scheme

6.1 The scheme costs and site details are set out in Appendix 1 (exempt).

7.0 Payment of the Grant

7.1 If the grant application is approved, a grant agreement will be entered 
into between the City Council and Halton Senior Co-Housing Group 
Ltd.   The grant agreement will stipulate the arrangements for 
monitoring the grant as well as the phasing of payments, and will be 
subject to the group and site owner having entered into an option 
agreement for the land before the first payment is issued, to provide 
certainty that this scheme can be delivered.  The Grant Agreement will 
also stipulate which clawback arrangements are in place and in what 
circumstances where payments are suspended or withdrawn.  

7.2 The original report approved by Cabinet in August 2017 set out that 
because of the specialist nature of the community led housing projects, 
that groups will not always be in a position to obtain estimates from 
more than one service provider, and on this basis, some relaxation of 
the council’s procurement processes will be necessary.  For example, 
the chosen Architect for this project has the required knowledge and 
experience of Passivhaus design and was directly involved in the 
original Co-Housing Scheme development.  

8.0 Details of Consultation 
8.1 Extensive dialogue has taken place with the Senior Co-Housing Group 

Ltd, the specialist adviser for the Community Land Trust Network and 
the council’s preferred consultant for an independent analysis of pre-
development costs required and the total scheme costs submitted. 

9.0 Options and Options Analysis (including risk assessment)

Option 1: Approve the 
grant funding  

Option 2: Do not approve 
the grant funding 

Advantages The grant will enable the 
community group to 
advance their proposals 
and get to a point where 
they have a deliverable 
scheme.  The principle of 
a scheme of this type 
being supported has 
already been established 
through pre-application 
advice which was positive. 
The group have already 
been directly involved in 

The funding could be used to 
support other projects.

Page 203



the original Co-Housing 
Scheme and have the 
skills and experience to 
bring this project to 
fruition.
It will increase the housing 
options for older people 
providing a full range of 
tenures and help balance 
housing markets.
It will encourage other 
community groups to take 
projects forward.  
The units will achieve 
Passivhaus standards. 
The council can 
demonstrate to 
MHCLG/Homes England 
the funding has been used 
for the purpose it was 
intended.

Disadvantages The funding could be 
spent on other projects.  

It will not deliver a 
community led scheme or 
any of the associated 
benefits.  
If the group were to seek 
funding through Homes 
England, their bid may be 
unsuccessful at a point 
where the council has 
unallocated Community 
Housing Fund reserves.  
The outstanding matters 
outlined in Appendix 1 will 
remain unresolved

Risks There is always 
uncertainty with any 
development that it will be 
viable, deliverable and will 
obtain planning permission 
which could result in 
abortive costs.  However, 
pre-application planning 
advice has been positive.   
The group will be required 
to enter into an option 
agreement on the land 
before any grant is paid, 
this should be minimised.  
The grant payments will 
also be made in phased 
payments, again to reduce 
the risk of abortive costs 
being incurred.  

Loss of opportunity 

Other than the grant 
payment, there are no further 
risks upon the council.

Reputational damage 

Page 204



10.0 Officer Preferred Option (and comments)
10.1 The officer preferred option is Option 1.  Whilst recognising the level of grant 

required to fund the pre-development costs is considerable, in construction 
terms this represents a small proportion of the overall scheme costs.   Halton 
Senior Co-Housing Limited is already positioning itself to take this scheme 
forward, and has obtained an in principle approval for the necessary 
development finance to fund the project.  

11.0 Conclusion
11.1 The proposal seeks to provide an exemplar residential development which 

offers a number of added values and benefits and would positively contribute 
to delivery of the council’s Housing Strategy by providing 20 new homes 
suitable to meet the needs of older people, which be of high quality and 
design and will also increase the provision of affordable housing in the local 
area.  

RELATIONSHIP TO POLICY FRAMEWORK

Corporate Plan - links directly with improving the quality and availability of housing including 
the provision of affordable housing in some instances.

Draft Local Plan 2011-2031 – contributes to increasing the opportunities to bring new 
housing forward to meet the district’s annual housing requirement.

Lancaster District Housing Strategy– meeting the needs of all parts of the community by 
providing a more diverse housing offer through community led developments.

CONCLUSION OF IMPACT ASSESSMENT
(including Health & Safety, Equality & Diversity, Human Rights, Community Safety, 
HR, Sustainability and Rural Proofing):
If the report is approved as recommended, this will have a positive impact as it will increase 
the opportunities for specific groups to bring forward community led schemes tailored to their 
own needs and objectives.   An Equality Impact Assessment has been undertaken and is 
attached.  

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

Legal Services will advise on the terms of the grant agreement should the report be 
approved. 

 
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
The application is for £160k of the Community Housing Fund to be allocated to the Halton 
Senior Co-Housing Group Ltd. Of the original grant awarded in 2017 of £707.6k so far 
£99.7k has been spent/committed leaving a current balance of £607.9k.

Page 205



If the recommendation is approved the Section 151 officer is authorised to update the 
general fund revenue budget as required.

OTHER RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS, such as Human Resources, Information Services, 
Property, Open Spaces: 
Cabinet at its meeting in November 2018 approved a report to set aside funding from the 
Community Housing Fund to provide direct officer support for community led developments. 

SECTION 151 OFFICER’S COMMENTS

The Deputy S151 Officer has been consulted. Although there remains a remote residual risk 
of clawback of funds by MHCLG with the officer preferred option, I am satisfied that on 
balance, we have mitigated this risk, to an acceptable level.

MONITORING OFFICER’S COMMENTS
The Monitoring Officer has been consulted and has no further comments.  

BACKGROUND PAPERS
None

Contact Officer: Kathy Beaton
Telephone:  01524 582724
E-mail: kbeaton@lancaster.gov.uk
Ref: 

Page 206



Document is Restricted

Page 207
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 211
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 212
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 214
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A

of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 221
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Equality Impact Assessment

1
Top Tip:  Have a read of the “An easy guide for staff who need to complete an Equality Impact Assessment”

This online equality impact assessment should:

An equality impact assessment should take place when considering doing something in a new 
way.  Please submit your completed EIA as an appendix to your committee report.  Please 
remember that this will be a public document – do not use jargon or abbreviations.

                                              `

Service  

Title of policy, service, function, project or strategy

Type of policy, service, function, project or strategy: Existing ☒ New/Proposed ☐    

Lead 
Officer     

People involved with completing the EIA

Step 1.1: Make sure you have clear aims and objectives
Q1. What is the aim of your policy, service, function, project or strategy?

Q2. 
Who is intended to benefit? Who will it have a detrimental effect on and how?

Step 
1.2: 
Coll
ectin

g your information
Q3. Using existing data (if available) and thinking about each group below, does, or could, the 
policy, service, function, project or strategy have a negative impact on the groups below?

Group Negative Positive/No 
Impact

Unclear

Age ☐ ☒ ☐
Disability ☐ ☒ ☐
Faith, religion or belief ☐ ☒ ☐
Gender including marriage, pregnancy and maternity ☐ ☒ ☐
Gender reassignment ☐ ☒ ☐
Race ☐ ☒ ☐
Sexual orientation including civic partnerships ☐ ☒ ☐
Other socially excluded groups such as carers, areas of 
deprivation

☐ ☒ ☐

Rural communities ☐ ☒ ☐

Directorate of Economic Growth and Regeneration 

Application for Grant Funding from the Community Housing Fund (Halton Senior Co-Housing Ltd)

Kathy Beaton

Kathy Beaton

To provide a grant to fund the pre-development costs of a proposed community led housing 
project intended for people of age 55 and above.  

The proposed scheme will directly benefit older people who wish to move to more suitable 
accommodation which will better meet their longer term needs, and will provide the highest 
possible standard of energy efficiency (Passivhaus) keeping running costs low.  This is turn will 
help mitigate the effects of climate change and will encourage other community groups and 
housing providers to achieve the same standards.  

Page 228



Equality Impact Assessment

2
Top Tip:  Have a read of the “An easy guide for staff who need to complete an Equality Impact Assessment”

Step 1.3 – Is there a need to consult!

Q4. Who have you consulted with? If you haven’t consulted yet please list who you are going to 
consult with?  Please give examples of how you have or are going to consult with specific groups 
of communities

Step 1.4 – Assessing the impact
Q5. Using the existing data and the assessment in questions 3 what does it tell you, is there an 
impact on some groups in the community? 

Ste
p 
1.5 
– 
Wh
at 
are 
the 
diff
ere
nce
s?
Q6. 
If 

you are either directly or indirectly discriminating, how are you going to change this or mitigate the 
negative impact?

Q7.  Do you need any more information/evidence eg statistic, consultation.  If so how do you plan 
to address this?

Step 
1.6 – Make a recommendation based on steps 1.1 to 1.5

Q8.  If you are in a position to make a recommendation to change or introduce the policy, service, 
function, project or strategy, clearly show how it was decided on.

This is the first community led development that has already received £15K direct funding support 
from Lancaster City Council and is now at an advanced stage.  Other Local Authority housing leads 
have been consulted, the specialist adviser for the Community Land Trust has been extensively 
consulted, Homes England have been consulted and consultants Lambert Smith Hampton have also 
been consulted. Halton Senior Co-Housing Group Ltd have also held an engagement event to raise 
awareness and generate interest and have also consulted Halton Parish Council.  Further consultation 
will take place once the planning application is submitted.  

Age:  Positive.  The proposed dwellings are intended for people of 55 and above.
Disability:   Positive. The exact design standards have not been determined fully but it is expected 
that units will achieve lifetime homes standards as a minimum and one unit may achieve full 
wheelchair standards.  
Faith, Religion or Belief:  No impact 
Gender including Marriage, Pregnancy and Maternity:  No impact
Gender Reassignment:  No impact

Race:  No impact 
Sexual Orientation including Civic Partnership:  No impact
Rural Communities:  In relation to the allocation policy for the affordable units, preference will 
be given to people with a local connection to Halton and then surrounding rural areas.  Through 
previous engagement, the group have already raised awareness with their local community.  

None expected 

Further consultation will take place as deemed appropriate to support the planning application 
for this scheme.  The group may also undertake further marketing/engagement work if the 
scheme proceeds.  

The original funding allocation was received from central government to allow Local Authorities 
most affected by second homes ownership to support and develop community led housing 
schemes and therefore the proposal meets the government's original objectives.   It also aligns to 

Page 229



Equality Impact Assessment

3
Top Tip:  Have a read of the “An easy guide for staff who need to complete an Equality Impact Assessment”

Q9. 
If you are not in a position to go ahead, what actions are you going to take?

Q10. Where necessary, how do you plan to monitor the impact and effectiveness of this change or 
decision?

the council's grant policy which was approved by Cabinet in August 2017.   This proposal provides 
an excellent opportunity to deliver a community led development in Lancaster district which 
offers the potential to provide an exemplar scheme for older people in a community based 
setting.  

N/A

Should the grant be approved, a grant agreement will be entered into by the council and Halton 
Senior Housing Group Ltd.  This will set out the monitoring arrangements and phasing of the grant 
payments.  

Page 230



Document is Restricted

Page 231 Agenda Item 11
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

Page 237
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.


	Agenda
	6 Wray-with-Botton Neighbourhood Plan decision to proceed to referendum
	2. APPENDIX A - Wray-with-Botton Neighbourhood Plan (Submission Version) 03.05.18
	3. APPENDIX B - Wray-with-Botton Lancaster Examiner Report 12.12.18
	4. APPENDIX C - Wray-with-Botton Neighbourhood Plan Decision Statement (January 2019)
	5. APPENDIX D - Wray-with-Botton Neighbourhood Plan (Referendum Version) 05.02.19
	EIA Wray-with-Botton Referendum 15.02.19

	7 Cultural Policy
	Cultural policy - 0319 - v2.0

	9 Disposal of Land, Heysham Business Park
	19b Option notice plan appendix A
	19a Signed - option notice  Heysham final aopendix B
	Lancaster Power - land off Main Ave Heysham- HoT's V1 ( JG Comments sh replies)

	10 Application for Grant funding from the Community Housing Fund
	Cabinet Report Grant Application exempt Appendix 20 02 2019 Final.docx
	02-Proposed Site Plan.pdf
	Halton Co-Housing Pre-Development Costs (Exempt).xlsx
	Halton  Cohousing - Build Cost Estimate Exempt.pdf
	Application for Grant funding from the Community Housing Fund
	EIA form 20 02 2019.docx

	11 The Dukes Future Business Model
	EXEMPT - Appendix A Final Jan 19 The Dukes High Level     Business Plan and Change Plan


